Investigation into the Design and Operation of Foundry Compatible Electrically Driven Waveguide-Integrated Microheaters for Phase Change Photonics

by

## John R. Erickson

Bachelor of Science, University of Pittsburgh, 2015

Master of Science, University of Pittsburgh, 2017

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the

Swanson School of Engineering in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh 2023

#### UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

### SWANSON SCHOOL OF ENGINEERING

This dissertation was presented

by

## John R. Erickson

It was defended on

March 21, 2023

and approved by

Susan Fullerton, Ph.D., Department of Chemical and Petroleum Engineering

Jingtong Hu, Ph.D., Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

Mahmoud El Nokali, Ph.D., Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

Dissertation Director: Nathan Youngblood, Ph.D., Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

Dissertation Director: Feng Xiong, Ph.D., Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

Copyright © by John R. Erickson

2023

"'I did some *researchin'*. Real, serious stuff.' [Wayne] paused. 'Why do they call it *re*search if I've only done it this one time?'

'Because I'll bet you had to look things up twice,' Waxillium said."

-Brandon Sanderson, The Alloy of Law

#### Investigation into the Design and Operation of Foundry Compatible Electrically Driven Waveguide-Integrated Microheaters for Phase Change Photonics

John R. Erickson, Ph.D.

University of Pittsburgh, 2023

Phase change chalcogenides such as Ge<sub>2</sub>Sb<sub>2</sub>Te<sub>5</sub> (GST) enable advanced optical devices for applications such as in-memory computing, reflective displays, tunable metasurfaces, and reconfigurable photonics. Designing reliable and efficient electrical heaters to control phase change materials can be challenging due to the strict thermal requirements required to achieve reversible switching devices, namely high temperatures and extremely fast quenching rates for amorphization. This dissertation presents a multiphysics simulation framework for modeling semiconductor waveguide-integrated microheaters designed to switch optical phase change materials, as well as experimental characterizations of fabricated devices. The developed model is used to explore the effects of geometry, doping, and electrical pulse parameters, enabling optimization of switching speed and energy consumption in these electro-optical devices. Experimental Raman thermometry data is presented that verifies the theoretical framework, and new heater structures with the potential for improved performance are proposed for theoretical and experimental investigation. These novel heater structures' optical performances and electrothermal efficiencies are compared, creating design guidelines for application-specific implementation.

# **Table of Contents**

Prefacexiii
1.0 Introduction1
1.1 Silicon Photonics
1.2 Photonic Integrated Circuit Applications – Photonic Computing 4
2.0 Phase Change Materials
2.1.1 Directional Coupler11
2.1.2 Mach-Zehnder Interferometer14
2.1.3 Tunable Ring Resonator15
2.1.4 Multiplexer/Demultiplexer18
2.1.5 Light Sources and Detector19
2.2 Optically Switching PCMs23
2.3 Electrically Switching PCMs
2.4 Research Goals and Approach
3.0 Initial FEA Model of Heater Structures
3.1 Metallic Heaters
3.2 PIN Diode
3.2.1 Arora Mobility Model36
3.2.2 Fletcher Mobility Model37
3.2.3 Caughey-Thomas Mobility Model37
3.2.4 Total Mobility Used38

3.2.5 Out-of-Plane Heat Flux	
3.3 Doping Levels	
3.4 Intrinsic Region Length	44
3.4.1 Carrier Distribution Through a PIN Diode	45
3.5 Simulation Study of Differing Intrinsic Regions	49
3.6 Pulse Effect	55
3.7 Summary of Simulation Results	58
4.0 Raman Thermometry	59
4.1 Raman Thermometry Background	59
4.2 Devices Investigated	60
4.2.1 Device Details	60
4.2.2 Raman Experiments Details	64
4.2.3 Expected Effects of Center Ribbed Waveguide vs. Planar Diode	66
4.2.3 Expected Effects of Center Ribbed Waveguide vs. Planar Diode	66
<ul> <li>4.2.3 Expected Effects of Center Ribbed Waveguide vs. Planar Diode</li> <li>4.3 Single-Doped Results</li> <li>4.3.1 Device Operations</li> </ul>	66 68 68
<ul> <li>4.2.3 Expected Effects of Center Ribbed Waveguide vs. Planar Diode</li> <li>4.3 Single-Doped Results</li> <li>4.3.1 Device Operations</li> <li>4.3.2 Velocity Saturation and Optical Phonon Scattering</li> </ul>	66 
<ul> <li>4.2.3 Expected Effects of Center Ribbed Waveguide vs. Planar Diode</li> <li>4.3 Single-Doped Results</li> <li>4.3.1 Device Operations</li> <li>4.3.2 Velocity Saturation and Optical Phonon Scattering</li> <li>4.3.3 Temperature Results</li> </ul>	66 
<ul> <li>4.2.3 Expected Effects of Center Ribbed Waveguide vs. Planar Diode</li> <li>4.3 Single-Doped Results</li></ul>	66 
<ul> <li>4.2.3 Expected Effects of Center Ribbed Waveguide vs. Planar Diode</li> <li>4.3 Single-Doped Results</li> <li>4.3.1 Device Operations</li> <li>4.3.2 Velocity Saturation and Optical Phonon Scattering</li> <li>4.3.3 Temperature Results</li> <li>4.4 PIN Results</li> <li>4.4.1 Device Operations</li> </ul>	66 68 69 72 76
<ul> <li>4.2.3 Expected Effects of Center Ribbed Waveguide vs. Planar Diode</li> <li>4.3 Single-Doped Results</li> <li>4.3.1 Device Operations</li> <li>4.3.2 Velocity Saturation and Optical Phonon Scattering</li> <li>4.3.3 Temperature Results</li> <li>4.4 PIN Results</li> <li>4.4.1 Device Operations</li> <li>4.4.2 PIN Device Reliability</li> </ul>	66 68 69 72 76 76 77
<ul> <li>4.2.3 Expected Effects of Center Ribbed Waveguide vs. Planar Diode .</li> <li>4.3 Single-Doped Results</li></ul>	66 68 68 69 72 76 76 77 
<ul> <li>4.2.3 Expected Effects of Center Ribbed Waveguide vs. Planar Diode</li> <li>4.3 Single-Doped Results</li></ul>	
<ul> <li>4.2.3 Expected Effects of Center Ribbed Waveguide vs. Planar Diode .</li> <li>4.3 Single-Doped Results</li></ul>	

4.5.1 Device Reliability85
4.5.2 Overall Comparison87
4.6 Conclusion
5.0 PN Heaters
5.1.1 PN Junctions in Optical Devices89
5.1.2 Design of PN Photonic Structures90
5.1.3 Integration of PCM into PN Structures92
5.1.4 Simulation of PN Heaters93
5.1.5 Inclusion of the $p^+$ and $n^+$ Regions
5.1.6 Junction Position Through the Waveguide
5.1.7 Overall Comparison of Devices Studied102
6.0 Future Work 105
6.1 PIN Diodes 105
6.1.1 Optimization of PIN Fabrication Techniques
6.1.2 3D Simulations of PIN Diodes106
6.2 Single-Doped Structures 107
6.2.1 High-Field Modeling of Single-Doped Structures107
6.3 PN Diodes 109
6.4 IR Scope for Fast Pulse Behavior of Integrated Waveguide Heaters
7.0 Conclusion 112
Bibliography

# List of Tables

Table 1 – Common PCMs along with their optical properties and tra	nsformation
temperatures. Reproduced from [53]	9
Table 2 - Novel heating structure performances for amorphization.	
Table 3 – Material thermal properties used in the model	
Table 4 - Common PCM thermal properties.	
Table 5 - Material mobility properties used in the model	
Table 6 – Fitting parameters for $T_{GST}$ using Equation 3-28	50
Table 7 - Summary of geometric results (2D simulations).	54
Table 8 - Compiled results of initial design investigations.	
Table 9 – Comparison of desired device geometries compared to the measured f	features 78

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1 - Types and categorization of optical waveguides 2
Figure 1.2 – Examples of essential photonic circuit components
Figure 1.3 - Comparison of computational efficency vs. speed for different computing
systems
Figure 2.1 - Ge-Te-Sb phase diagram 10
Figure 2.2 - Example of PCM behaviors11
Figure 2.3 – Critical coupling length vs. separation between waveguides 12
Figure 2.4 – Initial demonstration of directional coupling in SOI platforms
Figure 2.5 - Electrically driven resonator ring17
Figure 2.6 - Schematic of the first 4-channel wavelength multiplexer
Figure 2.7 - Cross section of a SiN on SOI platform
Figure 2.8 – Example of Brillouin zone (BZ) folding 22
Figure 2.9 - Comparison of direct vs. indirect switching of phase change devices, as well as
heater structures studied in this work25
Figure 3.1 – Details on simulated structures used in these studies
Figure 3.2 – Initial results of the COMSOL simulations
Figure 3.3 – Comparison of different doping levels in PIN structures
Figure 3.4 - Operating dynamics of PIN diode with degenerate doping
Figure 3.5 - Theoretical PIN diode schematic for derivation of the carrier distribution 45

Figure 3.6 - Different thermal performance of PIN diodes with different intrinsic region
lengths
Figure 3.7 - Effects of device geometry design for PIN heaters
Figure 3.8 - Thermal performance of devices with different programming pulses 55
Figure 3.9 – Pulse-shape effects on device thermal performance
Figure 4.1 - Schematic views of the microheaters studied
Figure 4.2 – Explanation of Raman thermometry process
Figure 4.3 – Comparison of the thermal performance of a planar vs. ribbed PIN diode 67
Figure 4.4 – IV performance of the single-doped devices. Different point shapes come from
different devices, two for each doping level
Figure 4.5 – Initial work done on veloctiy saturation in semiconductors
Figure 4.6 - Diagram of electron-phonon scattering in semicondcutors
Figure 4.7 – Raman thermometry results for single-doped devices
Figure 4.8 - Schematics of the two types of devices tested
Figure 4.9 – IV performance of the PIN devices77
Figure 4.10 – SEM image of an inspected device to verify correct geometery
Figure 4.11 – IV sweeps of various devices to investigate device consistency
Figure 4.12 - Results of the Raman thermometry measurements for PIN devices
Figure 4.13 – Example of damage observed during Raman thermometry process
Figure 4.14 – Results of endurance testing of the devices
Figure 5.1 – Examples of different PN junction devices for photonic devices
Figure 5.2 – Simulated device structure as well as initial comparison to experimental data.

Figure 5.3 – Initial simulation results of sweeping the interim $p^+$ and $n^+$ regions
Figure 5.4 – Normalized heat generated through a PN device with changing $p^+$ and $n^+$ doping.
Figure 5.5 – Quench time and rate as a function of $p^+$ and $n^+$ doping levels
Figure 5.6 – Effect of positioning of P/N junction on heating performance
Figure 5.7 – Final comparison of the design space of all three devices for on-chip voltages.
Figure 6.1 – Initial modeling of single-doped structures compared with experimental
characterization108
Figure 6.2 - Experimental set up and initial characterization of optical probing of PCM
operation temperatures

#### Preface

There are too many people and too short a space to fully thank them all here, but I'll give it a go. They say it takes a village to raise a child, but they didn't mention it takes a major metropolitan area to complete a work of this magnitude. I would like to specially thank Dr. Feng Xiong for all of his help and support, both personally and professionally throughout the years, as well as Dr. Nathan Youngblood for helping me finish out strongly. I would also like to thank Dr. William Stanchina, for helping get me my start in the graduate program here, and helping to show me what it takes to continue to be successful as a researcher. I would also like to thank my committee for their time and efforts. To all my lab mates, current and past, I would say thank you for all your efforts either directly or indirectly. More specifically, I would like to thank Mohammed Sharbati, Qingzhou Wan, Yanhao Du, and Joe Kozak for helping me through the majority of my graduate school career and showing me the way to the end.

Personally, I want to say a special thank you to all 4 of my parents, as well as my siblings and niblings, without you guys I for sure would not have made it this far. I would also like to thank all of my friends for putting up with all of the late night rants and stress fests I've included them in. I would like to shoutout Chris Dumm for all of the editing help as well as all of the tech talk sessions we've had over the years. And finally, my wife and life partner Erica Erickson. I could write another full 100 pages about how much you mean to me, but I'll have to restrict myself in the interest of time. We both know that none of this would have been possible if it weren't for all of the love and support you've given me throughout the years. You are the best and I love you.

From the bottom of my heart, thank you all.

Results discussed in this work have been published in Optics Express are reprinted here with permission: J. R. Erickson, V. Shah, Q. Wan, N. Youngblood, and F. Xiong, "Designing fast and efficient electrically driven phase change photonics using foundry compatible waveguide-integrated microheaters," Opt. Express 30, 13673-13689 (2022). In addition, results discussed in this work have been submitted for publication and are in review at time of writing: J. R. Erickson , N. A. Nobile, D. Vaz, G. Vinod, C. Ríos, Y. Zhang, J. Hu, S. A. Vitale, F. Xiong and N. Youngblood. "Comparing the thermal performance and endurance of resistive and PIN silicon microheaters for phase-change photonic applications," Submitted for publication (2023).

#### **1.0 Introduction**

Since the discovery of the PN junction in the mid-20<sup>th</sup> century, silicon has quickly become one of the most studied materials on the planet, kickstarting the modern multi-billion-dollar electronics industry. Decades of focused research have led to mature, efficient processes for silicon-based semiconductor fabrication and plummeting electronics costs. However, the limits predicted by Moore's law are finally beginning to hold firm. For example, modern microprocessors are unable to exceed clock rates of about four GHz before thermal management issues arise. In addition, there are diminishing returns on power savings: after a certain point, smaller transistors do not consume less power [1]. An alternative technical approach to these limitations is derived from the field of photonic computing: silicon-based photonic devices.

The body of incumbent photonic literature describes several different waveguide structures which can be categorized by operating principle, material type and other factors, some of which are shown in Figure 1.1. Two major waveguide families exist: *planar*, and *non-planar*. Planar waveguides are relatively simple devices, confining light in only one transverse direction. Such devices tend to have limited applications due to their larger sizes; thus, more focus has been directed toward development of non-planar waveguides (perhaps most notably the conventional optical fiber). Non-planar waveguides confine light in two dimensions allowing for more complex and practical devices [2]–[4].

Despite all of these possible variations in waveguide types, Si waveguides dominate the field of microphotonics, largely due to a combination of favorable properties and the maturity of Si semiconductor fabrication techniques. Si is optically transparent at the wavelengths used for



Figure 1.1 - Types and categorization of optical waveguides. Reproduced from [5].

standard telecommunications  $(1.3-1.6 \ \mu m)$  and has a large contrast in refractive index when compared both with its native oxide and air. These differences in refractive index allow for strong light confinement, making compact optical devices easier to realize. This work will focus on Si based rib waveguides (planar film of material with a raised slab), as they are among the most common for integrated photonic devices.

#### **1.1 Silicon Photonics**

The field of silicon photonics started garnering interest in 1987 when Soref and Bennet first predicted the free carrier dispersion effect in silicon [6]. This effect is also known as the plasma dispersion effect, and will be hereafter referred to as such to prevent confusion with the free carrier absorption effect [7]. Soref and Bennet used a numerical Kramers-Kronig analysis to predict refractive-index perturbations (for both the real and imaginary portions, n and k, respectively) in crystalline-silicon due to applied electric fields or injected free carriers [6]. This discovery of a controllable refractive index was implemented by integrating a PN junction into a Si waveguide structure, making a phase modulator, the first component towards a photonic integrated circuit (PIC) [8]–[10].

While the discovery of the plasma dispersion effect was a key factor in enabling optical control, the search for high quality waveguides was also paramount. In fact, the first PICs would not be developed until after these standard chips were available [8]–[10]. With Bruel's development of silicon-on-insulator (SOI) wafers in 1991, light could now be confined to a portion of a chip, and established lithography techniques could be used to fabricate Si waveguides with custom geometries on chip [11].

Although the SOI waveguides were initially fairly large, on the order of micrometers [12], a de-facto industry standard of a 220 nm Si layer was quickly adopted, with several device milestones being realized: low losses [13], tight bending radii [14], and multiple other key components [15]–[19]. Standardization allowed for rapid maturation of fabrication processes, expanding Si's dominance from the established electronics market into microphotonics. While thicker Si layers offer advantages for certain applications [20], many of the critical devices required to implement fully optical integrated circuits have been developed using the 220 nm Si standard, some general categories of which are shown in Figure 1.2. These devices have contributed heavily to the field of interest of this work: photonic based computation and memory devices.



Figure 1.2 – Examples of essential photonic circuit components. Reprinted from [21].

#### **1.2 Photonic Integrated Circuit Applications – Photonic Computing**

Advances in the field of Si photonics described in the previous sections have enabled development of photonic-based computing and memory devices, the subject of this investigation. While there is presently only limited research activity in development of von-Neumann based optical computing [22], optical technologies may have particular value in implementation of artificial neural networks (ANNs).

Artificial neural networks (ANNs) have been successfully implemented for various complex tasks including: image and pattern recognition, speech recognition, machine translation, and surpassing humans at strategy games [23]–[28]. Despite these strides in neuromorphic

computing, the hardware implementation of traditional ANNs have been limited by the fact that digital transistors (the basic computing unit of modern computers) simply do not behave in the same manner as the analog synapses found in the human brain. The human brain is the current target in low power, fault tolerant computation systems, as shown in Figure 1.3 [1], [29]. With this goal in mind, two main types of ANNs have emerged: deep neural networks (DNNs) and spiking neural networks (SNNs).

DNNs are more traditional neural networks and contain a large amount of complexity along with many layers. These networks are capable of supervised, semisupervised and unsupervised learning, and excel in tasks where large amounts of training data are available [30]. Contemporary commercial availability of powerful parallel computation devices like graphic processor units (GPUs) and field programmable gate arrays (FPGAs) has accelerated development and testing of the field of new learning algorithms and network structures.[31] At present, however, DNNs are fundamentally limited due to a lack of scalability. As problem complexity increases, DNNs require more and more computational resources to conduct training [32].



Figure 1.3 - Comparison of computational efficency vs. speed for different computing systems. Reprinted from [1].

In contrast, SNNs have attracted attention due to their close similarity to biological systems (namely the human brain). In SNNs the input signals are spikes, rather than the constant feed found in traditional DNN neurons. This spike-based signal system is widely believed to be one of the main reasons that the brain is so adept at sequence recognition and memory, although a full discussion of this is beyond the scope of this work [33]. Sequence recognition is an active development area in neuromorphic computing; therefore, devices capable of implementing spike-based computing are of great interest [34]. These devices enable systems to work with stimuli that are strongly timing dependent, such as speech recognition and image detection [35].

Although silicon photonic devices have been investigated due to their potential to exceed the limitations on traditional electronic devices, they are especially promising for neuromorphic and ANN applications because many of the effects used in photonic devices can be described in the framework of nonlinear dynamics. Initially established in 1985, it took some years for both photonics and neuroscience to advance beyond laboratory demonstrations to become broadly applicable [36], [37]. Once established though, ANNs very quickly began producing results in hardware and algorithm developments [38]–[42]. Most excitingly, photonics based SNNs are also showing exceedingly promising results in terms of speed and information density [43]–[48].

Previously, photonic neuromorphic hardware applications were limited due to (1) difficulties in implementing optical memory and logic, and (2) the absence of photonic manufacturing industries [1]. However, implementation of phase change materials (PCMs) into different aspects of optical devices is frequently credited as a catalyst for recent advancements in photonics technology, enabling applications of photonic neuromorphic devices [49]. To understand the benefits offered with pairing PIC components with PCM, Chapter 2.0 will briefly review the history of PCMs, their operating principles and how PCMs have been integrated into PICs.

#### 2.0 Phase Change Materials

PCM technology has been extensively developed within the optical data storage industry. While there were two main classes of disks at the advent of optical disk storage (magneto-optical and phase-change media), phase-change disks using PCMs became ubiquitous, finally being implemented in DVD and Blu-ray disks [50]. This level of maturity in understanding PCM optical properties and fabrication processes allowed researchers to readily begin integrating them into photonic devices [51], [52]. A PCM considered for nonvolatile photonic applications must have several key features, namely: high contrast in optical properties; high-speed phase transition; low phase-transition temperatures (without thermal disturbance around room temperatures); long term stability; and a large number of rewritable cycles [52]. VO<sub>2</sub> is a well-established phase change material with extensively documented properties, but its phase change is inherently volatile. Therefore this work mainly considers chalcogenide alloys, since both the crystalline and amorphous phases are stable at room temperature [52]. The Ge-Te-Sb ternary phase diagram is given in Figure 2.1, along with indications of milestone discoveries for PCM devices and compositions. In addition, some basic properties of popular PCMs are given in Table 1.

Chalcogenide alloy based PCMs (e.g., the well-known Ge<sub>2</sub>Sb<sub>2</sub>Te<sub>5</sub> (GST)), are characterized by their ability to rapidly and reversibly switch between amorphous and crystalline states. This process is illustrated in Figure 2.2. Crystalline PCMs can be amorphized (blue curve) by being heated above their melting temperature, and then being rapidly quenched, preventing any long-term order from forming. Long-term order can be reestablished through crystallization (red

 Table 1 – Common PCMs along with their optical properties and transformation temperatures. Reproduced from [53].

	• • • •	• • • •		
GST-225	4.6 + 0.18i	7.2 + 1.9i	600 °C	No
Sb <sub>2</sub> S <sub>3</sub>	2.712 +0 <i>i</i>	3.308 + 0i	270 °C	No
Sb <sub>2</sub> Se <sub>3</sub>	3.285 + 0i	4.050 + 0i	200 °C	No
GSST	3.325 + 0.00018i	5.083 + 0.35i	250 °C	No
VO <sub>2</sub>	2.75 0.4 <i>i</i>	2.1 + 1.3i	68 °C	Yes

PCM Complex R.I. (Am) Complex R.I (Cr) Transition Temp. Volatile

curve) by heating the material up above its crystallization temperature and giving the atoms enough time to diffuse to the energetically favorable lattice sites, resulting in the crystalline phase.

Between the crystalline and amorphous states in PCMs, there is a large difference in optical properties resulting from the amount of vacancies in each phase. The vacancies inside the structure of Ge/Sb materials form p-p orbitals, which are very susceptible to local distortions. During amorphization, heat-induced lattice vibrations will cause misalignment of the p-p orbitals, reducing the number of resonant bonds in the material, which will significantly reduce the dielectric constant of the amorphous phase.



Figure 2.1 - Ge-Te-Sb phase diagram. Insets show key dates of technological and compositional discoveries. Reprinted from [50].

The controllable crystalline structure of PCMs provides a platform for development of PICs. PCMs can have several metastable crystalline phases, each with its own optical properties, possibly due to free carrier absorption caused by electron localization effects [52], [54], [55]. By controlling the amount and type of phases present in a PCM during operation, the optical properties can be precisely modulated, potentially enabling applications such as multi-level photonic memory devices and neuromorphic photonic computers [56]. By leveraging this, PCMs offer a promising solution for controlling both the amplitude and phase of light on-chip in a compact form factor [53], [57]. Integrating PCMs into primary optical devices has led to large improvements in performance and will be briefly discussed.



Figure 2.2 - Example of PCM behaviors. Required thermal profiles for crystallization (red) and amorphization (blue).

#### 2.1.1 Directional Coupler

Directional couplers can reasonably be considered the most important building block for constructing photonic integrated circuits. When light is confined in a waveguide, it can be evanescently coupled to a nearby waveguide, splitting the power and signal into two coherent, but separate places [5], [58], [59]. This is typically done by bringing the two waveguides close enough together for a length that satisfies:

$$L > L_c = \frac{\pi}{\beta_s - \beta_a}$$
 Equation 2-1

where  $L_c$  is the critical coupling length, and  $\beta_s$  and  $\beta_a$  are the symmetric and antisymmetric propagation constant values obtained from transfer matrix methods [58], [59]. Furthermore, the amount of signal transfer between the waveguides is dependent on the waveguide geometry, separation distances, and signal wavelength and polarization [5]. Figure 2.3 gives the critical coupling length,  $L_c$  calculated through effective index-based matrix methods (EIMM) and twodimensional finite-difference time-domain (2D-FDTD) methods for both transverse electric (TE) and transverse magnetic (TM) polarizations, as a function of separation of two straight waveguides made of SU-8 [5].



Figure 2.3 – Critical coupling length vs. separation between waveguides. Calculations were performed through effective index-based matrix methods (EIMM) and two-dimensional finite-difference time-domain (2D-FDTD) methods for both transverse electric (TE) and transverse magnetic (TM) polarizations. Reprinted from [5].

This coupling effect was first demonstrated on SOI wafers using ribbed Si waveguides in 1995 by Trinh, Yegnanarayanan and Jalali [60]. Their coupled waveguides, as shown in Figure 2.4, were able to operate with excess insertion losses as low as 1.9 dB. Historically, this development in the SOI platform enabled other developed photonics technologies to suddenly move from traditional laboratory-style implementations into PICs. SOI-platform active and passive optical components quickly became the backbone for subsequent development of PICs.



Figure 2.4 – Initial demonstration of directional coupling in SOI platforms. (a) The power split ratio as a function of coupling length. (b) An SEM image of the coupled Si rib waveguides. (c) Schematic of the desired rib topology, complete with eigenmodes of the optical signal outlined. Reprinted from [60].

While directional couplers are now an established technology and form the backbone of photonic circuitry, the ability to route light signals from one path to another for different operations is vital for building complex components. While such optical switches have been demonstrated in the past [61]–[63], they typically need large footprints, high power consumption, or both. While resonator-based switches have been proven to reduce footprint and power consumption [64]–[66], they are inherently highly sensitive to manufacturing defects and thermal fluctuations, rendering them difficult to control on the large scale. PCMs have been demonstrated to provide strong,

nonvolatile modulation to existing waveguides. When integrated on top of a potential switching location, the phase of the PCM determines which branch the output signal propagates down.

#### 2.1.2 Mach-Zehnder Interferometer

Actively controlling the phase of an optical signal is fundamental for enabling complex calculations using optical devices. One of the basic ways of achieving this is through a Mach-Zehnder Interferometer (MZI). MZIs were first described in 1891 by Ludwig Zehnder, and then refined in 1892 by Ludwig Mach [68]. The MZI was initially formulated as a way to perform optical measurements, and has since proven very useful for measuring and identifying several facets of quantum mechanics [68]. In a basic MZI, a light beam is first split into two paths, and then recombined before arriving at a detector. Based on the relative phase acquired by the beams on their separate paths, the recombination will then transmit the beam at levels somewhere between 0 and 100% of its initially incoming power [68].

For basic waveguide-integrated MZIs, the path is typically split between two branches, with one containing an integrated PN diode. When the PN diode is forward biased, a large number of carriers will be injected into the optically active zone, and the refractive index of the branch will change as described by the plasma dispersion effect [68]. This change in refractive index causes the two branches to interfere when recombined, varying the output intensity of the device as a function of the signal applied to the PN diode branch. However, traditional MZIs are inherently volatile devices, requiring a constant power supply to operate [69]. While nonvolatile phase shifters have been achieved [70]–[72], they can suffer from high losses, poor scalability and a natural incompatibility with standard Si fabrication processes.

Controlling the phase of optical signals is required for a complete integrated optical device. While several different on-chip control mechanisms have been demonstrated, they typically suffer from large device footprints, large optical losses, or incompatibility with traditional semiconductor fabrication techniques [69]. While PCMs have potential for implementing phase modulation in photonic chips, traditional PCMs like GST can have large optical losses, making them difficult to incorporate efficiently. However, in recent years, low-loss PCMs have been developed [69], [74]–[78]. For example, Sb<sub>2</sub>Se<sub>3</sub> integrated waveguides were measured to have 0.03 dB/µm at telecommunication wavelengths [69]. These types of integrated PCM devices offer nonvolatile solutions for phase modulation.

#### 2.1.3 Tunable Ring Resonator

Although optical modulators were long established by the mid-2000s, existing prototypes were large structures, unsuited for PICs [64]. With this in mind, researchers began investigating light-confining resonating structures that would enhance the effect of a changing refractive index. Although at first these devices were demonstrated using an optical control signal, as will be discussed later, this construction is impractical for large scale device arrays [65]. These devices' transmission was highly sensitive to the signal wavelength, with drastically diminished transmission at wavelengths corresponding to integer multiples of the ring circumference. By tuning the effective refractive index of the resonance ring, the resonance wavelength could be changed, inducing strong modulation of the transmitted signal, as shown in Figure 2.5c.

In 2005, Xu et al. demonstrated an electrically driven ring resonator structure to modulate optical signals, as shown in Figure 2.5. Their device used an integrated PIN diode to inject carriers

into the ring, tuning the refractive index of the structure. Although PIN diodes are typically considered slow devices overall (with injection of carriers in a forward biased PIN diode occurring on the order of 10 ns), the resonating nature of their device removed the speed limitation [66]. When operated at high voltages, the optical transmission reaches saturation long before the electrical rise time, as the carrier concentrations meet the minimum carrier injection required to achieve modulation before the device is saturated with carriers.

This concept is distinct from traditional thinking where injected carriers are tuned to target the minimum carrier injection. Performance of these devices is also unlike the MZIs discussed previously, as operating waveguide integrated MZIs at higher voltages starts to strongly affect the optical transmission [66]. However, long forward biasing periods can lead to free carriers diffusing into the section of the ring that is not part of the PIN junction, leading to longer fall times (~1.5 ns) than typical fall times of reverse biased PN diodes (on the order of 10 ps) [66].

Although many types of optical switches and phase modulators have been developed as discussed previously, ring resonator structures offer some of the most promising results, due to their small device footprint and enhanced efficiency from optical resonances [79]. However, traditional PIN or PN based ring resonators require a constant power supply to maintain the switched state. By integrating PCMs into the device, a nonvolatile modulation mechanism is introduced [49]. This has been leveraged to utilize ring resonators into many complex optical devices, most notably optical switches. In addition, modern low-loss PCMs have successfully been implemented into such structures to further improve performances [80].



Figure 2.5 - Electrically driven resonator ring. (a) Device schematic with inset showing the profile of the rib waveguide that makes up the ring. (b) SEM images of fabricated rings. (c) Wavelength specific resonsance of the ring structure. Reprinted from [64].

#### 2.1.4 Multiplexer/Demultiplexer

Multiplexers/Demultiplexers are key components in signal systems and have been used for centuries, first dating back to the days of telegraphs [81]. Their ability to either select one of many incoming signals and propagate it forward (multiplexing) or conversely, taking one input signal and sending it down one of multiple possible outputs (demultiplexing), allow multiple inputs to be combined into a single data stream. Typically, multiplexers are paired with demultiplexers in one device. This pairing is the backbone of modern signal transmission.

Although wavelength multiplexers were initially developed in the early 1990s, integrated waveguide multiplexers on SOI substrates were lagging in development, with the first 4-channel wavelength multiplexer being demonstrated by Trinh et al. in 1997 [82]. Their device, schematically shown in Figure 2.6, used two slab waveguide star couplers (a common optical device that distributes input signals uniformly along several output ports) which were connected by an array of waveguides with incrementally different pathlengths. Although integrated multiplexers like this have since been adapted and refined, crosstalk remains an issue, requiring new innovations as the amount of bandwidth needed for modern devices continues to increase.



Figure 2.6 - Schematic of the first 4-channel wavelength multiplexer. Reprinted from [82].

PCMs have been integrated into optical devices to create both wavelength division multiplexing (WDM) and mode division multiplexing (MDW). Structures capable of addressing individual devices among large arrays of devices have been demonstrated [2], [83], [84]. In WDM, the phase of the PCM was used to selectively address a single unit in a 16 x 16 memory array [2]. Although still in their infancy, the high speed and ease of (de)multiplexing of optical memory devices offer massive gains in speed and efficiency over their electrical counterparts. While these advantages for WDM, as well as time division multiplexing (TDM), are exciting, they are rapidly approaching their theoretical Shannon limit [84]. With this in mind researchers have redirected their efforts towards MWD [84]. Since MWD utilizes differing orthogonal modes, each mode is independent, and more signals are able to utilize the same paths without interference [84]. A recent device was presented with 100 nm bandwidth that can accommodate 4 modes, the fundamental TE and TM modes, as well as the first TE and TM modes. This device utilizes GSST, and can switch between the four modes in just 10  $\mu$ m [84]. These advances in (de)multiplexing pave the way towards more compact and higher informational density devices.

#### 2.1.5 Light Sources and Detector

Light sources and detectors able to be integrated on-chip are also required to construct PICs. Pure crystalline Si does not have a direct bandgap, making the possibility of a traditional monolithic Si laser impossible. While novel Si based lasers are an active development area [66], [85], [86], commercially successful methods typically package external light generation solutions with PICs. SiN on SOI platforms provide another possible external light solution [87]. Although SiN has no useful active optical effects, it does have extremely low propagation losses. As a result, various

investigators have utilized SiN waveguide layers to route large scale light sources, coupling them and rerouting them into the specific SOI active devices as necessary, as depicted in Figure 2.7 [88].

Detectors are frequently constructed based on Si/Ge strained layer superlattices, which can be integrated into existing Si fabrication processes. The introduction of Ge atoms into a Si lattice through molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) converts the indirect bandgap of Si to a direct bandgap via Brillouin zone folding [89]. As early as 1974, it was predicted that the super-period imposed on the lattice of the host crystal could change the indirect character of the Si band structure [90]. This super-period will give rise to minizones that are not observed in the native host crystal. While the Brillouin zone dimensions shrink normal to the layers (in the direction of super lattice growth), its original size is maintained within the layers themselves. A specific period length of the super lattice can then be calculated and chosen such that the minimum of the conduction band is then folded back into the center of the Brillouin zone forming a direct band gap [89]. This process is illustrated in Figure 2.8.



Figure 2.7 - Cross section of a SiN on SOI platform. This multilayer platform contains SiN transport layers, integrated with active Si devices. Reprinted from [87].

This effect was then leveraged to grow integrated photodetectors into Si waveguides [93]. In this initial structure, a thin layer (20 periods of 30 nm Si + 5 nm Si<sub>0.55</sub>Ge<sub>0.45</sub>) would be grown on top of a *p*-doped Si waveguide. This stack is then covered with a 100 nm undoped Si-buffer layer and finally a 50 nm thick n-doped Si contact layer. This reported structure was optimized via mode matching to maximize coupling between the waveguide and the photodetector while minimizing optical losses due to the contact layers. This structure was able to achieve bandwidths of up to 2 GHz while minimizing optical losses to below 1 dB/cm [93].

While strained Si-Ge semiconductor systems seem to be the most efficient way to offer onchip photodetection, there have been investigations into PCMs' applicability for photoconductive applications such as photodetectors, displays and smart windows [57], [94]–[96]. Chalcogenide PCMs are low-bandgap semiconductors. Longstanding thinking suggests that photothermal effects, such as those that aid in crystallization in all-optical systems, dominate photoconductivity effects. This line of thinking is in stark contrast to other chalcogenide materials where photoconductivity effects dominate, which has made them the traditional bases for solar cells and image sensors [96], [97]. However, it has recently been observed that the relative contributions of the photoconductive and photothermal effects can be tuned in PCMs, opening the door to PCMbased photonic devices [96].



Figure 2.8 – Example of Brillouin zone (BZ) folding. (a) An unstrained Si band structure compared with (b) BZ folding effect, which forms a direct bandgap. (a) Reprinted from [91], (b) reprinted from [92].

PCMs are traditionally limited in two key aspects: (1) slow crystallization times and (2) high temperatures required for amorphization [98]. Limitation (1) is being addressed by the material design community through a search for suitable PCM alloys with high crystallization speeds [99]–[101]. The focus of the present work will be investigating and characterizing various PCM heater structures to increase efficiencies and elucidate how structure design influences overall device performance, mitigating issues stemming from limitation (2). Advanced control of the switching of PCMs can be achieved through both novel materials engineering methods, and highly controlled heating techniques [102]. While both techniques are currently prominent in research, this work will be focused on understanding and improving the heating methods of PCM based photonic devices. Integrated PCM photonic devices have thus far been categorized by two heating mechanisms: optical and electrical sources.
## 2.2 Optically Switching PCMs

Optical switching of PCMs offers unique benefits in speed and scalability. While lab-based devices can be initially characterized through external laser excitations [103], on-chip applications use write pulses that are confined to the waveguide itself, or in the nearfield limit [3], [4]. This type of writing removes the diffraction limit traditionally associated with optical heating and allows for aggressive scaling of these devices. These types of all-optical devices have been used to demonstrate arrays of memory devices [3], [103], and even an all-optical calculation apparatus [4].

While all-optical systems offer exciting possibilities for potential future devices, they also present their own unique challenges. As the number of photonic components increases, both generating and routing the optical control signals to individual devices becomes increasingly difficult. This is especially evident when addressing individual memory cells in large-scale arrays which requires either precise timing of overlapping pulses [4] or resonant components which limit device density, as they are extremely sensitive to outside perturbations [2], [3], [47]. Researchers have turned from optical to electrical switching of PCMs, since addressing individual devices in electrical systems is common practice and enables retention of the speed benefits offered by optical read signals.

## 2.3 Electrically Switching PCMs

Electrical control signals can be generated and routed to individual devices in a compact circuit using straightforward fabrication techniques, including multilevel interconnects. Developing a reliable, efficient, and high-speed electrical interface to control optical phase change devices is therefore highly desirable.

Electrically switching PCMs have generally been implemented through one of two distinct methods (illustrated by the generalized thermal circuit models shown in Figure 2.9a: (1) direct heating of the PCM, or (2) indirect heating using a nearby microheater. The direct method passes electrical current through the PCM itself, resulting in Joule heating which initiates the phase transition [104]–[107]. This approach can be fast and highly efficient (e.g., sub-nanosecond and <100 pJ switching has been demonstrated in electrical phase change memory cells [108]–[110]), but it is limited to switching volumes much smaller than the optical wavelength. This volumetric limitation is a result of localized conductive paths forming through the material during the crystallization process, creating a short circuit. When the two electrical contacts become shorted, current becomes localized to that region of the device making heating and further crystallization of other regions significantly less efficient. While this phenomenon can be addressed by reducing the optical mode volume through hybrid photonic-plasmonic device structures [111]–[114], reducing insertion loss remains an outstanding challenge for these devices.



Figure 2.9 - Comparison of direct vs. indirect switching of phase change devices, as well as heater structures studied in this work. (a) Example devices illustrating direct and indirect switching of phase change materials, along with electrical and thermal circuit models of each. (b) Illustration of annealing curves to achieve crystallization (red) and amorphization (blue) in GeTe-based phase change materials, along with an equation defining the quench rate,  $R_q$ , of the amorphization process. (c)-(e) 3D schematics and cross sections of the three devices simulated in this study.

To reversibly switch larger volumes of material, it is necessary to use indirect heating which decouples the heating mechanism from the electrical conductance of the PCM. Indirect heating also enables electrical switching of emerging optical PCMs (e.g., Ge<sub>2</sub>Sb<sub>2</sub>Se<sub>1</sub>Te<sub>4</sub> [80], Sb<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> [76], [115], and Sb<sub>2</sub>Se<sub>3</sub> [116]), which have low electrical conductivity in both amorphous and crystalline states. Indirect electro-thermal switching using microheaters integrated close to the PCM layer has recently been investigated in the context of reconfigurable RF [117]–[120] and photonic switches [111], [121]–[126], but a comprehensive study of various design trade-offs has not been performed for the latter. For electrically switched phase change photonic devices, key performance metrics include optical insertion loss, switching speed, energy efficiency, and cycling endurance, which are often interdependent and require careful optimization. For example, reducing the programming pulse duration not only serves to improve the switching speed of phase change memory, but also reduces the programming energy [125]. However, shorter programming pulses require higher peak powers to reach the same transmission level and thus have the potential to cause greater thermal fatigue to the memory cell. Therefore, it is important to model the interaction of these various dynamics during the design of phase change photonic devices.

### 2.4 Research Goals and Approach

The goal of this work is to characterize different types of integrated heaters for Si rib waveguides: PIN diodes; PN diodes; and single-doping structures. Simulation studies have been conducted on PIN and PN diodes, as well as two types of external metallic heater designs. Work on single-doped structures has begun but expanding the existing models to correctly model highfield behaviors is currently outstanding, as will be discussed. These designs were modeled and are presented comparatively. The influence of various design aspects of each device on performance were assessed through computational modeling and compared based on their heating efficiency. Efficiency comparison was accomplished through a well-established figure of merit [98], [127] as well as the optical signal loss for that type of structure. In addition, experimental studies have been conducted on PIN diodes and single-doping structures and will be presented in Section 4.0.

## **3.0 Initial FEA Model of Heater Structures**

While there are many novel indirect heating structures being developed [125], [127], [128], not all of them are directly compatible with existing foundry processes for silicon integrated photonics. This work focuses on heaters that can be fabricated by existing foundry processes, enabling more straightforward integration into larger scale photonic circuits. The transient thermal response of the chosen device geometries is investigated to better understand design trade-offs of programming energy, switching time, and optical insertion loss. Three different microheater designs for electrically controlled phase change photonics were initially explored, specifically for amorphization, which is more technically challenging to achieve than crystallization [69], [79], [122], [123], [126], [129]–[131]. Amorphization requires the device to reach higher temperatures (e.g., the melting temperature,  $T_m$ , is ~900 K for GST [132]) and then cool (e.g., the glasstransition temperature,  $T_G$ , is ~625 K for GST [99]) with extremely fast quenching rates ( $R_q$  =  $\frac{T_m - T_G}{t_q} \sim 10^9 - 10^{10} \ K/s$  for GST [133]) in order to "freeze" the atoms in the amorphous state, rather than the energetically-favorable crystalline state(s). Examples of both crystallization and amorphization thermal cycles are shown in Figure 2.9b, with the quenching rate of the material highlighted in the amorphization curve.

All heater designs explored in this work utilize a common silicon-on-insulator rib waveguide structure, encapsulated by 500 nm of  $SiO_2$  (Figure 2.9c-e), which is one of the most common structures for photonic devices. Waveguide dimensions, phase change material thickness, and presences of an encapsulation layer are held constant throughout the first set of simulations to

Microheater Design	Pulse Time	Switching Energy	Heater Size	Cell Size	Material
Single-Doped Si [69]	400 [ns]	7.39 [nJ/µm <sup>2</sup> ]	~15.5 x 8.5 [µm <sup>2</sup> ]	4 x 6 [µm <sup>2</sup> ]	Sb <sub>2</sub> Se <sub>3</sub>
ITO [128]	50 [ns]	~1.67 [nJ/µm <sup>2</sup> ]	2 x 3 [µm <sup>2</sup> ]	2 x 3 [µm <sup>2</sup> ]	GST
Graphene (Sim.) [127]	0.22 [ns]	2.4 [pJ/µm <sup>2</sup> ]	~1.4 x 5 [µm <sup>2</sup> ]	0.5 x 5 [µm <sup>2</sup> ]	GST
Graphene (Exp.) [125]	5 [µs]	3.59 [nJ/µm <sup>2</sup> ]	10 x 5 [µm <sup>2</sup> ]	3 x 4 [µm <sup>2</sup> ]	GSST

Table 2 - Novel heating structure performances for amorphization.

enable a direct comparison of the thermal response between different designs (i.e., consistent thermal mass). The specific dimensions of these devices are shown in Figure 3.1. To account for thermal dissipation along the length of the silicon waveguide, each device's waveguide structure beyond the heater area is extended in the direction of propagation, for a total device length of 50  $\mu$ m. The active area of each microheater is located in the center of the device. The microheater is 5  $\mu$ m long with a corresponding 5- $\mu$ m-long layer of PCM on top of the rib. Thin-film Si properties [134], [135] are applied to the waveguide structure while the underlying Si substrate (10  $\mu$ m thick) is modeled as a bulk material, with its bottom face held at constant room temperature (*T* = 293.15 K). The PCM used in this work was chosen to be GST, as its well-characterized material properties make it a common choice for these types of devices [126], [136].

Since all three devices use an electro-thermal design, these results can be generalized to any optical PCM provided a candidate PCM's amorphization temperature and melt-quench rate for reversible switching are considered during design of a particular heater [133]. The GST used in this work was modeled using material properties as reported in [126]. Palladium (Pd) contacts were chosen due to their high melting temperature and the availability of experimental data for Pd/Si thermal systems [137]. Further details on the material properties used can be found in Figure 3.1 and Table 3. It is worth reiterating that this area of investigation focused only on optimization

of the amorphization (reset) process in the PCM, and that this particular modeling process provides no insight into crystallization processes.



Figure 3.1 – Details on simulated structures used in these studies. (a)-(b) Dimensions of aspects used in all 3 devices, (c)-(e) specific dimensions of each device studied in this work. In addition, thermal boundary conductance of each material pair present in this model is highlighted.

Thermal performance of the three designs was assessed in COMSOL Multiphysics® [138] using the Heat Transfer Module. Conduction was the dominant heat transfer mode, as both convection and radiation proved to have minimal contribution for these structures at the time scales considered. The AC Circuits Module was used for both metallic heater devices and the Semiconductor Module was used for the PIN diode heater. The two metallic heater designs utilize an electro-thermal model coupled through Joule heating and temperature-dependent material properties. Joule heating occurs from charge carriers dissipating energy within the atomic structure of the material, and is calculated through the well-established equation:

$$P_{Ioule} = \vec{J} \cdot \vec{E}$$
 Equation 3-1

This is most focused in areas of devices with the lowest cross-sectional areas normal to current flow. Our metallic heaters are designed such that these occur as close to the PCM as possible.

The PIN microheater uses a 2D semiconductor-thermal model which is coupled through temperature-dependent material properties, semiconductor effects and Joule heating to calculate the dynamic heating profile of the device. While heating will occur mostly in areas of smallest cross-sectional areas as described above, other heating effects arise due to changing cross sectional area through the device, and recombination of carriers at the edges of the intrinsic region.

All 3D models simulated (both metallic heaters and the imported 3D PIN diode heater) utilized free tetrahedral meshes, calibrated for heat transfer using COMSOL proprietary settings. These meshes were then further refined using COMSOL's adaptive mesh refinement method. The 2D semiconductor-thermal model utilized free quadratic meshing elements calibrated for semiconductor physics using COMSOL proprietary settings. Mesh size for the waveguide and SiO<sub>2</sub> encapsulation layers were then manually refined through an iterative solving process, until solution stability was achieved, even with increasing mesh refinement. The quadratic meshing elements for the Si substrate was exponentially distributed from the SiO<sub>2</sub>/Si interface. All models were solved using multifrontal massively parallel sparse (MUMPS) direct solver techniques.

Material	<i>k</i> [W/(m*K)]	<i>Cp</i> [J/(kg*K)]	ρ [kg/m^3]
Si (thin film)	<i>k</i> ( <i>T</i> ) from [134]	<i>Cp</i> ( <i>T</i> ) from [135]	2329
SiO <sub>2</sub>	k(T) from COMSOL	Cp(T) from COMSOL	2200
Pd	11.3	244	12023
GST [126]	0.19	199	6270

 Table 3 – Material thermal properties used in the model.

### **3.1 Metallic Heaters**

The first design investigated is the most straightforward electro-thermal solution: a Pd metallic resistive microheater deposited on top of the SiO<sub>2</sub> encapsulation layer. As shown in Figure 3.1c, voltage is applied across the single metal heater and the resulting current heats the device through Joule heating. The heat generated at the microheater is then conducted through the SiO<sub>2</sub> encapsulation layer and into the PCM beneath. The 500 nm of encapsulating SiO<sub>2</sub> was chosen to minimize the optical insertion loss due to the metal while keeping the vertical distance between the heater and PCM as small as possible (i.e., promoting temperature rise in the PCM). While this design is simple to fabricate, the low thermal conductivity of SiO<sub>2</sub> and the distance between the heat source and PCM results in a device with a problematically large thermal capacitance and a slow thermal response (see Figure 3.2a).

To improve thermal capacitance and response time, a second device was explored which uses two Pd metallic microheaters embedded in the SiO<sub>2</sub> and in thermal contact with the Si waveguide as shown in Figure 2.9d. The heat generated by these two heaters is able to flow through the additional pathway of the partially etched silicon layer, which has a much higher thermal conductance than SiO<sub>2</sub> (~60 vs. 1 W/(m·K) at room temperature [99], [138]), resulting in faster heating as seen in Figure 3.2b.

Using the above-described methods, all devices were simulated to predict the switching dynamics which are shown in Figure 3.2a-c. In these simulations, the volume average of a 500 nm  $\times$  500 nm region of the PCM at the device center is measured (dashed outline in Figure 3.2g-i) to determine the switching threshold for amorphization. The input electrical characteristics required to reach the melting temperature of PCM were determined for each device through an iterative



Figure 3.2 – Initial results of the COMSOL simulations. (a)-(c) Heating curves of the three simulated structures. Both the melting (orange) and glass (yellow) transition temperatures ( $T_m$  and  $T_g$ , respectively) of the PCM are marked, as well as the quench time,  $t_q$ . Plot in c) also highlights the difference between 2D (blue) and 3D (purple) models where the reduced temperature is due to heat dissipation along the waveguide in the direction of propagation. (d)-(f) Cross section snapshots of the simulated structures at peak GST temperature. (g)-(i) Temperature profile of the 3D models at the midway point of the GST to highlight the uniformity of the heating for the 5-µm-long PCM. Note: the slight asymmetry in g) is caused by additional heatsinking from the opposing metal contacts in Figure 2.9c.

simulation process. The single microheater required a 302 mV pulse (19 mW peak power) for 10  $\mu$ s and the double microheater required a 460 mV pulse (85 mW peak power) for 1  $\mu$ s. All pulses were applied at *t* = 10 ns. The electrical pulse amplitudes and durations were chosen to ensure that

Material	$T_{g}$ [K]	<i>T<sub>m</sub></i> [K]	Quench Rate [K/s]
GeTe	418 [139]	998 [140]	~10 <sup>9</sup> [140]
Sb <sub>2</sub> Te <sub>3</sub>	350 [139]	890 [141]	~10 <sup>10</sup> [142]
Sb <sub>2</sub> S <sub>3</sub>	573 [76]	819 [76]	~10 <sup>9</sup> [143]
Sb <sub>2</sub> Se <sub>3</sub>	442 [144]	893 [69]	~10 <sup>9</sup> [69]
Ge <sub>2</sub> Sb <sub>2</sub> Te <sub>5</sub>	625 [99]	900 [132]	~10 <sup>9</sup> [133]
Ge2Sb2Se1Te4	523 [145]	900 [145]	~10 <sup>8</sup> [125]

Table 4 - Common PCM thermal properties.

the center of the PCM exceeded  $T_m$  while the Pd and Si did not exceed their melting temperatures (1825 K and 1685 K, respectively [146], [147]).

Snapshots of the cross-sectional thermal profile of the devices at the end of each programming pulse are shown in Figure 3.2d-f. After heating, the time required for the PCM to cool from the melting temperature to the glass transition temperature was also calculated for each design (for the GST used in this work the glass transition temperature,  $T_g$ , is set at 625 K due to fast heating rate effects [99]). This quench time,  $t_q$ , allows us to estimate the melt-quench rate in our devices:  $R_q = \frac{T_m - T_g}{t_q}$ . The resulting melt-quench rate must be greater than the critical cooling rate for amorphization of the PCM in question [133], [148] (~10<sup>9</sup> K/s for our GST [136], [149]) as mentioned previously. Thus, the maximum melt-quench rate of the electro-thermal microheater will determine which PCMs can be reversibly switched. Various PCMs and their relevant thermal properties are listed in Table 4 to provide a guide for future microheater designs. Differing values of  $T_q$  and  $T_m$  reported in the literature arise due to variations in materials thickness, dimensions,

and nanostructures. All of these factors would impact quench rates for the specific material configurations reported. To enable a reasonable comparison between the various literature descriptions of PCMs,  $t_q$  is estimated from the minimum duration of the programming pulse during the rapid quenching process [69], [125], [133], [140], [142], [143].

# 3.2 PIN Diode

The third and final device investigated uses a waveguide-integrated PIN diode, as shown in Figure 2.9e. This Si PIN diode serves as the microheater when forward biased [126]. Voltage is applied to the source-drain contacts of the PIN junction and current flows perpendicular to the optical path through the diode. By using the waveguide itself as the heater, the thermal capacitance of the device is much lower than the first two designs, which is expected to result in much faster GST heating and cooling rates. The 1.5-µm-long internal intrinsic region used here ensures minimal optical loss through the switching region. Both the *p*- and *n*-type regions of the Si rib are doped at  $10^{20}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, to ensure ohmic contacts with the metal and to increase the forward-biased current. The influence of intrinsic width and *p*- and *n*-doping levels in this PIN heater are explored in later sections.

Due to high doping levels in the PIN diode, full Fermi-Dirac carrier statistics are used to model the carrier concentrations of this degenerately doped semiconductor system. In addition, to investigate the change in carrier mobilities in the different regions of the diode under operation, the Arora, Fletcher, and Caughey-Thomas mobility models were used to account for carrier-carrier, high field velocity, and phonon and impurity scattering effects, respectively [150]–[152]. These mobility models are explored briefly in the following sections:

#### **3.2.1 Arora Mobility Model**

The Arora mobility model is an empirically derived formula that takes into account phonon-carrier scatterings due to temperature effects, as well as lattice-carrier scatterings due to impurities [152]. Classical theory was able to accurately calculate the mobility of devices for doping concentrations of up to 10<sup>19</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup> and temperatures of up to 500 K, but does not hold for higher dopings and higher temperatures. Arora et al. took classically calculated values as well as experimentally measured values at higher doping/temperatures and fit them to a well-established equation [153]:

$$\mu_{Ar} = \mu_{min} + \frac{\mu_o}{1 + \left(\frac{N}{N_o}\right)^{\alpha}}$$
 Equation 3-2

where the constants  $\mu_{min}$ ,  $\mu_o$ ,  $\alpha$  and  $N_{ref}$  are material-specific. To account for temperature effects, these constants scale accordingly with:

$$X = X^{ref} \left(\frac{T}{T_{ref}}\right)^{\beta_X}$$
 Equation 3-3

where 
$$X = \mu_{min}, \mu_o, N_o, \alpha$$

These values for Si are given in the original work [152] and are used commonly in the field [126], [127].

## **3.2.2 Fletcher Mobility Model**

The Fletcher mobility model considers carrier-carrier scattering effects. It is based on classically derived expressions for mutual diffusion of two groups of charged particles, assuming an isotropic effective mass for both holes and electrons [150]. This carrier-carrier mobility effect is calculated:

$$\mu_{Fl} = \frac{\left(\frac{T}{T_{ref}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} F_1}{\left(np\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \ln\left(1 + \left(\frac{T}{T_{ref}}\right)^2 (np)^{-\frac{1}{3}} \cdot F_2\right)}$$
Equation 3-4

where *n* and *p* are the electron and hole concentrations, respectively, and  $F_1$ ,  $F_2$ , and  $T_{ref}$  are material specific parameters, and for Si they are taken from [154]. This addition to the carrier mobilities is then taken into account through Matthiessen's rule:

$$\frac{1}{\mu_i} = \frac{1}{\mu_{o,i}} + \frac{1}{\mu_{cc}}, i = n, p$$
 Equation 3-5

where  $\mu_o$  is the initial mobility (input mobility). While both the calculation of  $\mu_{cc}$  and Matthiessen's rule are just first order approximations, more rigorous quantum mechanical derivations and comparison to experimental results have proven the validity of this model [155], [156].

# 3.2.3 Caughey-Thomas Mobility Model

Caughey-Thomas mobility models are used to consider high electric field scattering effects. Although this model was originally empirically derived in 1967 by Caughey and Thomas [153], it was further extended and verified by Canali et al. in 1974 for higher fields and constant

temperatures, and that extended form is used in this work [151]. The effect of high-field scatterings is applied to the mobility through:

$$\mu_{i,ct} = \frac{\mu_{i,o}}{\left(1 + \left(\frac{\mu_{i,o}F_i}{\nu_{i,sat}}\right)^{\alpha_i}\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha_i}}}, i = n, p$$
Equation 3-6

where  $\mu_{i,o}$  is the initial mobility (input mobility) and  $F_i$  is the component of the electric field parallel to the carrier current.  $v_{i,sat}$  and  $\alpha_i$  scale with temperature similar to the Fletcher model described above (or rather, the Fletcher model scales similarly to these as it is partially based off the Caughey-Thomas method) such:

$$X_i = X_{i,o} \left(\frac{T}{T_{ref}}\right)^{\beta_{X,i}}, X = \alpha, v_{sat}$$
 Equation 3-7

and  $\alpha_{i,o}$ ,  $v_{i,o}$  and  $\beta_{X,i}$  are all measured material parameters, given in [151].

# 3.2.4 Total Mobility Used

The total effects from these scatterings were then incorporated by calculating  $\mu_{ct}(\mu_{Fl}(\mu_{Ar}))$  and using the resulting mobility as the carrier mobilities. For initial model simplicity, these calculations were performed and then used as constant mobility values of their respective region and can be found in Table 5.

<b>Doping</b> = $10^{17}$	$\mu_n \ [\text{cm}^2/(\text{V}\cdot\text{s})]$	$\mu_p [\text{cm}^2/(\text{V}\cdot\text{s})]$	<b>Doping</b> = $10^{18}$	$\mu_n [\text{cm}^2/(\text{V}\cdot\text{s})]$	$\mu_p [\text{cm}^2/(\text{V}\cdot\text{s})]$
Р	235	165	Р	75	60
I	215	162	I	45	42
N	250	175	Ν	62	52
<b>Doping</b> = $10^{19}$	$\mu_n \ [\text{cm}^2/(\text{V}\cdot\text{s})]$	μ <sub>p</sub> [cm²/(V·s)]	<b>Doping</b> = $10^{20}$	$\mu_n  [\text{cm}^2/(\text{V·s})]$	$\mu_p [cm^2/(V \cdot s)]$
<b>Doping = 10<sup>19</sup></b> <b>P</b>	$\frac{\mu_n \left[ \text{cm}^2 / (\text{V} \cdot \text{s}) \right]}{25}$	$\frac{\mu_p \left[ \mathbf{cm}^2 / (\mathbf{V} \cdot \mathbf{s}) \right]}{20}$	Doping = 10 <sup>20</sup> P	$\frac{\mu_n \left[ \text{cm}^2 / (\text{V} \cdot \text{s}) \right]}{14}$	$\mu_p [\text{cm}^2/(\text{V·s})]$ 12
Doping = 10 <sup>19</sup> P I	$\frac{\mu_n \left[ \text{cm}^2 / (\text{V} \cdot \text{s}) \right]}{25}$	$\frac{\mu_p \left[ \text{cm}^2 / (\text{V} \cdot \text{s}) \right]}{20}$	Doping = 10 <sup>20</sup> P I	$\frac{\mu_n \left[ \text{cm}^2 / (\text{V} \cdot \text{s}) \right]}{14}$	μ <sub>p</sub> [cm <sup>2</sup> /(V·s)]

Table 5 - Material mobility properties used in the model.

## **3.2.5 Out-of-Plane Heat Flux**

Finally, to investigate how the heat flow along the waveguide affects these devices, the full thermal profile of the 3D devices is estimated. Heat generation at each linear position in the 2D PIN device ( $Q_{tot}(x, t)$ ) is applied to a 3D device model, enabling the full thermal profile to be solved using the heat transport module. This approximation assumes that *y*- and *z*-components of the current through this device are minimal, and accordingly the 2D results for heat generation can be extended uniformly along the 5-µm-long active region. The PIN heater utilized a 6.2 V pulse driving pulse for 100 ns (160 mW peak power, also applied at *t* = 10 ns) without exceeding the melting temperatures of the Si waveguide or Pd contacts.

All three designs were able to heat the PCM above  $T_m = 900$  K, although the PIN microheater showed much faster operating speeds. After analyzing the results from the 3D model, it is evident that heat spread along the waveguide plays a significant role in the thermal response. The peak temperature of the PCM dropped to 800 K, as shown by the dashed line in Figure 3.2c. This implies that a slightly higher power programming signal than predicted by the simpler 2D

model is needed for a real device, a conclusion which agrees with values reported in the literature (i.e., 6.6 V pulse for 100 ns reported in [126]).



Figure 3.3 – Comparison of different doping levels in PIN structures. (a) Current-voltage curves for the PIN diode with different p- and n-type doping levels. Higher doping reduces series resistance and increases carrier injection into the intrinsic region. (b) Heat per unit area, Q(x), generated by the PIN microheater (p- and n-doping levels are  $10^{20}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>). Contributions from Joule heating (orange line) and carrier recombination (yellow line) are also shown. (c) Influence of doping on the total heat generated through the diode,  $Q_{tot}$ . (d) Heat generated due to carrier recombination,  $Q_{recomb}$ , for the curves in (c).

The drastic reduction in switching energy for the PIN diode is due to the much smaller volume of material being heated as shown in Figure 3.2. Under forward bias, majority carriers from both of the degenerately doped regions ( $N_A = N_D = 10^{20} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ ) are injected into the intrinsic region, resulting in a high level of current being driven through the device, as depicted in Figure 3.3a [157]. This usually results in heat profiles centered around the intrinsic region only,

however for this device scale, the intrinsic region length is comparable to that of the doping region, and due to this the heat generated by each of the three regions needs to be considered. The effect of intrinsic region length is discussed in the following section.

When the PIN microheater is forward biased, the resistance of the doped regions is comparable to the resistance in the center intrinsic region due to charge injection. This is demonstrated by the following relation for a semiconductor's conductance:

$$\sigma = q(\mu_n n + \mu_p p)$$
 Equation 3-8

where q is the elementary charge constant,  $\mu$  is the mobility in that region and n and p are the carrier concentrations. More specifically in PIN diodes, the current is due to majority carriers as mentioned previously so Equation 3-8 can be written for the different regions:

$$\sigma_p = q(\mu_{p,p} \ p_p)$$
 Equation 3-9

$$\sigma_i = q(\mu_{n,i} + \mu_{p,i})n$$
 Equation 3-10

$$\sigma_n = q(\mu_{n,n} n_n)$$
 Equation 3-11

where the mobilities of the carriers in the different regions are designated by their subscripts (e.g., the mobility of holes in the *p*-region is denoted:  $\mu_{p,p}$ ). In the intrinsic region, p = n in order to satisfy charge neutrality. It is worth noting that each of these parameters are dependent on the voltage applied to the device, which requires a self-consistent solution. The carrier profiles through the device while forward biased are shown in Figure 3.4 and the mobilities used are found in Table 5 for an applied voltage of 6.2 V. Note that the levels of injected carriers into the intrinsic region are much larger than the intrinsic concentration, meaning this device is operating under high injection conditions [158]. This also causes carrier-carrier scattering to have a significant impact on carrier mobilities in the intrinsic region. Since all three regions have comparable carrier concentrations and mobilities, heat should be generated relatively uniformly throughout the device. This can be confirmed through inspection of the band energy diagrams in Figure 3.4. A consistent voltage drop is observed across the region between the contacts, not only in the intrinsic region. This is an important observation as the heat generated by the doped regions of the device must be considered when calculating the cooling rate. In fact, this heating can be higher than that in the intrinsic region as shown in Figure 3.3b. This additional heat generation could contribute to slower quenching rates of PCMs, as well as lower energy efficiency due to the delocalization of the heating region. This consideration opens the door for further optimization in the design of next generation of electro-thermal heaters.



Figure 3.4 - Operating dynamics of PIN diode with degenerate doping. (a)-(b) show the OFF/ON band diagrams for our device at  $V_{app} = 6.2$  V, (c) gives the electron/hole concentration through the diode while ON. Inset highlights the areas between the contacts, specifically the current crowding at the P/I and I/N interfaces.

The heat generated per unit area by the PIN microheater normalized by thickness of the silicon waveguide is shown in Figure 3.3b. To elucidate the source of heating, we plot both the contributions due to Joule heating and carrier recombination in Figure 3.3b. There are noticeable peaks in heat generation at the interfaces from carrier-carrier recombination (yellow dashed line). There is also a significant amount of Joule heating generated by current crowding at either edge of the rib shown by peaks seen at  $\pm 0.225 \,\mu$ m, further adding to the amount of heat generated. When fabricating real devices, the location of maximum heating may change due to current crowding or large contact resistance between the silicon and Pd contacts [159]. These geometrical and material effects (intrinsic region width, doping levels) comprise a family of design parameters that can be investigated and optimized to further improve the efficiency and operating speed of these PIN heaters.

# **3.3 Doping Levels**

To investigate the influence of doping on the device performance, the PIN microheater was simulated at different doping levels (with adjusted mobility values). However, as can be seen in Figure 3.3a, lowering the doping level decreases the amount of current generated, transitively decreasing the amount of heat generated. Much higher and/or longer-duration input pulses are therefore required to heat the PCM to the desired temperature, unacceptably lowering the energy efficiency of the device. Additionally, lowering the doping drastically reduces the amount of recombination in the device, which is proportional to the product of carriers in the intrinsic region, np. Thus, reducing the doping in the n- and p-regions leads to significantly lower recombination

heating rates (Figure 3.3d), as well as lower total heating (Figure 3.3c). For these simulations, ohmic contacts to the n- and p-regions were assumed regardless of doping level.

## 3.4 Intrinsic Region Length

It is well established that the length of the middle intrinsic region inside a PIN diode has an influence on the forward-biased current-voltage (J-V) curves for high injection conditions, so varying the length of the device used here results in different thermal behaviors [150], [158], [160]-[166]. As opposed to simple PN diodes, the middle intrinsic region of a PIN diode strongly controls the device's on-resistance. When the device is forward biased, majority carriers from both the *p*- and *n*-doped regions are injected into the intrinsic region, strongly modulating the conductivity of the device. The amount of carriers injected into the inner region is therefore a key parameter in designing these devices and, as will be demonstrated, is strongly influenced by the width of the region. The inner intrinsic region length is not only important to the transmission of the optical signal, but will also dictate the device's electrical and heating performance.

# **3.4.1 Carrier Distribution Through a PIN Diode**



#### Figure 3.5 - Theoretical PIN diode schematic for derivation of the carrier distribution.

To determine the effect of the inner intrinsic region length, consider a two-dimensional PIN diode with an inner intrinsic length l, as described in Figure 3.5. Assumptions typically used in the literature will be followed, specifically from Berz [161]:

- 1. High injection in the intrinsic region.
- 2. Constant carrier lifetimes in the intrinsic region.
- 3. The values of the diffusion and mobility of the carriers is constant throughout the intrinsic region.
- 4. There are constant quasi-Fermi levels across the P/I and I/N junctions.
- 5. The recombination currents in the doped *p* and *n*-regions is proportional to the square of the carrier density at the P/I (junction 1) and I/N (junction 2) interfaces.

Assumption 1 is proven true through examination of the injected carrier levels  $(10^{20} \text{ cm}^{-3})$ when compared to the intrinsic carrier levels in the lightly doped intrinsic region  $(10^{13} \text{ cm}^{-3})$ . Assumption 2 is valid under high injection conditions when recombination centers are uniformly distributed through the intrinsic region, which is true for our computational model. Assumption 3 has been proven to be a valid first order approximation, and as such is still used in the initial model [158], [161]. Assumption 4 is held true for this derivation but is calculated more explicitly using Fermi-Dirac statistics in our computer model. Assumption 5 is fully justified for abrupt-junction devices with low injection levels at the opposite end of the intrinsic regions (junction 1 for electrons, junction 2 for holes).

In high-injection conditions, the current density for both electrons and holes can be derived through continuity expressions [167] :

$$J_n(x) = \frac{b}{1+b}I + eD\left(\frac{dn}{dx}\right)$$
 Equation 3-12

$$J_p(x) = \frac{1}{1+b}I - eD\left(\frac{dn}{dx}\right)$$
 Equation 3-13

where *I* is the total current,  $b = \mu_n / \mu_p$ , *D* is the ambipolar diffusion constant:

$$D = \frac{2D_n D_p}{D_n + D_p}$$
 Equation 3-14

and further noting that due to conservation of electrical neutrality n(x) = p(x) in the intrinsic region. By then considering current continuity through the equation

$$\frac{dJ_{n(p)}}{dx} = \frac{en(p)}{\tau_{n(p)}}$$
 Equation 3-15

where  $\tau_{n(p)}$  is the lifetime of the electrons (holes), Equation 3-13 yields with a constant *b* value:

$$\frac{d^2n}{dx^2} = \frac{n}{L^2}$$
 Equation 3-16

where *L* is the typical diffusion length, defined here as  $L = \sqrt{D\tau}$ . The solution of this differential equation is well-known, given boundary carrier concentrations  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  at junctions 1 and 2, respectively:

$$n(x) = \frac{n_1 \sinh\left(\frac{l-x}{L}\right) + n_2 \sinh\left(\frac{x}{L}\right)}{\sinh\left(\frac{l}{L}\right)} = p(x)$$
 Equation 3-17

At this point one can determine that the boundary carrier concentrations  $n_1$  and  $n_2$  have major contributions to the level of injected carriers into the intrinsic region. To calculate the value of these boundary conditions as a function of intrinsic region length, one should examine the minority carrier densities at the junctions ( $J_n$  at junction 1,  $J_p$  at junction 2). Equation 3-12 and Equation 3-13 yield:

$$J_n|_1 = \frac{b}{1+b}I + \left(\frac{eD}{L}\right)(-n_1 \coth\left(\frac{l}{L}\right) + \frac{n_2}{\sinh\left(\frac{l}{L}\right)}$$
 Equation 3-18

$$J_p|_2 = \frac{1}{1+b}I + \left(\frac{eD}{L}\right)\left(\frac{n_1}{\sinh\left(\frac{l}{L}\right)} - n_2\coth\left(\frac{l}{L}\right)\right)$$
 Equation 3-19

Taking advantage of assumption 5, the recombination current at the doped region interface is [168]:

$$J_n|_1 = qh_1n_i^2$$
 Equation 3-20  
 $J_p|_2 = qh_2n_i^2$  Equation 3-21

where  $h_i = \frac{i_{is}}{qn_i^2}$  is the emitter parameter for junction 1 and 2, and  $i_{is}$  is the saturation current for i = n, p at junction 1 and 2, respectively. Setting Equation 3-18 (Equation 3-19) and Equation 3-20 (Equation 3-21) as equivalent yields:

$$h_1 n_1^2 + \left(\frac{D}{L} \coth\left(\frac{w}{L}\right)\right) n_1 - \left(\frac{D}{L} \left(\frac{n_2}{\sinh\left(\frac{w}{L}\right)}\right) + \frac{1}{q} \left(\frac{b}{1+b}\right) I\right) = 0$$
 Equation 3-22

$$h_2 n_2^2 + \left(\frac{D}{L} \operatorname{coth}\left(\frac{W}{L}\right) n_2 - \left(\frac{D}{L}\left(\frac{n_1}{\sinh\left(\frac{W}{L}\right)}\right) + \frac{1}{q}\left(\frac{1}{1+b}\right)I\right) = 0 \quad \text{Equation 3-23}$$

By considering these two equations as quadratic in terms of  $n_1$  and  $n_2$ , respectively the effect of the intrinsic region on the boundary conditions can be developed:

$$n_{1} = \frac{1}{2h_{1}} \left(\frac{D}{L}\right) \left(-\coth\left(\frac{l}{L}\right) + \sqrt{\coth^{2}\left(\frac{l}{L}\right) + \frac{l}{l_{1}} + 4h_{1}\left(\frac{L}{D}\right)\left(\frac{n_{2}}{\sinh\left(\frac{l}{L}\right)}\right)}\right)$$
 Equation 3-24  
$$n_{2} = \frac{1}{2h_{2}} \left(\frac{D}{L}\right) \left(-\coth\left(\frac{l}{L}\right) + \sqrt{\coth^{2}\left(\frac{l}{L}\right) + \frac{l}{l_{2}} + 4h_{2}\left(\frac{L}{D}\right)\left(\frac{n_{1}}{\sinh\left(\frac{l}{L}\right)}\right)}\right)$$
 Equation 3-25

where

$$I_1 \equiv \frac{1+b}{4b} \left(\frac{qD}{h_1\tau}\right)$$
 Equation 3-26

$$I_2 \equiv \frac{1+b}{4b} \left(\frac{qD}{h_2\tau}\right)$$
 Equation 3-27

While these equations can be solved independently for large enough devices [161], for devices of the size scales in this work, the concentrations of carriers at the junctions are tightly coupled, and so they must be solved simultaneously. Regardless, by observation it is clear that the length of the intrinsic region controls the concentration of carriers at the boundaries, which controls the carrier concentration through the region, n(x), whose gradient controls the current through the device,  $J_n$  and  $J_p$ . Therefore, the length of the intrinsic region plays a major role in the electric performance of the device, and from that the heating performance of the device.

### 3.5 Simulation Study of Differing Intrinsic Regions

While the above derivation clearly shows that the length of the intrinsic region controls the concentration of carriers at the junctions and therefore the current through the device, the optical component of these structures also needs to be considered. As the inner intrinsic region decreases, the heavily doped silicon regions become closer to the waveguide and optical absorption will increase due to free-carrier absorption. The trade-off between switching efficiency and optical insertion loss must be considered. To investigate the effect on these devices, 2D simulations with intrinsic region lengths ranging from 450 nm to 1.5  $\mu$ m were performed, all heated by 100 ns voltage pulses. While these results are from a 2D model, the thermal dynamics of the 3D model are expected to only differ by a scaling factor as seen in Figure 3.2c.

The peak temperatures of the PCM and the Si waveguide are extracted from the different device geometries with 100 ns voltage pulses of different applied amplitudes and are plotted in Figure 3.6. A forward biased PIN diode approximately behaves as a linear conductor above the forward voltage drop of the diode (~1.4 V for our model as shown in Figure 3.3a) due to the inseries resistance of the heavily doped regions. For a simple linear conductor, power dissipated due to Joule heating is equal to  $P = \sigma V^2$ . Using a linear thermal treatment  $\Delta T = \frac{1}{m \cdot c_p} P$  yields the relationship:  $\Delta T \propto P \propto V^2$ . With this approximation in mind, the peak PCM temperatures (shown in Figure 3.6) are well-fit by a quadratic equation:

$$T_{peak} = \alpha (V - V_{bi})^2 + \beta (V - V_{bi})$$
  
+ 273.15

where  $V_{bi}$  is the built-in voltage of the device,  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are fitting variables, and the values found for the fittings in this work are listed in Table 6.

l <sub>int</sub>	α	β	
0.45	51.95	90.29	
0.9	35.32	39.55	
1.1	31.73	25.00	
1.2	28.78	25.39	
1.5	24.57	12.52	

Table 6 – Fitting parameters for *T*<sub>GST</sub> using Equation 3-28.

The peak Si temperature investigated here is not a volumetric average (unlike the reported GST temperature, which is averaged volumetrically). Instead, the peak "local hotspot" Si temperature is reported. This is a more relevant metric as locations of high energy concentrations are where device failure is most likely to occur. These peak temperatures are attributed to current crowding at the edges of the rib waveguide and the significant amount of carrier recombination at the interfaces. Due to these complex effects, the peak silicon temperature does not follow Equation 3-28. For calculations of  $V_{max}$  a best fit line was used to interpolate the data.



Figure 3.6 - Different thermal performance of PIN diodes with different intrinsic region lengths. (a) Typical device thermal response as well as indication of where peak temperatures are being evaluated. (b)-(f) Peak temperature vs. applied 100 ns voltage pulse for both the GST (orange circles) and Si (blue crosses), for varying intrinsic region lengths. The voltage which heats the GST above the melting temperature ( $V_{min}$ ) is shown by the orange vertical line. The maximum voltage that keeps the temperature of the Si device in a safe operating region ( $V_{max}$ ) is shown by the blue vertical line. The temperature vs. voltage curve calculated by Equation 3-28 is shown by the red dashed line.

Each set of data in Figure 3.6 is then evaluated to find the operating regions in which the PCM temperature is above  $T_m$  and the Si temperature is well below the Si melting temperature  $(T_{max,Si} = 1650 \text{ K}, \text{ well below the typical melting point of Si [147]})$ . These operating ranges are shown in Figure 3.7b, with  $V_{max}$  corresponding to the voltage that exceeds  $T_{max,Si}$  for a given intrinsic region length  $(l_{int})$  while  $V_{min}$  is the minimum voltage required for the PCM reach  $T_m$ . In practice, the maximum voltage may be limited by the ablation temperature of the PCM in question rather than the melting temperature of silicon (for GST this would be ~1200 K, corresponding to the reported boiling point of Te [169], [170]).

This information is summarized in Table 7 together with the minimum energy required to achieve amorphization and corresponding figure of merit (FOM). The FOM used here calculates the ratio of energy supplied to the device against the amount that is absorbed by the PCM. This FOM is calculated through [98], [127]:

$$FOM = \frac{m c_p \,\Delta T_{PCM}}{\int V \cdot I \,dt} = \frac{m c_p \,\Delta T_{PCM}}{E_{switch}}$$
 Equation 3-29

where *m* is the mass of the PCM,  $c_p$  is the specific heat of the PCM at constant pressure,  $\Delta T_{PCM}$  is the maximum temperature rise of the PCM. The denominator is the usual equation for calculating total energy of an electrical pulse.

For these devices, the minimum switching energy as a function of intrinsic width is given in Figure 3.7c which reveals that reducing  $l_{int}$  below 1 µm will result in the most significant energy savings. While this behavior holds true for small scale devices, it is worth noting that at larger scales devices will deviate from this trend at significantly long intrinsic regions, as the initial assumptions used to build this model no longer hold true for such device geometries (e.g., highinjection operation and high-field regime for calculating carrier mobility) [161].



Figure 3.7 - Effects of device geometry design for PIN heaters. (a) Example heating curve for the PIN diode used to extract peak temperatures of both the Si (blue) and GST (orange). (b) Operating range for different device geometries.  $V_{min}$  is the minimum voltage required to heat the PCM above its melting point, while  $V_{max}$ is the maximum voltage allowed before the Si starts to melt. (c) Minimum switching energy,  $E_{min}$ , calculated using  $V_{min}$  as a function of intrinsic length. (d) Optical loss,  $\Delta \alpha$ , of the waveguide for different intrinsic region widths and doping levels.

While the switching efficiency improves with decreasing intrinsic length, the heavily doped regions of silicon will introduce optical loss due to free carrier absorption. Thus, the tradeoff between electro-thermal switching efficiency and optical insertion loss must be considered when designing with a specific application in mind. To calculate the optical loss of PIN diode as a function of intrinsic region width and doping concentration, the waveguide's complex effective refractive index was simulated using Lumerical MODE, a 2D eigenmode solver. The model was swept over two parameters: intrinsic region width and refractive index of the silicon contacts. The refractive index of silicon is the function of numbers of holes ( $N_h$ ) and electrons ( $N_e$ ) in *p*-type and *n*-type, respectively:

$$\Delta n = -8.8 \times 10^{-22} \cdot \Delta N_e - 8.5 \times 10^{-18} \cdot (\Delta N_h)^{0.8}$$
 Equation 3-30

$$\Delta \alpha = -8.5 \times 10^{-18} \cdot \Delta N_e + 6.0 \times 10^{-18} \cdot \Delta N_h$$
 Equation 3-31

Equation 3-30 and Equation 3-31 provide the relationship between the change in the real part of the refractive index ( $\Delta n$ ) and optical absorption ( $\Delta \alpha$ ) from intrinsic silicon as a function of doping concentration for  $\lambda = 1550$  nm. From the results in Figure 3.7d, one can see that the optical loss increases both with decreasing intrinsic length and increasing doping concentration. As the optical loss of amorphous GST on a silicon rib waveguide is approximately 0.06 dB/µm, any absorption due to the doped contacts that is less than this will increase the overall absorption of the device by a negligible amount [171].

l <sub>int</sub> [μm]	Range [V]	$V_{min}$ [V]	I <sub>avg</sub> [mA]	E <sub>switch,min</sub> [nJ]	FOM [%]
0.45	0.863	4.123	22.60	9.318	0.91
0.90	0.679	5.085	26.10	13.272	0.64
1.10	0.732	5.474	25.90	14.178	0.60
1.20	0.775	5.639	25.60	14.436	0.59
1.50	1.014	6.205	24.50	15.202	0.56

 Table 7 - Summary of geometric results (2D simulations).

### **3.6 Pulse Effect**

The effects of pulse amplitude and duration on peak PCM temperature, quenching time, and quench rate was investigated. For these simulations, the intrinsic width was fixed to be  $l_{int}$ = 0.9 µm, providing a good trade-off between minimal optical loss and efficient switching energy. As in previous simulations, both the peak Si and GST temperatures are monitored to ensure the device does not exceed  $T_{m,Si}$  which would lead to catastrophic failure, while still reaching amorphization temperatures in the PCM thin film. These temperatures are presented in Figure 3.8.



Figure 3.8 - Thermal performance of devices with different programming pulses. Five different pulse widths (50, 75, 100, 125 and 150 ns) were paired with four different voltages (5, 5.5, 6 and 6.5 V). Plotted here are increasing voltages for each pulse width, with the peak temperatures highlighted for both the GST (circles) and the Si (crosses). Feasible pulse shapes are determined from those peak temperatures which are above the melting temperature of our GST (900 K) and below our maximum desired temperature of the underlying Si (1650 K).

From these, Figure 3.9b plots the peak temperature of the center PCM volume (see black outline in Figure 3.2i) for pulse durations ranging from 50 ns to 150 ns and voltages ranging from 5 V to 6.5 V. The dashed blue and red lines in Figure 3.9b-d indicate the melting temperature threshold for Si and GST respectively with the unacceptable operating regions greyed out. For shorter pulses, higher voltages are required to amorphize the PCM, while lower voltages are required for longer pulse durations as shown in Figure 3.9b. However, the acceptable window of operation significantly reduces with decreasing pulse width. This has important implications for the long-term endurance of the PIN microheater and indicates an increased requirement for control when using short programming pulses, such as multilevel programming of GST [125].

Figure 3.9c-d plots the quenching times and quenching rates for the pulse parameters simulated in Figure 3.9b. Reducing the pulse duration seemingly reduces the quench time (increasing the quenching rate). This behavior is physically reasonable since longer pulse widths will allow more time for heat dissipation throughout the device during the pulse, increasing the temperature of the surrounding material and reducing the cooling speed of the microheater. For a given microheater geometry, there is a clear upper limit on the maximum quench rate achievable. This has important implications for the types of PCMs which can be electro-thermally switched in a reversible manner as indicated by Table 4. One approach to further improving the quenching rate of the PIN microheater (and also the minimum switching energy) is to concentrate heat generation in the intrinsic region while minimizing Joule heating in the heavily doped *p*- and *n*-regions. Introducing mid-level traps or recombination centers could be one method to improve heat generation via carrier recombination in the intrinsic region at the expense of increased optical loss. Another approach could be using a single dopant type throughout the microheater while varying the dopant concentration (i.e.,  $n^{++}/n/n^{++}$  or  $p^{++}/p/p^{++}$ ), and will be investigated in more depth in

Section 4.0. This would enhance the voltage drop in the lightly doped *n*- or *p*-region and thus increase Joule heating in that portion of the device. This approach has been demonstrated for reversibly switching Sb<sub>2</sub>Se<sub>3</sub> [69], but more work is needed to directly compare the energy efficiency, optical loss, and maximum quench rate with that of PIN microheaters.



Figure 3.9 – Pulse-shape effects on device thermal performance. (a) Example of a thermal curve for the device with the quench time, quench rate, and pulse characteristics defined. (b) Peak temperatures,  $T_{peak}$  of the GST for different pulse amplitudes and widths. Pulse shapes that keep the Si temperature in a usable range while melting the GST are found within the unshaded area. (c) The quench times,  $t_q$ , and (d) the quenching rate,  $R_q$ , as a function of pulse shape. Shorter pulses increase the quenching rate but reduce the operating window since they require higher pulse amplitudes.

#### **3.7 Summary of Simulation Results**

Relevant design parameters from these simulations are summarized in Table 8, useful as first order estimations during device design. These results show the PIN diode heater device is fast to operate, and uses its energy towards heating the PCM more efficiently, minimizing wasted heat in the device despite a higher pulse power. This conclusion is supported through visual inspection of the cross sections of the devices under operation as shown in Figure 3.2d-i. Similar reductions in heating volume will play a key role in minimizing cross talk in future large arrays of devices.

Table 8 - Compiled results of initial design investigations.

Design	Pulse Time	Switching Energy	FOM [%]	$t_q$	Quench Rate
Single heater	10 [µs]	192 [nJ]	0.045	0.75 [µs]	3.7 x 10 <sup>8</sup> [K/s]
Double heater	1 [µs]	85 [nJ]	0.101	1.27 [μs]	2.2 x 10 <sup>8</sup> [K/s]
PIN (2D)	100 [ns]	16 [nJ]	0.532	127 [ns]	2.2 x 10 <sup>9</sup> [K/s]
PIN (3D)	100 [ns]	16 [nJ]	0.444	84.8 [ns]*	2.1 x 10 <sup>9</sup> [K/s]*

\*3D curve used the max temperature of the GST, 799.4 K, rather than the melting temperature to evaluate since the model never actually achieved the melting temperature,  $T_m$
## 4.0 Raman Thermometry

# 4.1 Raman Thermometry Background

Raman thermometry has been used since the 1990s to noninvasively measure temperature distributions in micro-scale objects [172]. In normal Raman spectroscopy, incident laser light is scattered inelastically by elementary excitations within the material. In a Stokes Raman process a small amount of incident photons are scattered inelastically, creating (Stokes) or absorbing (anti-Stokes) optical phonons near the  $\Gamma$  point of the first Brillouin zone, as shown in Figure 2.8a. As Stokes scattering is much more statistically likely (at room temperature [173]), this process is then measured by the material specific shift in frequency of the backreflected signal, specifically ~520.7 cm<sup>-1</sup> for Si. Any changes in lattice temperature results in an energy shift of the optical phonon:  $\Delta \nu / \Delta T \approx -0.021 \text{ cm}^{-1}/\text{K}$  for Si [172]. Due to the nondestructive and minimally invasive nature of this high spatial resolution process, it has been used to measure temperature distribution in small devices [172], [174], 2D materials thermal properties [175], [176], as well as many fluid flow applications [177], [178]. Here, this process is utilized to determine the operating temperature of integrated waveguide microheaters at different voltages [98].

## **4.2 Devices Investigated**

## **4.2.1 Device Details**

The ability to reversibly control the phase and amplitude of light in both a nonvolatile and highly compact form-factor has been a key motivation behind current research into optical phase-change materials (PCMs) [57]. However, achieving this reversible control using a scalable integrated approach (i.e., electronic integration) has been more challenging for the optical community than it has for the electronics community. This can be attributed to the significant difference in area and volume between electronic PCM memristors (typically sub-50 nm in *x*-, *y*-, and *z*-dimensions) and photonic PCM devices (typically >1  $\mu$ m in-plane, while  $\leq$ 50 nm out-of-plane) which rules out directly applying current to the PCM itself. To reversibly switch these materials, high melting temperatures (~900 K) and fast quenching rates (~0.1 to 1 K/ns in the case of Ge<sub>2</sub>Sb<sub>2</sub>Te<sub>5</sub>) are required which demands careful thermal engineering [133]. Additionally, the heat source used to switch the PCM should be optically transparent to prevent high insertion loss.

To address this challenge, several approaches have been demonstrated to enable scalable electrical control over optical PCMs for photonic circuits using waveguide-integrated resistive microheaters. This includes the use of transparent conductors [128], [129], [179], metallic heaters [130], [180], [181], graphene [125], [182], doped-silicon waveguides [123], [183], and silicon PIN junctions [126]. For monolithic integration with silicon photonic platforms, microheaters based on single-doped silicon [123], [183], [184] and silicon PIN junctions [98], [126] are the most attractive choices as they can be fabricated using the same foundry-compatible processes commonly used to fabricate active silicon photonics devices (e.g., PN modulators [185] and doped-

silicon thermo-optic phase shifters [186]). While both designs can be easily incorporated into the standard silicon photonics process flow, these two approaches have their relative strengths and weaknesses. Using microheaters comprised of forward-biased silicon PIN junctions (here after referred to as "PIN microheaters") has the potential to have very low insertion loss as the waveguide can be patterned in the intrinsic region of the junction. However, the thermal response of these devices can be quite sensitive to device dimensions, the active area is restricted by the dimensions of the intrinsic region, and doping levels as we have observed in simulations [98] and shown experimentally in this work. On the other hand, single-doped silicon microheaters (here after referred to as "doped microheaters") have simpler design considerations, which can be arbitrarily large, at the expense of higher voltages. A direct comparison between these two designs is challenging, since the reported devices from previous works have been processed separately under different process flows and doping conditions.

In the present experiment, both doped and PIN microheater designs for switching PCMs which have been fabricated on the same chip together under the same conditions are compared. This work investigates the steady-state heating response of PIN and doped microheaters using Raman thermometry and compares different PIN device geometries to further understand critical design parameters for these embedded heaters. Damage at the metal contacts was observed in the PIN devices after steady-state measurements (but not the doped devices), prompting exploration of the conditions under which this damage occurs. Endurance tests performed on doped and PIN microheaters revealed that for the same electrical power dissipation, doped microheaters exhibited less thermally induced aging than PIN microheaters. These results highlight the need for further research to improve the efficiency and lifetime of these microheaters for phase-change photonics applications.

PIN microheaters of differing intrinsic region lengths and widths were fabricated in a 90 nm CMOS line at the MIT Lincoln Laboratory [183], along with an array of n-doped microheaters with a constant geometry and varying levels of internal doping. All devices were fabricated on silicon-on-insulator wafers with a device layer of ~140 nm Si on 1  $\mu$ m of SiO<sub>2</sub>. While waveguides were not patterned on these devices, the thin silicon device layer has similar dimensions to partially etched silicon contacts in a typical rib waveguide process. To make electrical contact to the silicon, 200 nm Al metal contacts were deposited on top of a thin Ti/TiN adhesion/barrier layer. Finally, a thin 10 nm passivating layer of SiO<sub>2</sub> was uniformly deposited on the chip which is needed to provide electrical isolation for a PCM layer deposited on top of the microheater.



Figure 4.1 - Schematic views of the microheaters studied. All devices share the same layer structure shown in (a), where the 10 nm passivating  $SiO_2$  layer is omitted for clarity. Schematics of both the (b) PIN and (c) doped device layers are shown, with specific doping areas color coded as denoted. For the PIN device, specific *W* and *L* dimensions are denoted. Contact edges from the contact layer are represented on the device layer by dotted lines. The top-down views of both devices are paired with optical images of pristine devices. The doped regions for the PIN device can be seen faintly in the optical image, highlighting the much smaller size of these devices when compared to the doped microheaters.

Twelve unique PIN microheater geometries were fabricated based on the design demonstrated by Zheng et al. [126] with four different device widths (W= 5, 10, 15, and 20 µm), and three different lengths (L = 0.9, 1.2, and 1.5 µm) as indicated in Figure 4.1. To keep the contact resistance of the PIN devices consistent between different geometries, the distance between the edge of the metal contacts and the edge of the doped regions was kept constant at 0.8 µm, so that the total distance between contacts was always equal to L + 1.6 µm. Additionally, the distance between each metal contact edge and the doped region edge was kept constant at 5 µm so that edge-to-edge, the contact was always W + 10 µm. The doped microheaters based on the design by Ríos et al. [183] had a fixed geometry with 5 µm between contacts and a tapered, lightly *n*-doped channel, as shown in Figure 4.1. This channel tapers to a 10×0.5 µm<sup>2</sup> area which localizes the Joule heating to the PCM region in the waveguide center. The metal contacts for the *n*-doped devices are separated by 16 µm from edge-to-edge.

For the PIN microheaters, both the  $p^{++}$  and  $n^{++}$  regions of the device were heavily doped (~10<sup>20</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>) to minimize contact resistance as well as maximize current through the device [98]. The intrinsic region was unaltered, and as such is henceforth referred to as *undoped*. For the doped microheaters, the two  $n^{++}$  regions used for ohmic contact were similarly heavily doped (~10<sup>20</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>), while the interior n-regions were lightly doped at two different levels. Devices 1 and 2 were doped with  $n = 3 \times 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, while devices 3 and 4 were doped with  $n = 8 \times 10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>.

### **4.2.2 Raman Experiments Details**

Raman thermometry has emerged as a way to measure material specific temperatures inside of samples by tracking the shift of Raman peaks as a function of temperature [172], [175], [184], [187]–[191]. To acquire Raman spectra of our microheaters, a Horiba XploRA PLUS Raman microscope with 473 nm excitation laser and long working distance 50×, 0.55 NA objective was used, resulting in a diffraction limited spot size of 1.18 µm. The Raman measurements utilized a 25 mW, 473 nm laser for the measurement, but it was operated at 1% power (~0.25 mW) to ensure minimal excess heat was imparted into the devices through photon absorption. In order to convert the measured Raman spectra to the device temperature, the Si peak position vs. sample temperature was measured using a custom sample holder with built-in hotplate. Bare fabricated chips (prior to wire bonding) were placed on the hotplate with temperatures increasing from 25 °C to 300 °C in steps of 25 °C. The sample was held at each temperature for 10 minutes to ensure thermal equilibrium followed by the acquisition of three Raman spectra from undoped Si regions of the sample. All Si peaks from each calibration spectrum were fit to a Gaussian/Lorentzian hybrid curve, and the peak center locations for the three spectra per temperature were averaged. The resulting calibration curve is shown in Figure 4.2b and matches up well with other results in the literature [172], [175], [189]

After the calibration curve was obtained, the fabricated chip was attached and wire-bonded to a custom printed circuit board (PCB) to simplify electrical connectivity as shown in the inset in Figure 4.2a. This PCB and wire bonding setup not only allowed for consistent contact resistance to the device, but it also allowed the microscope stage to be mobile without disrupting the contact. Devices were powered during the measurements using a Keithley 2450 Source Measure Unit (SMU) with up to 4 V for the PIN devices and up to 10 V for the doped devices.



Figure 4.2 – Explanation of Raman thermometry process. (a) Schematic of a Raman Microscopy process, inset shows an image of the wire bonded test sample. (b) Calculated calibration curve of Si peak location against a known temperature using a hotplate. (c) Example of the Si Raman peak shifting at known temperatures, generated by the in-situ hot plate. (d) Demonstrating the peak splitting observed at higher temperatures for the devices while powered. This peak splitting does not occur during generation of the calibration curve, due to the consistent heat provided by the hot plate used.

To obtain temperature measurements, each applied DC voltage was maintained for 5 min to ensure both electrical and mechanical stability. Next, to ensure the beam was centered on the channel after any mechanical drift of the sample, the device was first mapped across the device length with the metal contacts providing reference points for the device edge. Then the z-direction was scanned to verify that the thin silicon device layer was in optimal focus. Three Raman spectra were then obtained and fit using a similar peak-fitting and averaging method used for the calibration data. However, at higher temperatures splitting of the Si peak occurred, as can be seen in Figure 4.2d. This splitting is attributed to the higher temperature of the thin Si device layer (i.e., the Si layer in which the microheater is fabricated) relative to the bulk Si substrate beneath the SiO<sub>2</sub>, causing the Si peaks from the different temperatures of these two layers to split [184]. These peaks were fitted using a double Lorentz curve, and device temperature was then calculated using the redshift of the proper Si peak using the calibration curve (Figure 4.2b). This effect was not present in the generation of the calibration curve (Figure 4.2c), as the hot plate used ensured that both the thin film Si and the underlying Si substrate were at the same temperature, resulting in one single Lorentz peak for the Si temperature.

## 4.2.3 Expected Effects of Center Ribbed Waveguide vs. Planar Diode

These test structures are all planar diodes, with no waveguide ribs. Simulation-based thermal characterization predicts that adding the rib into the design introduces a changing cross-sectional area through the device, giving rise to local heating spots at either side of the rib [159], [192], [193]. However, this structure decreases the average volumetric heat generation in the center region, an effect of increased cross-sectional area with corresponding decreasing current density

in that region. For comparison, the heat generated for a silicon PIN diode under the same conditions as Figure 3.3b ( $W_{int} = 1.5 \mu m$ , V = 6.2 V) but without the additional 120-nm-thick waveguide in Figure 4.3a was calculated. For a given voltage it is estimated that presence of the waveguide rib results in an approximate 10% increase in temperature, specifically centered at the middle of the device, as shown in Figure 4.3a.



Figure 4.3 – Comparison of the thermal performance of a planar vs. ribbed PIN diode. Normalized heat generated at pulse end, including the contribution from carrier recombination, as well as heat map at peak temperatue for (a) idealized planar diode and (b) ribbed diode.

## **4.3 Single-Doped Results**

## **4.3.1 Device Operations**

The IV curves during Raman measurements for all 4 single-doped devices are shown in Figure 4.4. The measured current for each device is normalized by device width (*W*) to better facilitate comparison between the different device geometries as discussed later. The doped microheaters reveal nonlinear behaviors at higher applied voltages as can be seen in Figure 4.4. At lower applied voltages, like those available on-chip (<5 V), the IV behavior is linear as expected, resulting in the higher-doped device reaching higher currents (and therefore, higher applied power) at a given voltage [183], [184]. However, at higher applied voltages ( $\sim >7$  V), the device currents begin to exhibit nonlinear behavior, trending towards saturation. This is attributed to velocity saturation effects in silicon where the linear relationship between carrier velocities and electric field breaks down at high electric fields [194], [195].



Figure 4.4 – IV performance of the single-doped devices. Different point shapes come from different devices, two for each doping level.

## 4.3.2 Velocity Saturation and Optical Phonon Scattering

As electronic devices continue to get aggressively scaled down in size, the electric field inside the device continues to get larger at standard operating voltages. As a result, understanding the impacts of high-field transport in silicon on the electrical and thermal performance of devices is increasingly important. In this work, the operating thermal principles of the single-doped devices can only be understood after considering the high-field transport effects on thermal generation.

High-field effects in semiconductors were first experimentally demonstrated in the early 1950s, with the advent of controllable short pulses, on the order of microseconds [195]. These short pulses are required to ensure minimal heating in the semiconductor, which decouples the measurements from high-temperature effects. These experimental studies mostly focused on Ge [194]–[197], the semiconductor of choice at the time, although studies on Si were also available [194], [197]. The historical experimental set up that was used is depicted in Figure 4.5a. To ensure that minimal heating occurred in the material, short pulses were used to drive the current. In addition, semiconductors with low numbers of carriers were used, to ensure that any energy transferred from the carriers to the lattice would be minimal. Under these conditions Ryder calculated that the lattice temperature would be raised by  $\sim 1$  K per pulse [194]. Using this experimental design, Ryder was able to measure carrier velocity saturation in both Ge and Si at various temperatures; the results for n-type Si at room temperature are reproduced in Figure 4.5b.



Figure 4.5 – Initial work done on veloctiy saturation in semiconductors. (a) Schematic of the test structure used by Ryder and Schockley to test high-field transport in semiconductors, showing the electronic signal path through the etched channel, and out to a cathode-ray oscilloscope (CRO). (b) Experimental results showing saturation in n-type Si at room temperature. Reproduced from [194].

These experimental results provided a basis for further work focused on determining the physical mechanism imparting this speed limit on semiconductor carriers. Ryder and Shockley initially concluded from their data that the energy losses due to velocity saturation was due to a combination of both acoustic and optical phonon scattering [196]. This theory was later expanded by Stratton, who showed that for Ge, the ratio of energy lost to acoustic vs. optical phonon modes is much smaller than 1 for energies up to ~1 eV [198]. Up to this point all theoretical analysis was done using the Boltzmann transport equation, and assuming the (standard) phenomenological relaxation time approximation [199]. However, with the introduction of Monte Carlo techniques

and a further maturity in the calculation of the full band structure of Si in the 1960's and 1970's, several new studies emerged taking more complex effects into account, including intervalley scattering, zone edge phonon modes, Umklapp processes and angular dependence of electron-phonon interactions [199]–[203]. Most of these studies support the standard assumption of velocity scattering being driven mostly by optical phonon interactions, although some have emerged that question how much of a role acoustic modes play in this effect [201]. While this is an interesting fundamental mechanistic question, a full discussion of specific phonon scattering will be assumed to be the dominant velocity limiting process from hereon.

When a carrier in a semiconductor is accelerated such that its energy is higher than the optical phonon energy (~ 63 meV for Si [199]), the carrier will emit an optical phonon into the lattice and drop its momentum to almost zero, putting an upper limit on the drift velocity that carriers can achieve. This drift velocity "cap" is the observed upper limit on achievable current. Optical phonons in Si contribute very little to heat transport due to their flat dispersion mode, giving them low velocities. Instead, they decay into the faster acoustic modes, which then transport the heat away from the hot regions. However, the electron-phonon scattering time is fast (~0.1 ps) when compared to optical-acoustic decay times (~1 ps), so if there is significant rate of generation of optical phonons in a material, this can lead to a large buildup of optical phonons inside the material, corresponding to a high device temperature [202]. This cycle is illustrated in Figure 4.6.



Figure 4.6 - Diagram of electron-phonon scattering in semicondcutors. Diagram shows the process for both optical and acoustic phonons, as wel as optical-acoustic decay. All processes have their characteristic time scales listed as well. Reproduced from [202].

# **4.3.3 Temperature Results**

Figure 4.7a shows the corresponding device temperature as a function of applied voltage, and Figure 4.7b shows the calculated temperature as a function of applied power obtained using Raman thermometry. The doped microheaters were grouped by the concentration of the lightly n-doped region between the contacts. Heating in these devices should be approximately linear to applied power (quadratically to applied voltage in Figure 4.7a) due to Joule heating. For each

group of devices in Figure 4.7 (2 groups of 2 doped devices), a linear trend (quadratic for Figure 4.7a) was fit to compare the relative heating efficiency of the devices.

Interestingly, the devices with a lower doping level  $(8 \times 10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3})$  reach higher temperatures than the devices with higher doping  $(3 \times 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3})$  for the same applied power above a certain threshold (see black dashed line in Figure 4.7b). This indicates that the devices with lower doping become more efficient heaters above this threshold, which happens to occur at the onset of velocity saturation (around ~7 V). One possible explanation for this effect is a higher phonon emission rate per carrier for the devices with lower doping levels.



Figure 4.7 – Raman thermometry results for single-doped devices. (a) Calculated device temperature vs. applied voltage. The n-doped devices are grouped by interior channel doping, and those are delineated by color. The specific device that the data points were taken from and designated by point shape, which are also grouped by color for ease of reference. For the  $n = 8 \times 10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> devices in (a), continuation of the expected quadratic fit is given by the dashed orange line, showing the deviation from this behavior above 7 V. (b) Raman thermometry results shown vs. normalized applied power for doped devices. For the  $n = 8 \times 10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> devices the deviation from expected Joule heating above 7 V is indicated by the dashed black line (a visual guide only), with the expected linear trend continuing using the dashed orange line.

As discussed previously, velocity saturation has been widely accepted as optical phonon emission [199], [200], [202], [203], where once an electron's kinetic energy exceeds the optical phonon energy, it preferentially emits an optical phonon, causing its velocity to drop. This puts an effective cap on the carrier velocities seen in semiconductors, leading to the observed current saturation observed at high fields. To confirm this in the measured devices the IV curves for different channel lengths and doping levels was measured, as shown in Figure 4.8.



Figure 4.8 - Schematics of the two types of devices tested. (a) Main devices from the text, (b) Larger devices. Each type of device was tested for both levels of interior doping, giving a total of 4 measurements. (c) The larger devices took larger amounts of current to reach saturation values, but when considered against (d) approximate electric field through the channel, all devices saturated around the same electric field magnitude (1 x  $10^4$  V/cm).

In Figure 4.8 devices that are the main subject of investigation in this work are denoted as "main device" and the other devices tested are denoted as "larger device." The larger devices have a channel length of 19  $\mu$ m (~4x the main devices) and a channel width of 40  $\mu$ m (3-4x the main devices). In addition, the larger devices have a constant channel width, not the tapered bow-tie shape of the main devices, as depicted in Figure 4.8a,b. Both types of devices were tested at both interior doping levels investigated in the main text. As shown in Figure 4.8c, the larger devices take larger applied voltages to reach velocity saturation. However, all devices reach saturation at the same channel electric field magnitude (~1 x 10<sup>4</sup> V/cm), which is consistent with literature [194], [199]. In these devices, this result implies that there is a nonlinear increase in phonon production above a certain applied voltage (i.e., E-field), resulting in increased heating rates.

Considering a system below the saturation region, additionally knowing that mobility decreases with increasing doping ( $\mu_n$  is ~2× lower at room temperature for the higher-doped devices [153]). Since the lower-doped devices have higher mobilities and below velocity saturation  $v_{drift} = -\mu_n E$  is a valid assumption, we can thus conclude that the average carrier kinetic energy in the lower-doped device is higher ( $E = \frac{m^* v_{drift}^2}{2}$ ). As the E-field continues to increase with increasing voltage, the kinetic energy of the carriers in both devices also increase, but the lower-doped devices are able to reach the optical phonon scattering regime at lower fields. As can be seen in Figure 4.7b, there is significant overlap in the device heating performance as a function of the applied power. However, once the lower-doped device reaches velocity saturation conditions (4 mW/µm at 7 V), the amount of heat generated greatly increases. As the E-field continues to increase to increase beyond this point, the electrons in the channel emit optical phonons at a higher rate, increasing the amount of heat generated, due to the time required for optical-acoustic phonon

decay. The trend from pre-saturation conditions is continued using the dotted orange line to highlight this abrupt increase in heat generation in Figure 4.7.

Unexpected behaviors of the doped heaters has been shown in the current saturation range of operation exhibited at higher voltages (Figure 4.7a). We hypothesize the increased emission rate of optical phonons in devices operating at current saturation lead to a second, more efficient heating regime in these devices. Lower-doped devices are able to reach this regime at lower powers, as the average energy of a carrier is higher at a given input power, therefore outperforming higher-doped devices when strictly speaking about input power vs. temperature raise (Figure 4.7b). However, for applications that are limited to on-chip voltages (<5 V) traditional thinking still holds true and higher-doped devices do reach higher temperatures at lower voltages (Figure 4.7a).

# **4.4 PIN Results**

#### **4.4.1 Device Operations**

The IV curves during Raman measurements for all devices are shown in Figure 4.9. As before, the measured current for each device is normalized by device width (*W*) to facilitate comparison between the different device geometries. As can be seen through the spread of points in Figure 4.9, there is a large spread among the different PIN devices (likely due to the high requirements for consistent fabrication of these devices). To further investigate the spread in performance, other PIN devices located on the same chip were characterized to determine if the spread originated in geometric effects or was based elsewhere.



Figure 4.9 – IV performance of the PIN devices. The solid lines are average IV performance, one for each length of the PIN devices, and one for each doping of the doped devices. Device *L* are indicated by point color, and device *W* are indicated by point shape (e.g., the device with  $L = 1.2 \mu m$  and  $W = 10 \mu m$  has data points that are orange triangles).

# 4.4.2 PIN Device Reliability

To investigate the origin of the wide variation observed in the IV performance of the devices, the actual geometries of the devices were inspected via scanning electron microscopy (SEM), an example of which is shown in Figure 4.10. While this imaging modality is unable to verify if any dopants diffused into the intrinsic region, it does verify that the implanted regions were properly placed. In addition, any movement of dopants in these devices should be minimal or at least similar in each device as they are all subject to the same processing history. The results of these inspections are summarized in Table 9, and line up extremely well with their expected values. As such, the source of the spread in device performance must be rooted elsewhere.



Figure 4.10 – SEM image of an inspected device to verify correct geometery.

Device	Target L	Actual L	Target W	Actual W
1	0.9	0.814	20	20.2
2	0.9	0.811	15	15.4
3	0.9	0.782	10	10.2
4	0.9	0.834	05	05.1
5	1.2	1.107	20	20.4
6	1.2	1.017	15	15.1
7	1.2	1.014	10	10.2
8	1.2	1.076	05	0.51
9	1.5	1.360	20	20.3
10	1.5	1.358	15	15.3
11	1.5	1.406	10	10.3
12	1.5	1.409	05	05.2

Table 9 – Comparison of desired device geometries compared to the measured features.

Other PIN devices on the same chip were electrically characterized to further investigate the performance variations. These devices were designated by 6 groups. Each device in these groups have the same level of  $n^{++}$  and  $p^{++}$  doping as the PIN devices of focus ( $10^{20}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>), and in each group each device nominally has the same geometry. For each device measured, 5 IV sweeps were performed to measure the consistency of the device performance. Group 1 (Figure 4.11a) is a large array of PIN devices, of a similar structure to the single-doped heaters investigated, but with larger doped areas and a smaller intrinsic region. Group 2 (Figure 4.11b) are large arcs, with a small intrinsic region. Group 3 (Figure 4.11c) are extremely large, straight PIN diodes, with a small intrinsic region. In group 3, devices 1-4 are all 800 µm wide, with an intrinsic region length of 1.6 µm. Devices 5-8 are 960 µm wide, with a smaller intrinsic region length of 1 µm. Groups 4 (Figure 4.11d), 5 (Figure 4.11e) and 6 (Figure 4.11f) are all of a similar structure to Group 1, but were fabricated in two orientations to test if the directionality of the devices had an effect on the fabrication process. Group 4 is parallel to group 1, while groups 5 and 6 are perpendicular. Of the two vertical device groups, group 6 has a larger intrinsic region.

Compared to the steady state IV curves shown in Figure 4.9, these devices were swept rather quickly, with a dwell time of 55 ms at each voltage. This should help ensure minimal movement of dopants through the device. As can be seen by the IV figures in Figure 4.11, not only is there a large variation in device-to-device measurements, each device also has a significant cycle-to-cycle variation. From these results it can be concluded that PIN diodes are extremely sensitive to small variations and imperfections in the fabrication process. As such, in order to promote reliable PIN diode performance, efforts must be invested into optimizing device design and fabrication processes must be invested into the fabrication processes.



Figure 4.11 – IV sweeps of various devices to investigate device consistency. All devices were on the same chip and subject to the same fabrication processes and history.

# 4.4.3 Temperature Results

Even with the variation in the device performance, operating temperature for each device was measurable at a given voltage and power load. Figure 4.12a shows the corresponding device temperature as a function of applied voltage, and Figure 4.12b shows the calculated temperature as a function of applied power obtained using Raman thermometry. The temperatures for the PIN microheaters were grouped by device channel length (L). Heating in these devices should be approximately linear to applied power (quadratically to applied voltage in Figure 4.12a) due to Joule heating, although the PIN devices were expected to be slightly non-linear due to additional heating from carrier recombination at the P/I and I/N interfaces [98].



Figure 4.12 - Results of the Raman thermometry measurements for PIN devices. (a) Calculated device temperature vs. applied voltage. Device *L* are indicated by point color, and device *W* are indicated by point shape (e.g., the device with  $L = 1.2 \mu m$  and  $W = 10 \mu m$  has data points that are orange triangles). (b) Results of the Raman thermometry measurements shown vs. normalized applied power. PIN devices are grouped by device *L*, and linear trend lines are fit for the data for each (both the 1.2- and 1.5- $\mu$ m-long devices had similar trendlines, resulting in overlapping lines).

As with previous presentations in this work, each group of devices in Figure 4.12a (3 groups of 4 PIN devices), was fit with a linear trend (quadratic for Figure 4.12b) to compare the relative heating efficiency of the devices. While it was expected that channel length would be the dominant parameter to influence current and heating in the PIN devices, significant variability in both the IV and thermal heating efficiency (see Figure 4.9, Figure 4.12) was observed. This concurs with the previous observation and characterization of PIN devices' greater sensitivity to fabrication processes in addition to specific device geometry effects.

While the initial goal of this work was to compare different intrinsic region lengths of PIN diodes, it became abundantly clear that a more important parameter was device width, W. With this in mind, temperature vs. power results were then normalized by device width, as the smaller (low W) devices all consistently outperform the larger (high W) devices due to the smaller volume being heated. In addition, it would appear that the smaller L devices heat much less efficiently than the wider devices, as evidenced by the lower slope of the trend line in Figure 4.12. This underperformance is due to the lower volume of material being heated, as well as the closer proximity of the contacts which act as heat sinks. In this steady state measurement, both of those factors result in lower total temperatures, although their performance in pulsed applications are projected to be better in terms of heating speed than wider devices [98].

As can be seen through the spread of points in Figure 4.9 and Figure 4.12, there is still a large spread among the different PIN devices. In comparison, the single-doped microheater devices heat more consistently, as well as more efficiently than the PIN devices (admittedly in part due to their tapered channel), depending on the interior region doping level, as demonstrated previously. Although this would seem to indicate doped microheater devices might be more useful in the field, it is worth emphasizing that PIN heaters still offer a high potential for heating

efficiency, as evidenced by their temperature vs. total applied power performance, as well as their performance for voltages traditionally available on chip (<5 V).

### **4.4.4 Device Damage During Operation**

After performing Raman thermometry, it was observed that holding the device at high temperatures and current densities for several minutes cause significant damage to the  $p^{++}$  terminal of the forward-biased PIN devices. This was consistently observed across the majority of the PIN devices tested. Figure 4.13 depicts an example. However, this damage was not observed in the doped devices. One possible explanation could be due to a larger separation of the metal contacts from the center region of highest temperature in the case of the doped devices. For the PIN devices, we attributed the cause of this damage to the relatively low melting temperature of the metal contacts (Al) which are exposed to high temperatures over several minutes. The damaged devices were imaged using scanning electron (SEM) and atomic force microscopy (AFM). AFM topographic scans revealed that damaged regions of the electrode indeed matched the ~200 nm thickness of the deposited Al layer (Figure 4.13c,d). SEM images of the device (shown in Figure 4.13b) also appear to show removal of the Al layer while the Ti/TiN adhesion and barrier layers remain undamaged after steady-state testing.

While steady-state operation can provide insights into device aging, these microheaters are intended to operate under pulsed conditions to reversibly switch optical PCMs. To investigate the potential effects that pulsed operation may cause on device performance and to observe which pulse conditions may cause similar electrode damage, endurance testing was carried out on new devices from both types of microheater as discussed in Section 4.5.



Figure 4.13 – Example of damage observed during Raman thermometry process. (a) Device after being powered. (b) Scanning electron microscope image showing the contact disappearance. In addition, brighter spots in the midst of the channel indicate that the 10 nm SiO<sub>2</sub> passivation layer has burned off, allowing the underlying thin-film Si layer to shine brighter. The slightly darker area denotes carbon burn off from a previous, higher magnification scan. (c) Atomic force microscope image of the device (red line depicts the path of a line scan). (d) AFM line scan results showing the resulting step size is ~200 nm, implying the contact edge has completely delaminated and disappeared.

## 4.5 PIN and Single-Doped Comparison

## 4.5.1 Device Reliability

To investigate the potential effects that pulsed operation may cause on device performance and to observe which pulse conditions may cause similar electrode damage, endurance testing was carried out on new devices from both types of microheater, as shown in Figure 4.14. For both the PIN and doped microheaters, a width of  $W = 10 \,\mu\text{m}$  was chosen ( $L = 0.9 \,\mu\text{m}$  for the PIN device, n  $= 3 \times 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$  for the doped device). During testing, up to 10 million pulses were applied to a test device, with varying pulse widths of 1 µs, 10 µs and 1 ms. To achieve a consistent power dissipation of 7.4 mW/µm in both devices, a pulse amplitude of 4 V and 8 V was used for the PIN and doped microheaters, respectively. The applied pulses had a 50% duty cycle for each test. At each decade, a short 400 ns long read pulse was applied to characterize the electrical performance of the stressed device. In addition, at the end of the 10 million pulses for each pulse width an IV sweep was performed, and the device was inspected using optical microscopy. Visible damage was not observed on the PIN device until after endurance testing using the 1 ms pulse width. No damage was observed in the doped device after endurance testing which agreed with observations from the Raman thermometry experiments. Although the damage did in fact occur in the PIN device as shown in Figure 4.14e, the electrical performance of the device as measured by IV was not significantly affected after cycling beyond a moderate increase in forward bias current.



Figure 4.14 – Results of endurance testing of the devices. IV sweeps of the (a) PIN and (b) n-doped device taken after each set of pulse widths. (c),(d) Device conductivity was measured after every decade of cycling. SEM images of the (e) PIN and (f) doped devices post testing showing the onset of damage in the PIN microheater (highlighted area), and lack of dmaage in the doped device.

## 4.5.2 Overall Comparison

When comparing PIN microheaters with doped resistive microheaters, it is important to note some relative advantages and disadvantages of both designs. First, while not explored here, it is expected that the maximum intrinsic channel length must be limited to sub-10  $\mu$ m to operate at reasonable applied voltages. This makes doped microheaters more appropriate for scaling to larger area devices (such as reconfigurable metalens pixel arrays). Secondly, to prevent electromigration, RF pulses can be used to heat doped microheaters which is an impossibility for microheaters based on PIN diodes. Finally, it seems that fabricating consistent embedded PIN devices is more challenging than doped devices, both in regard to mitigating the large degree of randomness observed in the IV performance of the devices and further optimizing device endurance. However, the potential for operating at low applied voltages (<5 V) with low optical insertion loss warrants further investigation, improvement and optimization. PIN and doped microheaters can offer comparable optical attenuation properties, (~0.4-0.02 dB/µm for devices of intrinsic region lengths 0.9-1.5 µm, shown in Figure 3.7d, [98] compared to 0.03 dB/µm for doping levels like those found in [183]). Regardless, the PIN devices tested here compared favorably with single-doped devices for the dimensions tested. With more improvements in both device structure, and fabrication methods, PIN heaters should have a bright future.

## 4.6 Conclusion

This work has studied the heating response of two different types of embedded doped Si heaters, PIN and single-doped devices. Specifically, the geometric effect of the intrinsic region length, and device width for PIN diodes was investigated. The PIN diodes were found to have a larger spread in device operation then expected, and as such are less consistent then the single-doped microheaters, as fabricated. Both these devices were held at high DC power, and their steady state temperatures measured through Raman thermometry methods, and it was found that both types of devices can reach significantly high temperatures under similar power density loads. Unexpected heating performances at higher power loads was also demonstrated, showing lower doping can result in more efficient heating in single-doped devices. During measurements damage was observed on the positive contacts of each PIN device, but notably not at all on the single-doped devices. The impact of this damage on electrical performance was investigated through endurance testing. The endurance testing revealed that while damage does begin to occur at high enough ON time (10 million 1-ms-long pulses) the damage did not affect device operation. From this investigation, it was concluded that both devices have high potentials for large scale embedded heaters for photonic devices, but PIN devices of this nature might require a higher investment in device design and fabrication processes, while single-doped microheater devices are, at present, simpler and more reliable in fabrication.

# **5.0 PN Heaters**

Although PIN and single-doped devices have been investigated previously for their heating potential, PN diode performance in the same application is intriguing. Although PN junctions can suffer from larger optical attenuation than the other structures, this device style is feasible with careful control of the depletion region and has been implemented in several different devices [49], [185], [204]–[212]. Thermally, PIN diodes have local hotspots at the P/I and I/N junctions as discussed previously. However, these hotspots are typically far away from the phase change material (PCM) and a significant portion of generated heat is immediately conducted away by the metallic contacts. Single-doped devices are more uniform in heating, but the lightly doped region length is longer than the PCM patch, causing loss of heat and increased challenges in controlling temperature. Comparatively, PN diodes, will likely heat significantly via Joule heating throughout their body, but will also have significant local heating due to recombination at the P/N junction. This junction can be centered close to the PCM, which may enable improved thermal control of the PCM.

## **5.1.1 PN Junctions in Optical Devices**

As discussed in Section 1.1, optical modulators based on silicon structures mostly function through the plasma dispersion effect, although thermo-optic effects have also been used [213]. Although the plasma dispersion effect was first implemented through PN structures, most subsequent work utilized PIN structures since they are a majority carrier driven device (compared to the minority carrier driven PN devices), and accordingly have higher levels of moving charges. By forward biasing the PIN diode, free electrons from the *n*-region and free holes from the *p*region are injected into the center intrinsic region, strongly modulating the optical properties [204]. While this is extremely efficient and able to strongly modulate the refractive index at low voltages (~1 V), it is limited in speed due to the recombination times of carriers (~ ns) [204], [207], [211]. For faster operating speeds, PN diodes can be reverse biased to modulate the size of their depletion region, thus changing the amount of free carriers in the optical path [185], [204]–[211]. This process is significantly faster as it is limited only by the capacitance of the junction, and carrier velocity saturation through the device [204]. In addition, while the modulation effect is volatile in nature, it is relatively power efficient when not switching. Power is only consumed by small leakage currents. However, significantly less carriers are transported in a PN diode than a PIN counterpart, and so the optical modulation effect can be much weaker.

# 5.1.2 Design of PN Photonic Structures

Multiple different PN junctions have been designed and implemented for photonic devices, as shown in Figure 5.1. It is convenient to classify them based on the orientation of the junction, vertical (Figure 5.1a) or horizontal (Figure 5.1b). While vertical junction devices are more complex in terms of fabrication, promising devices have been demonstrated, with operation speeds of up to 40 Gbit/s [185], [206], [211]. One such device had doping concentrations similar to those showed in Figure 5.1a, but additionally had a complex graded doping profile in the *n*-region, with  $1.5 \times 10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> at the junction to match the *p*-region, and increasing to  $3 \times 10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> at the very top of the waveguide [185]. Extremely good modulation performance was demonstrated in these

devices, with optical losses of 0.0018 dB/ $\mu$ m but with a low extinction ratio of only 1 dB [185]. Due to the complexity required in fabrication of these devices, horizontal junction devices will be the focus of this work.



Figure 5.1 – Examples of different PN junction devices for photonic devices. (a) Basic example of a vertical junction device. (b) Basic example of a symmetric horizontal device. (c) A basic horizontal device with a thin intrinsic region inserted to reduce junction capacitance. (d) A basic horizontal device with an offset junction, to make the waveguide area majority p-type.

Within the design space of horizontal PN diode rib guides, there are numerous geometric design aspects that can be taken into account for optimizing device performance, including rib height and width, sidewall angles of the rib, how the distance from the optical path to the heavily doped areas, and so on. Additional complexities such as thin intrinsic regions in between the *p*-and *n*-regions (Figure 5.1c) to reduce junction capacitance can be considered as well. From there, the doping concentrations of both the heavily doped and lightly doped junction regions should be examined. The heavily doped regions need to be both sufficiently doped to ensure good ohmic contacts to the leads, but they also need to ensure low resistance access to the junction to ensure efficient biasing of the junction. The doping level of the lower-doped interior region then needs to

be optimized, as it strongly affects the optical performance of the device. The impact on heating performance of these different regions will be discussed in Section 5.1.5.

When designing horizontal PN junctions for photonic applications, it is important to understand the different interactions between p- and n-type Si, as originally outlined by Soref and Bennet [6], [185]. It is clear from their calculations that p-type Si is able to achieve a larger refractive index change with lower optical absorption levels. Due to this, asymmetrical junctions that have the majority of the waveguide be p-type have been demonstrated to provide larger optical modulation ranges, as shown in Figure 5.1d. On the other hand, some work has been done using majority n-type waveguides. This concept leverages the faster electrical depletion of n-type Si; these devices should theoretically lead to faster electrical performance [208]. While the positioning of the junction is an important facet in designing PN devices for optical performance, it's impact on heating is expected to be minimal, and will be explicitly investigated in Section 5.1.6.

# 5.1.3 Integration of PCM into PN Structures

As mentioned, the modulation range of PN devices can be fairly limited due to the amount of carriers being moved. Integrating PCM patches onto PN devices may enable the modulation range to be extended. Careful control of the phase of the PCM can help set the optical operating point, and small variations in the reverse biasing level can then tune the modulation as desired. If larger variations are then needed, the phase of the PCM can be switched again by quickly forward biasing the PN device, and then immediately returning to reverse bias to enable further modulation.

## **5.1.4 Simulation of PN Heaters**

To successfully integrate PCMs into PN structures, the heating performance and efficiency of PN diodes needs to be investigated. Using COMSOL Multiphysics, a temperature dependent semiconductor model similar to that stated in Section 3.2 was established. The starting model was based on devices that were fabricated. A cross section is depicted in Figure 5.2a. The device features three regions of doping for each polarity. The *p*- and *n*-regions that form the diode junction are doped ~ $10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> each, the p<sup>+</sup>- and n<sup>+</sup>-regions are doped ~ $10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> each, and the heavily doped  $p^{++}$ - and  $n^{++}$ -regions are doped ~10<sup>20</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup> each to ensure good ohmic contacts to the devices. The inclusion of the mid-level  $p^+/n^+$  doping lowers the inline resistance of the device while maintaining low levels of optical attenuation. The junction for these devices was positioned in the middle of the rib. The benefits of offsetting the junction was assumed to be minimal (an assumption to be confirmed by subsequent simulation). For the PCM, an optical stack consisting of a thin layer of 31 nm of SiO<sub>2</sub>, 17 nm of GST-225, and finally 10 nm of SiO<sub>2</sub> was considered, similar to the structure found in [214]. The bottom layer of SiO<sub>2</sub> electrically isolates the PCM, and the top layer provided passivation. To simulate real fabrication conditions, additional side wall optical stacks are added on either side of the waveguide rib, as pictured in Figure 5.2a.

The established temperature dependent semiconductor model was swept from 0-4 V applied to the positive terminal, reflecting the forward-bias conditions of operation most important to this work. The real device being investigated is a ring resonator, with contact lengths about 3x larger than the device length. In addition, the heavily doped  $p^{++}$  and  $n^{++}$  regions are not uniformly doped, with most of the dopants being concentrated near the surface to ensure ohmic contacts. To encapsulate the changing geometries and non-uniform doping effects, an empirical fitting value

was fit to the mobility models established in Section 3.2. As can be seen in Figure 5.2b, the performance of the model matches the experimentally measured values well for an empirical fitting value of 3.

With this established model, two design parameters were investigated to determine their impact on the heating performance of this structure. Since the doping level of the interior p and n regions strongly affects the optical performance of the device, they are left unchanged and the inclusion of the  $p^+$  and  $n^+$  regions is initially investigated. Additionally, the impact of offsets in the junction were investigated to assess if they offer additional heating benefits. The impact of the positioning of the heavily doped regions is easily calculated through Equation 3-31, and is subsequently discussed relative to other devices.



Figure 5.2 – Simulated device structure as well as initial comparison to experimental data. (a) Schematic of fabricated PN modulator device for PCM switching. The three PCM patches in the diagram are optical stacks with actual geometries as shown in the inset. (b) IV performance of the fabricated device (solid line) and simulated model (dashed).
# 5.1.5 Inclusion of the *p*<sup>+</sup> and *n*<sup>+</sup> Regions

As discussed, the inclusion of the interim  $p^+$  and  $n^+$  regions was an attempt to lower the inline resistance of the device while maintaining acceptable levels of optical attenuation. To investigate their impact on heating performance, simulations using the established model were performed using 100 ns driving pulses, and the  $p^+$  and  $n^+$  regions had their doping levels swept from ~10<sup>17</sup> to 10<sup>20</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>, and the results of which are shown in Figure 5.3. As can be seen, there is significant improvement in temperature of the GST (Figure 5.3c,e) with increasing doping, specifically as the device moves from  $10^{19}$  to  $10^{20}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. This is because there is significant recombination heating occurring at the  $p^{++}/p^+$  and  $n^{++}/n^+$  interfaces. With equivalent, all of the recombination occurs closer to the waveguide, and accordingly the heating performance increases. Of note, in these simulations the max temperature of the Si was kept well within a feasible range, as shown in Figure 5.3d. Notably, the max temperature of the Si all converged at higher applied powers (Figure 5.3f), which is expected as the device moves closer to the intrinsic region of thermal operation.



Figure 5.3 – Initial simulation results of sweeping the interim  $p^+$  and  $n^+$  regions. (a) Schematic of the device simulated, showing the doping range used in simulation. (b) The device IV performance over the voltage range 7–10 V required in order to properly heat the GST. Doping is revealed to have a minor impact under levels of  $10^{20}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. The peak temperatures of the (c) GST and (d) Si, showing that the GST was able to reach its melting temprature while keeping the Si well within an acceptable heating threshold. Peak temperatures are provided for the (e) GST and (f) Si vs. applied power, showing the clear improvement associated with doping levels of  $10^{20}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. Notably, in (f), the temperatures overlap at higher power levels, likely reflecting the intrinsic regime of operation for temperature effects.

To further expand upon the improvement offered by the heavier doping, the heat generated through the body of the device was measured. Due to the changing cross section of the device, the heat generated was normalized based on the height of the sample, as described in Section 3.2.5. For each doping level, the minimum voltage required to heat the GST above its melting temperature was selected. At that voltage the relative contributions from Joule and recombination heating, shown in Figure 5.4a-d. To better understand what is happening at each doping level, just the contributions from Joule heating (Figure 5.4e) and recombination heating (Figure 5.4f) are plotted. As described, at lower doping levels there is significant recombination heating at the  $p^{++}/p^+$  and  $n^{++}/n^+$  interfaces, but at  $10^{20}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> doping levels, the recombination moves significantly closer to the GST. Finally, for each of the doping levels investigated, the quench time and quench rate for each was calculated at the minimum voltage required to achieve GST melting. As shown in Figure 5.5 there is a significant decrease (increase) of quench time (rate) for higher doping levels.



Figure 5.4 – Normalized heat generated through a PN device with changing  $p^+$  and  $n^+$  doping. (a)-(d) Heat profiles of the simulated devices for  $p^+/n^+$  doping levels  $10^{17}-10^{20}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> showing the total normalized heat generated ( $Q_{tot}$ ), as well as the contirbutions from Joule heating ( $Q_J$ ) and recombination heating ( $Q_R$ ). Comparison of the different heating levels of the devices for (e)  $Q_J$  and (f)  $Q_R$  showing the evolution of heating performance of the devices with changing doping levels.



Figure 5.5 – Quench time and rate as a function of  $p^+$  and  $n^+$  doping levels. (a) Schematic of calculation of the quench time  $(t_q)$ , as well as the quench rate  $(R_{quench})$ . Calculated (b)  $t_q$  and (c)  $R_{quench}$  for different doping levels, showing a clear improvement in performance for higher doping levels.

## 5.1.6 Junction Position Through the Waveguide

As discussed previously, the position of the junction through the rib waveguide can be placed to optimize optical performance. It is either offset towards the *n*-region (making the rib mostly *p*-Si) to increase modulation responses, or offset towards the *p*-region (making the rib mostly n-Si) to increase operating speeds [185], [208]. This effect was expected to have minimal effect on the heating performance.

The established model (with doping levels as described in Section 5.1.4) was simulated using 100 ns pulses of 8 V. The junction position was swept from -0.125  $\mu$ m to 0.125  $\mu$ m (rib edges are located at ±0.25  $\mu$ m) and the three extrema (-0.125  $\mu$ m, 0  $\mu$ m and 0.125  $\mu$ m) are shown in Figure 5.6. As expected, the temperature of the GST had minimal changes (Figure 5.6b), due to slight changes in the overall heat generation of the device (Figure 5.6c). Those variations in overall heat generated from recombination was still dominated by the effects at the *p*<sup>++</sup>/*p*<sup>+</sup> and *n*<sup>++</sup>/*n*<sup>+</sup> interfaces (Figure 5.6e). This indicates that positioning of the junction in the rib waveguide can be freely placed to optimize optical performance and will have minimal impact on the PCM switching capabilities of the device.



Figure 5.6 – Effect of positioning of P/N junction on heating performance. (a) Schematic of the device simulated; the striped area shows the possible positions of the P/N junction. (b) Peak temperature of the GST as a function of the junction position, showing minimal changes. The heat profiles of the devices at the 3 extrema, left right and center showing (c) the total heating ( $Q_{tot}$ ), (d) Joule heating ( $Q_J$ ) and (e) recombination heating ( $Q_R$ ).

### 5.1.7 Overall Comparison of Devices Studied

To facilitate a final comparison of all the devices studied, three simulations were performed. Each device structure used the same geometry: 90 nm thick slabs, 130-nm-tall ribs, and 500-nm-wide ribs. The contacts were placed 4.75  $\mu$ m away from the rib edges to ensure minimal impact on optical performance. Each device was simulated using 100-ns pulses of 5 V to simulate on-chip voltages, and to ensure the single-doped device was in the first regime of heating described in Section 4.3.3. Each simulation used a 2D temperature dependent semiconductor model similar to that outlined in Section 3.0, while the PN diode device specifically used the mobility scaling discussed in Section 5.1.4. To further simplify the PN model, the  $p^+$  and  $n^+$  regions were considered to be doped at  $10^{20}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, which also maximized heating performance.

The changing parameters of each device is depicted in their schematic in Figure 5.7b-d. The PN diode investigated the heavily doped regions' distances from the center region (1, 1.5, and 2  $\mu$ m), as well as doping levels (10<sup>18</sup>, 10<sup>19</sup>, and 10<sup>20</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>). The PIN diode investigated the length of the intrinsic region (0.9, 1.1, 1.2, and 1.5  $\mu$ m), as well as the doping levels of the heavily doped regions (10<sup>17</sup>, 10<sup>18</sup>, 10<sup>19</sup>, and 10<sup>20</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>). The single-doped device investigated the length of the lightly doped channel (1, 2, 3, 4, and 5  $\mu$ m) and the doping of the channel (10<sup>15</sup>, 10<sup>16</sup>, 10<sup>17</sup>, and 10<sup>18</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>). For each device simulation, the heating efficiency FOM (Equation 3-29) and optical losses (Equation 3-31) were calculated for comparison. An optimal device will have high heating efficiencies and low optical losses.



Figure 5.7 – Final comparison of the design space of all three devices for on-chip voltages. (a) Initial comparison of the PN diode (blue) PIN diode (orange) and single-doped (purple) devices based on their heating efficencies and optical losses. Optimal device configurations will have low optical losses and high heating effecncies, corresponding to the lower right region of the graph. Solid lines represent same doping levels with changing geometry, while dashed lines show same geometries with changing doping. Schematics showing the device configurations, and highlighting the changing variables for the (b) PN, (c) PIN, and (d) single-doped devices. (e)-(g) Heat-generation profiles of the most efficent heating configurations of the three devices, as well as (h)-(j) their contributions from recombination heating.

From initial inspection of Figure 5.7, it would appear that single-doped devices are the most efficient heater structures of the three. They offer the highest FOM with lowest optical losses. To further investigate the responsible mechanism, heat generated in each device's most efficient heating structure is calculated (Figure 5.7e-g). In addition, each device's contribution from recombination heating is calculated as well (Figure 5.7h-j). Even though there is extremely little contribution from recombination, the majority of the heat generated in the single-doped device is concentrated nearest the PCM. This is extremely interesting; as mentioned before, these simulations were performed with voltages available on chip (5 V) and as proposed in Section 4.3.3, these devices produce greater heat when operating at higher fields.

However, this result clarifies that all three devices are capable in-line heaters, offering similar optical losses in their most optimized forms. Future improvements to the structures of these devices could be investigated and implemented to further increase their heating FOMs. While PIN and PN devices seem to be limited in terms of heating efficiency, their ability to be biased to further modulate their optical properties give them a unique advantage relative to single-doped devices.

## 6.0 Future Work

This work explored different devices for indirect electric switching of phase change materials for photonic integrated circuits. Two metallic heater structures were initially proposed to give a basis of comparison for the integrated waveguide heaters. As expected, these structures exhibited favorable optical properties, but were limited in heating efficiency. Three waveguide integrated heater structures were subsequently proposed: PIN diodes; single-doped structures; and PN diodes. Each of these integrated devices had various tradeoffs depending on their fabrication specifics, and these were investigated and summarized in Figure 5.7 for on-chip applications (V = 5 V). Each of these devices are viable heaters for phase change photonic devices, and their use depends purely on the designer's budget for fabrication complexity, acceptable optical loss, and available driving voltage. Each of these devices is amenable to application-specific optimization as platform technologies. In this chapter, follow up work on each of these integrated waveguide devices.

# **6.1 PIN Diodes**

# 6.1.1 Optimization of PIN Fabrication Techniques

As discussed in Section 4.4.2, the reliability of the fabricated PIN devices was underwhelming. Devices with supposedly identical geometries exhibited large cycle-to-cycle and 105

device-to-device variabilities, as shown in Figure 4.11. While the underlying reason for this variability is still unknown, it is clearly specific to the PIN devices: the single-doped devices fabricated on the same chip did not exhibit the same levels of variability. For the geometric effects of PIN device design to be further investigated, the fabrication process used to make these devices needs to be examined to ensure more consistent device performance. In addition, future optimizations such as the implementation of a tapered channel (similar to those used in the single-doped devices) should be considered.

## 6.1.2 3D Simulations of PIN Diodes

In addition to the improvement on the fabrication techniques used, expanding the existing device model to a fully 3D model is the logical next step. Expanding out in the third dimension would make other optimizations such as changing intrinsic region shape and effects of bending radii easier to model and take advantage of, albeit at the expense of additional computational complexity. In addition, this model would be able to fully quantify the effects of out-of-plane heat flux, similar to the 3D approximation presented in Section 3.0. This established 3D model could then be used to further optimize the pulsed performance of these devices prior to fabrication, allowing for immediate improvements in device performance when fabrication process consistency has been addressed.

#### 6.2 Single-Doped Structures

#### 6.2.1 High-Field Modeling of Single-Doped Structures

Initial modelling of the single-doped structures under high-field conditions showed a distinct deviation in both saturation effects, as well as the measured temperature under these conditions. A 3D temperature dependent semiconductor model was developed using COMSOL Multiphysics, similar to that described in Section 3.2. The channel for this device was rectangular, as opposed to the tapered channel used in the real measured devices (Figure 4.1c). As shown in Figure 6.1a, the simulated current for the higher-doped device was consistently overestimated, while the current for the lower-doped device was initially overestimated but was over saturated at higher currents. As expected from this, the temperature calculated for the higher-doped device was significantly overestimated, while the temperature for the lower-doped device was significantly underestimated.

This discrepancy in experimental measurements and simulated values should be resolved in future efforts. While the underlying mechanism responsible for heating in these devices under high-field conditions is still debatable (Section 4.3.3), the measurements themselves are due to material specific shifting in the Raman spectra, and as such are reflective of true temperature in the devices. To further investigate this question, fast IV characteristics of these devices (on the order of ~10 ns driving pulses) should be conducted, which would eliminate temperature effects in the devices. These temperature-independent IV curves should yield more insight into the onset of velocity saturation under these high-field conditions, enabling design of device operation regimes. Further, this new information on additional heat generation due to velocity-saturation should be incorporated into computational models, resulting in more realistic predictive analysis.

Secondary experimental validation of device temperature combined with further theoretical investigation into this operation regime should be conducted. Once confirmed, the new operating regime should be implemented into the existing simulation frameworks, enabling further investigation into real device operation. Ideally, heaters for switching small patches of PCMs should leverage this secondary heating regime. Understanding how to design devices to utilize this regime with voltages available on chip (< 5 V) could yield a new generation of more efficient heaters.



Figure 6.1 – Initial modeling of single-doped structures compared with experimental characterization. Initial calculations show (a) overestimation of current and (b) underestimation of temperature of the established semicondcutor device model.

### **6.3 PN Diodes**

This study applied established models to a new photonics application. The simulated and experimental outcomes of this work revealed that the established model is limited and can be improved to better reflect real device operation. The scaling factor discussed in Section 5.1.4, while matching the measured data extremely well, is less than satisfactory overall. Further explorations in terms of symmetrical 2D models, full 3D models or a more complex mobility model should be added to further understand the devices.

In addition, while the overall comparison chart in Figure 5.7 does show a unique comparison of all devices, it can be made more in depth. A further mature single-doped model would help, but in addition all the simulations done for that figure were done at 5 V, which was not enough to melt the PCM. At higher applied voltages, the heating mechanisms may change and lead to different efficiencies, and it would be those that would be of further interest.

### 6.4 IR Scope for Fast Pulse Behavior of Integrated Waveguide Heaters

While Raman thermometry is an effective noninvasive measurement technique, it is inherently a long-timescale process. To measure device performance under actual ns-timescale operation speeds, a fundamentally different technique is required. As discussed previously, PCMs are effective in photonic switching applications due to the large change in their optical properties depending on the phase of the material. However, even prior to phase transformation, there are temperature-dependent factors influencing the reflective index of the PCM [215]. By initially characterizing the temperature-dependent reflectivity of these devices, that relationship can be used to calculate the operating temperature profile over time of a PCM patch on top of an optical waveguide.

This process has been established and verified using COMSOL Multiphysics for measurements on a single-doped device similar to the "large device" pictured in Figure 4.8 using a 4.8  $\mu$ s, 265 mW driving pulse [214]. As the operating range of the single-doped device was well below high-field conditions, a simple resistive heating model was adapted, using an electrical conductivity derived from the measured IV characteristics. The temperature calculated from the change in reflectivity of the PCM was in good agreement with the simulations, as shown in Figure 6.2b,d, showing that this technique can be valuable in nondestructively probing the fast heating performance of microheaters. Use of this technique will be invaluable to more detailed assessment of pulsed heating performances in the devices investigated here. While the Raman thermometry work presented in Section 4.0 is useful in proving that these devices can provide significant quantities of heat, their expected high-speed performances need to be verified.



Figure 6.2 - Experimental set up and initial characterization of optical probing of PCM operation temperatures. (a) Experimental schematic. (b) Experimentally measured and simulated results of driving current and peak temperature of the GST using a 4.8 µs 265 mW driving pulse. (c) Measured change in reflection at peak operating temperature. (d) Comparison of experimental vs. simulated peak tempearture. Reprinted from [214].

# 7.0 Conclusion

Silicon photonic devices offer great potential for energy-efficient, high-speed, high-optical bandwidth switching. Photonic devices based on phase change materials offer a novel means to implement nonvolatility and an expanded range of effective operating points. While outstanding engineering issues must be addressed in design of the phase change materials themselves, this work offers a starting point in the characterization and optimization of the heater structures, and provides a framework for quickly designing heater-based photonic devices for novel candidate phase change materials. The three most basic types of integrated heaters that are readily available to be implemented using standard Si fabrication techniques were investigated. The effects of device geometry and doping level on both thermal and optical performance were further investigated for each device type. This work provides a first resource for future device design, including a set of forward calculations and experimental characterization that are useful in validation of new techniques and devices.

# **Bibliography**

- E. Goi, Q. Zhang, X. Chen, H. Luan, and M. Gu, "Perspective on photonic memristive neuromorphic computing," *PhotoniX*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 1–26, 2020, doi: 10.1186/s43074-020-0001-6.
- J. Feldmann, N. Youngblood, X. Li, C. D. Wright, H. Bhaskaran, and W. H. P. Pernice, "Integrated 256 Cell Photonic Phase-Change Memory With 512-Bit Capacity," *IEEE J. Sel. Top. Quantum Electron.*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 1–7, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1109/JSTQE.2019.2956871.
- C. Ríos, M. Stegmaier, P. Hosseini, D. Wang, T. Scherer, C. D. Wright, H. Bhaskaran, and
   W. H. P. Pernice, "Integrated all-photonic non-volatile multi-level memory," *Nat. Photonics*, vol. 9, no. November, 2015, doi: 10.1038/nphoton.2015.182.
- [4] J. Feldmann, M. Stegmaier, N. Gruhler, C. Riós, H. Bhaskaran, C. D. Wright, and W. H. P.
   Pernice, "Calculating with light using a chip-scale all-optical abacus," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1–8, 2017, doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-01506-3.
- [5] S. Samanta, P. Banerji, and P. Ganguly, *Photonic Waveguide Components on Silicon Substrate: Modeling and Experiments*. 2020.
- [6] R. A. Soref and B. R. Bennett, "Electro-optical effects in silicon," *IEEE J. Quantum Electron.*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 123–129, 1987, doi: 10.1080/00150198708201311.
- [7] C. Husko, P. Colman, S. Combrié, A. De Rossi, and C. W. Wong, "Effect of multiphoton absorption and free carriers in slow-light photonic crystal waveguides," *Opt. Lett.*, vol. 36, no. 12, p. 2239, 2011, doi: 10.1364/ol.36.002239.

- [8] U. Fischer, T. Zinke, B. Schuppert, and K. Petermann, "Singlemode optical switches based on SOI waveguides with large cross-section," *Electron. Lett.*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 406–408, 1994.
- J. Schmidtchen, A. Splett, B. Schuppert, K. Petermann, and G. Burbach, "Low Loss Single-Mode Optical Waveguides with Large Cross-Section in silicon-on-insulator," *Electron. Lett.*, vol. 27, no. 16, pp. 1486–1488, 1991, doi: 10.1109/68.275507.
- [10] R. A. Soref, J. Schmidtchen, and K. Petermann, "Large Single-Mode Rib Waveguides in GeSi-Si and Si-on-SiO2," *IEEE J. Quantum Electron.*, vol. 27, no. 8, pp. 1971–1974, 1991, doi: 10.1109/3.83406.
- [11] M. Bruel, "Process for the production of thin semiconductor material films.," 1994
- [12] A. G. Rickman, G. T. Reed, and F. Namavar, "Silicon-on-Insulator Optical Rib Waveguide Loss and Mode Characteristics," *J. Light. Technol.*, vol. 12, no. 10, pp. 1771–1776, 1994, doi: 10.1109/50.337489.
- [13] K. K. Lee, D. R. Lim, L. C. Kimerling, J. Shin, and F. Cerrina, "Fabrication of ultralow-loss Si/SiO\_2 waveguides by roughness reduction," *Opt. Lett.*, vol. 26, pp. 1888–1890, 2001.
- [14] A. Sakai, G. Hara, and T. Baba, "Propagation characteristics of ultrahigh-∆ optical waveguide on silicon-on-insulator substrate," *Japanese J. Appl. Physics, Part 2 Lett.*, vol. 40, no. 4 B, pp. 30–33, 2001, doi: 10.1143/jjap.40.1383.
- [15] T. Fukazawa, F. Ohno, and T. Baba, "Very compact arrayed-waveguide-grating demultiplexer using Si photonic wire waveguides," *Japanese J. Appl. Physics, Part 2 Lett.*, vol. 43, no. 5 B, pp. 3–6, 2004, doi: 10.1143/jjap.43.1673.
- [16] T. Fukazawa, T. Hirano, F. Ohno, and T. Baba, "Low Loss Intersection of Si Photonic Wire

Waveguides," *Japanese J. Appl. Physics, Part 1 Regul. Pap. Short Notes Rev. Pap.*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 646–647, 2004, doi: 10.1143/JJAP.43.646.

- [17] A. Sakai, T. Fukazawa, and T. Baba, "Low loss ultra-small branches in a silicon photonic wire waveguide," *IEICE Trans. Electron.*, vol. E85-C, no. 4, pp. 1033–1038, 2002.
- [18] V. R. Almeida, R. R. Panepucci, and M. Lipson, "Nanotaper for compact mode conversion," *Opt. Lett.*, vol. 28, p. 13021304, 2003.
- [19] T. Shoji, T. Tsuchizama, T. Watanabe, K. Yamada, and H. Morita, "Low loss mode size converter from 0.3 um square Si wire waveguides to singlemode fibres," *Electron. Lett.*, vol. 38, no. 25, pp. 1669–1670, 2002.
- [20] D. X. Xu, J. H. Schmid, G. T. Reed, G. Z. Mashanovich, D. J. Thomson, M. Nedeljkovic, X. Chen, D. Van Thourhout, S. Keyvaninia, and S. K. Selvaraja, "Silicon photonic integration platform-Have we found the sweet spot?," *IEEE J. Sel. Top. Quantum Electron.*, vol. 20, no. 4, 2014, doi: 10.1109/JSTQE.2014.2299634.
- [21] S. Y. Siew, B. Li, F. Gao, H. Y. Zheng, W. Zhang, P. Guo, S. W. Xie, A. Song, B. Dong,
  L. W. Luo, C. Li, X. Luo, and G. Q. Lo, "Review of Silicon Photonics Technology and
  Platform Development," *J. Light. Technol.*, vol. 39, no. 13, pp. 4374–4389, 2021, doi: 10.1109/JLT.2021.3066203.
- [22] P. Minzioni, C. Lacava, T. Tanabe, and J. Dong, "Roadmap on all-optical processing," J. Opt., vol. 21, p. 063001, 2019.
- [23] M. Koziarski and B. Cyganek, "Image recognition with deep neural networks in presence of noise - Dealing with and taking advantage of distortions," *Integr. Comput. Aided. Eng.*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 337–349, 2017, doi: 10.3233/ICA-170551.
- [24] Z. Ansari, S. Ali, and S. A. Seyyedsalehi, "Toward growing modular deep neural networks

for continuous speech recognition," *Neural Comput. Appl.*, vol. 28, no. s1, pp. 1177–1196, 2017, doi: 10.1007/s00521-016-2438-x.

- [25] J. Zhang and C. Zong, "Networks in Machine Translation: An Overview," *IEEE Intell. Syst.*, vol. 30, pp. 16–25, 2015, doi: 10.1109/MIS.2015.69.
- [26] D. Silver *et al.*, "Mastering the game of Go with deep neural networks and tree search," *Nature*, vol. 529, no. 7585, pp. 484–489, 2016, doi: 10.1038/nature16961.
- [27] M. Opanowicz, "Applying supervised and reinforcement learning methods to create neuralnetwork-based agents for playing StarCraft II," 2021, [Online]. Available: http://arxiv.org/abs/2109.12691
- [28] I. Baek and S. B. Kim, "3-Dimensional convolutional neural networks for predicting StarCraft II results and extracting key game situations," *PLoS One*, vol. 17, no. 3, p. e0264550, 2022, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0264550.
- [29] Q. Wan, M. T. Sharbati, J. R. Erickson, Y. Du, and F. Xiong, "Emerging Artificial Synaptic Devices for Neuromorphic Computing," *Adv. Mater. Technol.*, vol. 1900037, no. 4, pp. 1–34, 2019, doi: 10.1002/admt.201900037.
- [30] A. L. Caterini and D. E. Chang, *Deep Neural Networks in a Mathematical Framework*.2018. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-75304-1.
- [31] S. Yu, Neuro-inspired Computing Using Resistive Synaptic Devices. 2017. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-54313-0.
- [32] K. Berggren, Q. Xia, K. K. Likharev, D. B. Strukov, H. Jiang, T. Mikolajick, D. Querlioz,
   M. Salinga, J. R. Erickson, S. Pi, F. Xiong, P. Lin, C. Li, and Y. Chen, "Roadmap on emerging hardware and technology for machine learning," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 32, 2021.
- [33] Q. Yu, S. Member, R. Yan, H. Tang, K. C. Tan, and H. Li, "A Spiking Neural Network

System for Robust Sequence Detection," *IEEE Trans. Neural Networks Learn. Syst.*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 621–635, 2016, doi: 10.1109/TNNLS.2015.2416771.

- [34] U. Braga-Neto, Fundamentals of Pattern Recognition and Machine Learning. Springer, 2020. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-27656-0.
- [35] M. Giulioni, X. Lagorce, F. Galluppi, and R. B. Benosman, "Event-based computation of motion flow on a neuromorphic analog neural platform," *Front. Neurosci.*, vol. 10, no. FEB, pp. 1–13, 2016, doi: 10.3389/fnins.2016.00035.
- [36] Y. S. Abu-Mostafa and D. Psaltis, "Optical Neural Computers," *Sci. Am.*, vol. 256, no. 3, pp. 88–95, 1987.
- [37] M. T. Hill, E. E. E. Frietman, H. De Waardt, G. D. Khoe, and H. J. S. Dorren, "All fiberoptic neural network using coupled SOA based ring lasers," *IEEE Trans. Neural Networks*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 1504–1513, 2002, doi: 10.1109/TNN.2002.804222.
- [38] K. Vandoorne, P. Mechet, T. Van Vaerenbergh, M. Fiers, G. Morthier, D. Verstraeten, B. Schrauwen, J. Dambre, and P. Bienstman, "Experimental demonstration of reservoir computing on a silicon photonics chip," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 5, pp. 1–6, 2014, doi: 10.1038/ncomms4541.
- [39] T. Ferreira De Lima, B. J. Shastri, A. N. Tait, M. A. Nahmias, and P. R. Prucnal, "Progress in neuromorphic photonics," *Nanophotonics*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 577–599, 2017, doi: 10.1515/nanoph-2016-0139.
- [40] D. Brunner, M. C. Soriano, C. R. Mirasso, and I. Fischer, "Parallel photonic information processing at gigabyte per second data rates using transient states," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 4, 2013, doi: 10.1038/ncomms2368.
- [41] Q. Vinckier, F. Duport, A. Smerieri, K. Vandoorne, P. Bienstman, M. Haelterman, and S.

Massar, "High-performance photonic reservoir computer based on a coherently driven passive cavity," *Optica*, vol. 2, no. 5, p. 438, 2015, doi: 10.1364/optica.2.000438.

- Y. Shen, N. C. Harris, S. Skirlo, M. Prabhu, T. Baehr-Jones, M. Hochberg, X. Sun, S. Zhao,
  H. Larochelle, D. Englund, and M. Soljacic, "Deep learning with coherent nanophotonic circuits," *Nat. Photonics*, vol. 11, no. 7, pp. 441–446, 2017, doi: 10.1038/nphoton.2017.93.
- [43] T. Van Vaerenbergh, M. Fiers, P. Bienstman, and J. Dambre, "Towards integrated optical spiking neural networks: Delaying spikes on chip," 2013 6th "Rio La Plata" Work. Laser Dyn. Nonlinear Photonics, 2013, doi: 10.1109/ldnp.2013.6777418.
- [44] A. N. Tait, M. A. Nahmias, B. J. Shastri, and P. R. Prucnal, "Broadcast and weight: An integrated network for scalable photonic spike processing," *J. Light. Technol.*, vol. 32, no. 21, pp. 4029–4041, 2014, doi: 10.1109/JLT.2014.2345652.
- [45] B. J. Shastri, A. N. Tait, M. A. Nahmias, and P. R. Prucnal, "Photonic spike processing: ultrafast laser neurons and an integrated photonic network," pp. 1–11, 2014, [Online]. Available: http://arxiv.org/abs/1407.2917
- [46] M. A. Nahmias, B. J. Shastri, A. N. Tait, and P. R. Prucnal, "A leaky integrate-and-fire laser neuron for ultrafast cognitive computing," *IEEE J. Sel. Top. Quantum Electron.*, vol. 19, no. 5, 2013, doi: 10.1109/JSTQE.2013.2257700.
- [47] J. Feldmann, N. Youngblood, C. D. Wright, H. Bhaskaran, and W. H. P. Pernice, "All-optical spiking neurosynaptic networks with self-learning capabilities," *Nature*, vol. 569, no. 7755, pp. 208–214, May 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1157-8.
- [48] A. V. Pankov, I. D. Vatnik, and A. A. Sukhorukov, "Optical Neural Network Based on Synthetic Nonlinear Photonic Lattices," *Phys. Rev. Appl.*, vol. 17, no. 2, p. 1, 2022, doi: 10.1103/PhysRevApplied.17.024011.

- [49] X. Wang, H. Qi, X. Hu, Z. Yu, S. Ding, Z. Du, and Q. Gong, "Advances in photonic devices based on optical phase-change materials," *Molecules*, vol. 26, no. 9, 2021, doi: 10.3390/molecules26092813.
- [50] M. Wuttig and N. Yamada, "Phase-change materials for rewriteable data storage," *Nat. Mater.*, vol. 6, no. 11, pp. 824–832, 2007, doi: 10.1038/nmat2009.
- [51] K. J. Miller, R. F. Haglund, and S. M. Weiss, "Optical phase change materials in integrated silicon photonic devices: review," *Opt. Mater. Express*, vol. 8, no. 8, p. 2415, 2018, doi: 10.1364/ome.8.002415.
- [52] J. Wang, L. Wang, and J. Liu, "Overview of Phase-Change Materials Based Photonic Devices," *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, pp. 121211–121245, 2020, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3006899.
- [53] M. S. Nisar, X. Yang, L. Lu, J. Chen, and L. Zhou, "On-chip integrated photonic devices based on phase change materials," *Photonics*, vol. 8, no. 6, 2021, doi: 10.3390/photonics8060205.
- [54] C. H. Chu, M. L. Tseng, J. Chen, P. C. Wu, Y. H. Chen, H. C. Wang, T. Y. Chen, W. T. Hsieh, H. J. Wu, G. Sun, and D. P. Tsai, "Active dielectric metasurface based on phase-change medium," *Laser Photonics Rev.*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 986–994, 2016, doi: 10.1002/lpor.201600106.
- [55] K. Shportko, S. Kremers, M. Woda, D. Lencer, J. Robertson, and M. Wuttig, "Resonant bonding in crystalline phase-change materials," *Nat. Mater.*, vol. 7, no. 8, pp. 653–658, 2008, doi: 10.1038/nmat2226.
- [56] W. Sun, Y. Lu, L. Miao, and Y. Zhang, "All-Optical Phase-Change Memory with Improved Performance by Plasmonic Effect," *Photonics*, vol. 9, no. 3, 2022.

- [57] M. Wuttig, H. Bhaskaran, and T. Taubner, "Phase-change materials for non-volatile photonic applications," *Nat. Photonics*, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 465–476, 2017, doi: 10.1038/nphoton.2017.126.
- [58] H. Nishihara, M. Haruna, and T. Suhara, *Electro-Optics Handbook*, 2nd ed., vol. 1. New York: McGraw-Hill, 2000.
- [59] A. K. Ghatak, K. Thyagarajan, and M. R. Shenoy, "Numerical Analysis of Planar Optical Waveguides Using Matrix Approach," *J. Light. Technol.*, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 660–667, 1987, doi: 10.1109/JLT.1987.1075553.
- [60] P. D. Trinh, S. Yegnanarayana, and B. Jalali, "Integrated optical directional couplers in silicon-on-insulator," *Electron. Lett.*, vol. 31, no. 14, pp. 2097–2098, 1995, doi: 10.1049/el:19951453.
- [61] D. Pérez, I. Gasulla, L. Crudgington, D. J. Thomson, A. Z. Khokhar, K. Li, W. Cao, G. Z. Mashanovich, and J. Capmany, "Multipurpose silicon photonics signal processor core," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1–9, 2017, doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00714-1.
- [62] W. Liu, M. Li, R. S. Guzzon, E. J. Norberg, J. S. Parker, M. Lu, L. A. Coldren, and J. Yao,
  "A fully reconfigurable photonic integrated signal processor," *Nat. Photonics*, vol. 10, no.
  3, pp. 190–195, 2016, doi: 10.1038/nphoton.2015.281.
- [63] L. Zhuang, C. G. H. Roeloffzen, M. Hoekman, K.-J. Boller, and A. J. Lowery,
   "Programmable photonic signal processor chip for radiofrequency applications," *Optica*,
   vol. 2, no. 10, p. 854, 2015, doi: 10.1364/optica.2.000854.
- [64] Q. Xu, B. Schmidt, S. Pradhan, and M. Lipson, "Micrometre-scale silicon electro-optic modulator," *Nature*, vol. 435, no. 7040, pp. 325–327, 2005, doi: 10.1038/nature03569.
- [65] V. R. Almeida, C. A. Barrios, R. R. Panepucci, and M. Lipson, "All-optical control of light

on a silicon chip," *Nature*, vol. 431, no. 7012, pp. 1081–1084, 2004, doi: 10.1038/nature02921.

- [66] Y. Takahashi, Y. Inui, M. Chihara, T. Asano, R. Terawaki, and S. Noda, "A micrometrescale Raman silicon laser with a microwatt threshold," *Nature*, vol. 498, no. 7455, pp. 470– 474, 2013, doi: 10.1038/nature12237.
- [67] P. Xu, J. Zheng, J. K. Doylend, and A. Majumdar, "Low-Loss and Broadband Nonvolatile Phase-Change Directional Coupler Switches," *ACS Photonics*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 553–557, 2019, doi: 10.1021/acsphotonics.8b01628.
- [68] M. Born and E. Wolf, *Principles of Optics*, 7th ed. Cambridge, 1999.
- [69] C. Ríos, Q. Du, Y. Zhang, C.-C. Popescu, M. Y. Shalaginov, P. Miller, C. Roberts, M. Kang,
   K. A. Richardson, T. Gu, S. A. Vitale, and J. Hu, "Ultra-compact nonvolatile photonics based on electrically reprogrammable transparent phase change materials," May 2021,
   [Online]. Available: http://arxiv.org/abs/2105.06010
- [70] M. Grajower, N. Mazurski, J. Shappir, and U. Levy, "Non-Volatile Silicon Photonics Using Nanoscale Flash Memory Technology," *Laser Photonics Rev.*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 1–8, 2018, doi: 10.1002/lpor.201700190.
- [71] C. Errando-Herranz, A. Y. Takabayashi, P. Edinger, H. Sattari, K. B. Gylfason, and N. Quack, "MEMS for Photonic Integrated Circuits," *IEEE J. Sel. Top. Quantum Electron.*, vol. 26, no. 2, 2020, doi: 10.1109/JSTQE.2019.2943384.
- J. Geler-Kremer, F. Eltes, P. Stark, A. Sharma, D. Caimi, B. J. Offrein, J. Fompeyrine, and
   S. Abel, "A non-volatile optical memory in silicon photonics," *Opt. InfoBase Conf. Pap.*,
   no. 1, pp. 2021–2023, 2021, doi: 10.1364/ofc.2021.th4i.2.
- [73] C. Z. Zhao, G. Z. Li, E. K. Liu, Y. Gao, and X. D. Liu, "Silicon on insulator Mach-Zehnder

waveguide interferometers operating at 1.3 μm," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 67, no. 17, pp. 2448–2449, 1995, doi: 10.1063/1.114603.

- [74] M. Delaney, I. Zeimpekis, D. Lawson, D. W. Hewak, and O. L. Muskens, A New Family of Ultralow Loss Reversible Phase-Change Materials for Photonic Integrated Circuis: Sb2S3 and Sb2Se3, vol. 30, no. 36. 2020, p. 2002447. doi: 10.1002/adfm.202002447.
- [75] H. Liu, W. Dong, H. Wang, L. Lu, Q. Ruan, Y. S. Tan, R. E. Simpson, and J. K. W. Yang,
  "Rewritable color nanoprints in antimony trisulfide films," *Sci. Adv.*, vol. 6, no. 51, 2020,
  doi: 10.1126/sciadv.abb7171.
- [76] W. Dong, H. Liu, J. K. Behera, L. Lu, R. J. H. Ng, K. V. Sreekanth, X. Zhou, J. K. W. Yang, and R. E. Simpson, "Wide Bandgap Phase Change Material Tuned Visible Photonics," *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, vol. 29, no. 6, p. 1806181, Feb. 2019, doi: 10.1002/adfm.201806181.
- [77] A. K. U. Michel, D. N. Chigrin, T. W. W. Maß, K. Schönauer, M. Salinga, M. Wuttig, and T. Taubner, "Using low-loss phase-change materials for mid-infrared antenna resonance tuning," *Nano Lett.*, vol. 13, no. 8, pp. 3470–3475, 2013, doi: 10.1021/nl4006194.
- [78] Q. Zhang, Y. Zhang, J. Li, R. Soref, T. Gu, and J. Hu, "Broadband nonvolatile photonic switching based on optical phase change materials: beyond the classical figure-of-merit," *Opt. Lett.*, vol. 43, no. 1, p. 94, 2018, doi: 10.1364/ol.43.000094.
- [79] C. Wu, H. Yu, H. Li, X. Zhang, I. Takeuchi, and M. Li, "Low-Loss Integrated Photonic Switch Using Subwavelength Patterned Phase Change Material," ACS Photonics, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 87–92, 2019, doi: 10.1021/acsphotonics.8b01516.
- [80] Y. Zhang *et al.*, "Broadband transparent optical phase change materials for highperformance nonvolatile photonics," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 4279, Dec. 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-12196-4.

- [81] S. Mohammady and P. Varahram, *Multiplexing*. London, United Kingdom: IntechOpen, 2019. doi: 10.5772/intechopen.86407.
- [82] P. D. Trinh, S. Yegnanarayanan, F. Coppinger, B. Jalali, and S. Member, "Silicon-on-Insulator (SOI) Phased-Array Wavelength Multi / Demultiplexer with Extremely Low-Polarization Sensitivity," *IEEE Photonics Technol. Lett.*, vol. 9, no. 7, pp. 940–942, 1997.
- [83] W. Jiang, "Nonvolatile and ultra-low-loss reconfigurable mode (De)multiplexer/switch using triple-waveguide coupler with Ge2Sb2Se4Te1 phase change material," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1–12, 2018, doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-34419-2.
- [84] J. Zhu, Q. Chao, H. Huang, Y. Zhao, Y. Li, L. Tao, X. She, H. Liao, R. Huang, Z. Zhu, X. Liu, Z. Sheng, and F. Gan, "Compact, broadband, and low-loss silicon photonic arbitrary ratio power splitter using adiabatic taper," *Appl. Opt.*, vol. 60, no. 2, p. 413, 2021, doi: 10.1364/ao.413949.
- [85] J. T. Clarke, J. C. Gérard, D. Grodent, S. Wannawichian, J. Gustin, J. Connerney, F. Crary, M. Dougherty, W. Kurth, S. W. H. Cowley, E. J. Bunce, T. Hill, and J. Kim, "Morphological differences between Saturn's ultraviolet aurorae and those of Earth and Jupiter," *Nature*, vol. 433, no. 7027, pp. 717–719, 2005, doi: 10.1038/nature03331.
- [86] N. T. Otterstrom, R. O. Behunin, E. A. Kittlaus, Z. Wang, and P. T. Rakich, "A silicon Brillouin laser," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 360, no. 6393, pp. 1113–1116, 2018, doi: 10.1126/science.aar6113.
- [87] W. D. Sacher, J. C. Mikkelsen, Y. Huang, J. C. C. Mak, Z. Yong, X. Luo, Y. Li, P. Dumais, J. Jiang, D. Goodwill, E. Bernier, P. G. Q. Lo, and J. K. S. Poon, "Monolithically Integrated Multilayer Silicon Nitride-on-Silicon Waveguide Platforms for 3-D Photonic Circuits and Devices," *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 106, no. 12, pp. 2232–2245, 2018, doi:

10.1109/JPROC.2018.2860994.

- [88] C. Xiang, J. Guo, W. Jin, L. Wu, J. Peters, W. Xie, L. Chang, B. Shen, H. Wang, Q. F. Yang, D. Kinghorn, M. Paniccia, K. J. Vahala, P. A. Morton, and J. E. Bowers, "High-performance lasers for fully integrated silicon nitride photonics," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 1–8, 2021, doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-26804-9.
- [89] H. Presting, H. Kibbel, M. Jaros, R. M. Turton, U. Menczigar, G. Abstreiter, and H. G. Grimmeiss, "Ultrathin SimGen strained layer superlattices A step towards Si optoelectronics," *Semicond. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 7, no. 9, pp. 1127–1148, 1992, doi: 10.1088/0268-1242/7/9/001.
- [90] U. Gnutzmann and K. Clausecker, "Theory of direct optical transitions in an optical indirect semiconductor with a superlattice structure," *Appl. Phys.*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 9–14, 1974, doi: 10.1007/BF00892328.
- [91] S. Richard, F. Aniel, and G. Fishman, "Energy-band structure of Ge, Si, and GaAs: A thirtyband k·p method," *Phys. Rev. B - Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.*, vol. 70, no. 23, pp. 1–6, 2004, doi: 10.1103/PhysRevB.70.235204.
- [92] D. J. Lockwood, X. Wu, J. M. Baribeau, S. A. Mala, X. Wang, and L. Tsybeskov, "Si/SiGe heterointerfaces in one-, two-, and three-dimensional nanostructures: Their impact on SiGe light emission," *Front. Mater.*, vol. 3, no. March, pp. 1–15, 2016, doi: 10.3389/fmats.2016.00012.
- [93] A. Splett, T. Zinke, K. Petermann, E. Kasper, H. Kibbel, H.-J. Herzog, and H. Presting,
   "Integration of Waveguides and Photodetectors in SiGe for 1.3 um Operation," *IEEE Photonics Technol. Lett.*, vol. 1, no. 6, pp. 59–61, 1994.
- [94] P. Hosseini, C. D. Wright, and H. Bhaskaran, "An optoelectronic framework enabled by

low-dimensional phase-change films," *Nature*, vol. 511, no. 7508, pp. 206–211, 2014, doi: 10.1038/nature13487.

- [95] C. Ríos, P. Hosseini, R. A. Taylor, and H. Bhaskaran, "Color Depth Modulation and Resolution in Phase-Change Material Nanodisplays," *Adv. Mater.*, vol. 28, no. 23, pp. 4720–4726, 2016, doi: 10.1002/adma.201506238.
- [96] S. G. Sarwat, N. Youngblood, Y. Y. Au, J. A. Mol, C. D. Wright, and H. Bhaskaran, "Engineering Interface-Dependent Photoconductivity in Ge 2 Sb 2 Te 5 Nanoscale Devices," ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, vol. 10, no. 51, pp. 44906–44914, 2018, doi: 10.1021/acsami.8b17602.
- [97] J. Rowlands and S. Kasap, "Amorphous semiconductors usher in digital X-ray imaging," *Phys. Today*, vol. 50, no. 11, pp. 24–30, 1997, doi: 10.1063/1.881994.
- [98] J. R. Erickson, V. Shah, Q. Wan, N. Youngblood, and F. Xiong, "Designing fast and efficient electrically driven phase change photonics using foundry compatible waveguideintegrated microheaters," *Opt. Express*, vol. 30, no. 8, pp. 13673–13689, 2022.
- [99] J. Orava, A. L. Greer, B. Gholipour, D. W. Hewak, and C. E. Smith, "Characterization of supercooled liquid Ge2Sb2Te 5 and its crystallization by ultrafast-heating calorimetry," *Nat. Mater.*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 279–283, 2012, doi: 10.1038/nmat3275.
- [100] R. Jeyasingh, S. W. Fong, J. Lee, Z. Li, K. W. Chang, D. Mantegazza, M. Asheghi, K. E. Goodson, and H. S. P. Wong, "Ultrafast characterization of phase-change material crystallization properties in the melt-quenched amorphous phase," *Nano Lett.*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 3419–3426, 2014, doi: 10.1021/nl500940z.
- [101] G. Bakan, B. Gerislioglu, F. Dirisaglik, Z. Jurado, L. Sullivan, A. Dana, C. Lam, A. Gokirmak, and H. Silva, "Extracting the temperature distribution on a phase-change

memory cell during crystallization," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 120, no. 16, 2016, doi: 10.1063/1.4966168.

- [102] A. Lotnyk, S. Bernütz, X. Sun, U. Ross, M. Ehrhardt, and B. Rauschenbach, "Real-space imaging of atomic arrangement and vacancy layers ordering in laser crystallised Ge2Sb2Te5 phase change thin films," *Acta Mater.*, vol. 105, pp. 1–8, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.actamat.2015.12.010.
- [103] A. Manivannan, M. S. Arjunan, S. Durai, A. Mondal, and K. N. V. Devi Adarsh, "Realization of 4-bit multilevel optical switching in Ge2Sb2Te5 and Ag5In5Sb60Te30 phase-change materials enabled in the visible region," ACS Appl. Electron. Mater., vol. 2, no. 12, pp. 3977–3986, 2020, doi: 10.1021/acsaelm.0c00809.
- [104] Y. Lu, M. Stegmaier, P. Nukala, M. A. Giambra, S. Ferrari, A. Busacca, W. H. P. Pernice, and R. Agarwal, "Mixed-mode operation of hybrid phase-change nanophotonic circuits," *Nano Lett.*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 150–155, 2017, doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.6b03688.
- [105] M. Le Gallo and A. Sebastian, "An overview of phase-change memory device physics," J. Phys. D. Appl. Phys., vol. 53, no. 21, p. 213002, May 2020, doi: 10.1088/1361-6463/ab7794.
- [106] S. Raoux, F. Xiong, M. Wuttig, and E. Pop, "Phase change materials and phase change memory," *MRS Bull.*, vol. 39, no. 8, pp. 703–710, 2014, doi: 10.1557/mrs.2014.139.
- [107] S. Y. Lee, K. J. Choi, S. O. Ryu, S. M. Yoon, N. Y. Lee, Y. S. Park, S. H. Kim, S. H. Lee, and B. G. Yu, "Polycrystalline silicon-germanium heating layer for phase-change memory applications," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 89, no. 5, pp. 1–4, 2006, doi: 10.1063/1.2335363.
- [108] D. Loke, T. H. Lee, W. J. Wang, L. P. Shi, R. Zhao, Y. C. Yeo, T. C. Chong, and S. R. Elliott, "Breaking the Speed Limits of Phase-Change Memory," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 336,

no. 6088, pp. 1566–1569, Jun. 2012, doi: 10.1126/science.1221561.

- [109] D. K. Loke, J. M. Skelton, T. H. Lee, R. Zhao, T.-C. Chong, and S. R. Elliott, "Ultrafast Nanoscale Phase-Change Memory Enabled By Single-Pulse Conditioning," ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, vol. 10, no. 49, pp. 41855–41860, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.1021/acsami.8b16033.
- [110] F. Xiong, A. D. Liao, D. Estrada, and E. Pop, "Low-power switching of phase-change materials with carbon nanotube electrodes," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 332, no. 6029, pp. 568– 570, 2011, doi: 10.1126/science.1201938.
- [111] N. Farmakidis, N. Youngblood, X. Li, J. Tan, J. L. Swett, Z. Cheng, D. C. Wright, W. H. P. Pernice, and H. Bhaskaran, "Plasmonic nanogap enhanced phase change devices with dual electrical-optical functionality," *Sci. Adv.*, vol. 5, pp. 1–8, 2019.
- [112] E. Gemo, S. G.-C. Carrillo, C. R. De Galarreta, A. Baldycheva, H. Hayat, N. Youngblood,
  H. Bhaskaran, W. H. P. Pernice, and C. D. Wright, "Plasmonically-enhanced all-optical integrated phase-change memory," *Opt. Express*, vol. 27, no. 17, p. 24724, 2019, doi: 10.1364/oe.27.024724.
- [113] M. Rudé, R. E. Simpson, R. Quidant, V. Pruneri, and J. Renger, "Active Control of Surface Plasmon Waveguides with a Phase Change Material," ACS Photonics, vol. 2, no. 6, pp. 669–674, Jun. 2015, doi: 10.1021/acsphotonics.5b00050.
- [114] Y. Wang, P. Landreman, D. Schoen, K. Okabe, A. Marshall, U. Celano, H.-S. S. P. P. Wong, J. Park, and M. L. Brongersma, "Electrical tuning of phase-change antennas and metasurfaces," *Nat. Nanotechnol.*, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 667–672, Apr. 2021, doi: 10.1038/s41565-021-00882-8.
- [115] X. Yang, M. S. Nisar, W. Yuan, F. Zheng, L. Lu, J. Chen, and L. Zhou, "Phase change

material enabled 2 × 2 silicon nonvolatile optical switch," *Opt. Lett.*, vol. 46, no. 17, p. 4224, 2021, doi: 10.1364/ol.435552.

- [116] M. Delaney, I. Zeimpekis, D. Lawson, D. W. Hewak, and O. L. Muskens, "A New Family of Ultralow Loss Reversible Phase-Change Materials for Photonic Integrated Circuits: Sb 2 S 3 and Sb 2 Se 3," *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, vol. 30, no. 36, p. 2002447, Sep. 2020, doi: 10.1002/adfm.202002447.
- [117] J. Moon, H. Seo, K. Son, K. Lee, D. Zehnder, H. Tai, and D. Le, "Phase-change RF switches with robust switching cycle endurance," in 2018 IEEE Radio and Wireless Symposium (RWS), Jan. 2018, pp. 231–233. doi: 10.1109/RWS.2018.8304995.
- [118] A. Mennai, A. Bessaudou, F. Cosset, C. Guines, P. Blondy, and A. Crunteanu, "Bistable RF switches using Ge2Sb2Te5 phase change material," in 2015 European Microwave Conference (EuMC), Sep. 2015, pp. 945–947. doi: 10.1109/EuMC.2015.7345920.
- [119] J.-S. Moon, H.-C. Seo, K.-A. Son, K. Lee, D. Zehnder, and H. Tai, "5 THz Figure-of-Merit Reliable Phase-change RF Switches for Millimeter-wave Applications," in 2018 IEEE/MTT-S International Microwave Symposium - IMS, Jun. 2018, pp. 836–838. doi: 10.1109/MWSYM.2018.8439479.
- [120] T. Singh and R. R. Mansour, "Non-Volatile Multiport DC–30 GHz Monolithically Integrated Phase-Change Transfer Switches," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 42, no. 6, pp. 867–870, Jun. 2021, doi: 10.1109/LED.2021.3076047.
- [121] N. Youngblood, C. Talagrand, B. Porter, C. G. Galante, S. Kneepkens, S. G. Sarwat, D. Yarmolich, R. S. Bonilla, P. Hosseini, R. Taylor, and H. Bhaskaran, "Broadly-tunable smart glazing using an ultra-thin phase-change material," Nov. 2019.
- [122] H. Zhang, L. Zhou, J. Xu, N. Wang, H. Hu, L. Lu, B. M. A. Rahman, and J. Chen,

"Nonvolatile waveguide transmission tuning with electrically-driven ultra-small GST phase-change material," *Sci. Bull.*, vol. 64, no. 11, pp. 782–789, Jun. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.scib.2019.04.035.

- [123] H. Zhang, L. Zhou, L. Lu, J. Xu, N. Wang, H. Hu, B. M. A. A. Rahman, Z. Zhou, and J. Chen, "Miniature Multilevel Optical Memristive Switch Using Phase Change Material," *ACS Photonics*, vol. 6, no. 9, pp. 2205–2212, Sep. 2019, doi: 10.1021/acsphotonics.9b00819.
- [124] Y. Au, H. Bhaskaran, and C. D. Wright, "Phase-change devices for simultaneous opticalelectrical applications," *Sci. Rep.*, no. August, pp. 1–7, 2017, doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-10425-8.
- [125] C. Ríos, Y. Zhang, M. Y. Shalaginov, S. Deckoff-Jones, H. Wang, S. An, H. Zhang, M. Kang, K. A. Richardson, C. Roberts, J. B. Chou, V. Liberman, S. A. Vitale, J. Kong, T. Gu, and J. Hu, "Multi-Level Electro-Thermal Switching of Optical Phase-Change Materials Using Graphene," *Adv. Photonics Res.*, vol. 2, no. 1, p. 2000034, Jan. 2021, doi: 10.1002/adpr.202000034.
- [126] J. Zheng, Z. Fang, C. Wu, S. Zhu, P. Xu, J. K. Doylend, S. Deshmukh, E. Pop, S. Dunham, M. Li, and A. Majumdar, "Nonvolatile Electrically Reconfigurable Integrated Photonic Switch Enabled by a Silicon PIN Diode Heater," *Adv. Mater.*, vol. 32, no. 31, pp. 1–8, 2020, doi: 10.1002/adma.202001218.
- [127] J. Zheng, S. Zhu, P. Xu, S. Dunham, and A. Majumdar, "Modeling Electrical Switching of Nonvolatile Phase-Change Integrated Nanophotonic Structures with Graphene Heaters," *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, vol. 12, no. 19, pp. 21827–21836, 2020, doi: 10.1021/acsami.0c02333.

- [128] H. Taghinejad, S. Abdollahramezani, A. A. Eftekhar, T. Fan, A. H. Hosseinnia, O. Hemmatyar, A. Eshaghian Dorche, A. Gallmon, and A. Adibi, "ITO-based microheaters for reversible multi-stage switching of phase-change materials: towards miniaturized beyond-binary reconfigurable integrated photonics," *Opt. Express*, vol. 29, no. 13, p. 20449, 2021, doi: 10.1364/oe.424676.
- [129] K. Kato, M. Kuwahara, H. Kawashima, T. Tsuruoka, and H. Tsuda, "Current-driven phase-change optical gate switch using indium-tin-oxide heater," *Appl. Phys. Express*, vol. 10, no. 7, 2017, doi: 10.7567/APEX.10.072201.
- [130] Y. Zhang, C. Fowler, J. Liang, B. Azhar, M. Y. Shalaginov, S. Deckoff-Jones, S. An, J. B. Chou, C. M. Roberts, V. Liberman, M. Kang, C. Ríos, K. A. Richardson, C. Rivero-Baleine, T. Gu, H. Zhang, and J. Hu, "Electrically reconfigurable non-volatile metasurface using low-loss optical phase-change material," *Nat. Nanotechnol.*, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 661–666, 2021, doi: 10.1038/s41565-021-00881-9.
- [131] S. G. Castillo, L. Feng, T. Bachmann, L. Bandhu, C. Talagrand, G. Triggs, K. Didewar, B. Broughton, Y. Qijun, H. Bhaskaran, and P. Hosseini, "Solid state reflective display (SRD®) with LTPS diode backplane," *Dig. Tech. Pap. SID Int. Symp.*, vol. 50, no. Book 2, pp. 807–810, 2019, doi: 10.1002/sdtp.13044.
- [132] A. Sebastian, M. Le Gallo, and D. Krebs, "Crystal growth within a phase change memory cell," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 5, no. 1, p. 4314, Dec. 2014, doi: 10.1038/ncomms5314.
- [133] Y. Zhang, C. Ríos, M. Y. Shalaginov, M. Li, A. Majumdar, T. Gu, and J. Hu, "Myths and truths about optical phase change materials: A perspective," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 118, no. 21, p. 210501, May 2021, doi: 10.1063/5.0054114.
- [134] W. Liu, K. Etessam-Yazdani, R. Hussin, and M. Asheghi, "Modeling and data for thermal
conductivity of ultrathin single-crystal SOI layers at high temperature," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 53, no. 8, pp. 1868–1876, 2006, doi: 10.1109/TED.2006.877874.

- [135] V. Palankovski, R. Schultheis, and S. Selberherr, "Simulation of power heterojunction bipolar transistors on gallium arsenide," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 1264–1269, 2001, doi: 10.1109/16.925258.
- [136] D. Lencer, M. Salinga, and M. Wuttig, "Design Rules for Phase-Change Materials in Data Storage Applications," *Adv. Mater.*, no. 23, pp. 2030–2058, 2011, doi: 10.1002/adma.201004255.
- [137] M. Blank and L. Weber, "Towards a coherent database of thermal boundary conductance at metal/dielectric interfaces," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 125, no. 9, 2019, doi: 10.1063/1.5085176.
- [138] "Comsol Multipysics v. 5.5."
- [139] D. D. Yu, S. Brittman, J. S. Lee, A. L. Falk, and P. Hongkun, "Minimum voltage for threshold switching in nanoscale Phase-change memory," *Nano Lett.*, vol. 8, no. 10, pp. 3429–3433, 2008, doi: 10.1021/nl802261s.
- [140] N. El-Hinnawy, P. Borodulin, B. P. Wagner, M. R. King, E. B. Jones, R. S. Howell, M. J. Lee, and R. M. Young, "Low-loss latching microwave switch using thermally pulsed non-volatile chalcogenide phase change materials," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 105, no. 1, pp. 1–5, 2014, doi: 10.1063/1.4885388.
- [141] Y. R. Guo, F. Dong, C. Qiao, J. J. Wang, S. Y. Wang, M. Xu, Y. X. Zheng, R. J. Zhang, L. Y. Chen, C. Z. Wang, and K. M. Ho, "Structural signature and transition dynamics of Sb2Te3 melt upon fast cooling," *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.*, vol. 20, no. 17, pp. 11768–11775, 2018, doi: 10.1039/c8cp00142a.
- [142] R. B. Jacobs-Gedrim, M. T. Murphy, F. Yang, N. Jain, M. Shanmugam, E. S. Song, Y.

Kandel, P. Hesamaddin, H. Y. Yu, M. P. Anantram, D. B. Janes, and B. Yu, "Reversible phase-change behavior in two-dimensional antimony telluride (Sb2Te3) nanosheets," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 112, no. 13, pp. 1–6, 2018, doi: 10.1063/1.5013099.

- [143] K. Gao, K. Du, S. Tian, H. Wang, L. Zhang, Y. Guo, B. Luo, W. Zhang, and T. Mei, "Intermediate Phase-Change States with Improved Cycling Durability of Sb2S3 by Femtosecond Multi-Pulse Laser Irradiation," *Adv. Funct. Mater.*, vol. 31, no. 35, pp. 1–7, 2021, doi: 10.1002/adfm.202103327.
- [144] E. Černošková, R. Todorov, Z. Černošek, J. Holubová, and L. Beneš, "Thermal properties and the structure of amorphous Sb 2 Se 3 thin film," *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry*, vol. 118, no. 1. pp. 105–110, 2014. doi: 10.1007/s10973-014-4000-3.
- [145] F. De Leonardis, R. Soref, V. M. N. Passaro, Y. Zhang, and J. Hu, "Broadband Electro-Optical Crossbar Switches Using Low-Loss Ge2Sb2Se4Te1 Phase Change Material," J. Light. Technol., vol. 37, no. 13, pp. 3183–3191, 2019, doi: 10.1109/JLT.2019.2912669.
- [146] V. G. Vlasenko, S. S. Podsukhina, A. V. Kozinkin, and Y. V. Zubavichus, "Determination of the melting temperature of palladium nanoparticles by X-ray absorption spectroscopy," *Phys. Solid State*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 421–426, 2016, doi: 10.1134/S1063783416020335.
- [147] E. P. Donovan, F. Spaepen, D. Turnbull, J. M. Poate, and D. C. Jacobson, "Heat of crystallization and melting point of amorphous silicon," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 42, no. 8, pp. 698–700, 1983, doi: 10.1063/1.94077.
- [148] J. D. Musgraves, J. Hu, and L. Calvez, Eds., Springer Handbook of Glass. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2019. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-93728-1.
- [149] H. Y. Cheng, M. BrightSky, S. Raoux, C. F. Chen, P. Y. Du, J. Y. Wu, Y. Y. Lin, T. H. Hsu, Y. Zhu, S. Kim, C. M. Lin, A. Ray, H. L. Lung, and C. Lam, "Atomic-level engineering

of phase change material for novel fast-switching and high-endurance PCM for storage class memory application," in *2013 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting*, Dec. 2013, pp. 30.6.1-30.6.4. doi: 10.1109/IEDM.2013.6724726.

- [150] N. H. Fletcher, "The High Current Limit for Semiconductor Junction Devices," *Proc. IRE*, vol. 45, no. 6, pp. 862–872, 1957, doi: 10.1109/JRPROC.1957.278485.
- [151] C. Canali, R. Minder, and G. Ottaviani, "Electron and Hole Drift Velocity Measurements," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, pp. 1045–1047, 1973.
- [152] N. D. Arora, J. R. Hauser, and D. J. Roulston, "Electron and Hole Mobilities in Silicon as a Function of Concentration and Temperature," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 292–295, 1982, doi: 10.1109/T-ED.1982.20698.
- [153] D. M. Caughey and R. E. Thomas, "Carrier Mobilities in Silicon Empirically Related to Doping and Field," *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 55, no. 12, pp. 2192–2193, 1967, doi: 10.1109/PROC.1967.6123.
- [154] J. M. Dorkel and P. Leturcq, "Carrier mobilities in silicon semi-empirically related to temperature, doping and injection level," *Solid State Electron.*, vol. 24, no. 9, pp. 821–825, 1981, doi: 10.1016/0038-1101(81)90097-6.
- [155] P. P. Debye and E. M. Conwell, "Electrical properties of N-type germanium," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 93, no. 4, pp. 693–706, 1954, doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.93.693.
- [156] D. Chattopadhyay and H. J. Queisser, "Electron scattering by ionized impurities in semiconductors," *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 745–768, 1981, doi: 10.1103/RevModPhys.53.745.
- [157] S. M. Sze and M.-K. Lee, Semiconductor Devices: Physics and Technology, 3rd ed. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, 2012.

- [158] A. Herlet, "The forward characteristic of silicon power rectifiers at high current densities," *Solid State Electron.*, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 717–742, 1968, doi: 10.1016/0038-1101(68)90053-1.
- [159] J. Dallas, G. Pavlidis, B. Chatterjee, J. S. Lundh, M. Ji, J. Kim, T. Kao, T. Detchprohm, R. D. Dupuis, S. Shen, S. Graham, and S. Choi, "Thermal characterization of gallium nitride p-i-n diodes," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 112, no. 7, 2018, doi: 10.1063/1.5006796.
- [160] N. G. Nilsson, "The influence of auger recombination on the forward characteristic of semiconductor power rectifiers at high current densities," *Solid State Electron.*, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 681–688, 1973, doi: 10.1016/0038-1101(73)90111-1.
- [161] F. Berz, "A Simplified Theory of the p-i-n Diode," *Solid State Electron.*, vol. 20, pp. 709–714, 1977, doi: 10.1016/S0301-4770(08)70056-3.
- [162] H. Schlangenotto and W. Gerlach, "On the effective carrier lifetime in p-s-n rectifiers at high injection levels," *Solid State Electron.*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 267–275, 1969, doi: 10.1016/0038-1101(69)90008-2.
- [163] M. Isberg, P. Jonsson, F. Masszi, F. Vojdani, H. Bleichner, M. Rosling, and E. Nordlander, "Experimentally verified, temperature dependent physical models/parameters for power device simulation," *IEEE Int. Symp. Power Semicond. Devices ICs*, no. 94, pp. 281–286, 1994, doi: 10.1109/ispsd.1994.583742.
- [164] H. Zhang and J. A. Pappas, "A moving boundary diffusion model for PIN diodes," *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, vol. 37, no. 1 I, pp. 406–410, 2001, doi: 10.1109/20.911865.
- [165] M. J. Ben Hamouda and W. Gerlach, "Influence of the device parameters on the static properties of pin diodes at high current densities in the temperature range from 77 to 500 K," *Arch. für Elektrotechnik*, vol. 66, no. 3, pp. 143–150, 1983, doi: 10.1007/BF01578421.

- [166] A. V. Gorbatyuk and F. B. Serkov, "Cooperative effects in the case of pulsed self-heating of a p-i-n diode," *Semiconductors*, vol. 43, no. 8, pp. 1028–1035, 2009, doi: 10.1134/S1063782609080120.
- [167] W. van Roosbroeck, "The Transport of Added Current Carriers in a Homogeneous Semiconductor," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 91, no. 2, pp. 146–149, 1953, doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.bmb.a070617.
- [168] J. Burtscher, F. Dannhäuser, and J. Krausse, "Die rekombination in thyristoren und gleichrichtern aus silizium: Ihr einfluss auf die durchlasskennlinie und das freiwerdezeitverhalten," *Solid State Electron.*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 35–63, 1975, doi: 10.1016/0038-1101(75)90070-2.
- [169] C. Rios, M. Stegmaier, Z. Cheng, N. Youngblood, C. D. Wright, W. H. P. Pernice, and H. Bhaskaran, "Controlled switching of phase-change materials by evanescent-field coupling in integrated photonics [Invited]," *Opt. Mater. Express*, vol. 8, no. 9, p. 2455, Sep. 2018, doi: 10.1364/OME.8.002455.
- [170] K. S. Bayikadi, R. Sankar, C. T. Wu, C. Xia, Y. Chen, L. C. Chen, K. H. Chen, and F. C. Chou, "Enhanced thermoelectric performance of GeTe through: In situ microdomain and Ge-vacancy control," *J. Mater. Chem. A*, vol. 7, no. 25, pp. 15181–15189, 2019, doi: 10.1039/c9ta03503f.
- [171] X. Li, N. Youngblood, Z. Cheng, S. G.-C. Carrillo, E. Gemo, W. H. P. Pernice, C. D. Wright, and H. Bhaskaran, "Experimental investigation of silicon and silicon nitride platforms for phase-change photonic in-memory computing," *Optica*, vol. 7, no. 3, p. 218, 2020, doi: 10.1364/optica.379228.
- [172] R. Ostermeir, K. Brunner, G. Abstreiter, and W. Weber, "Temperature Distribution in Si-

MOSFET's Studied by Micro Raman Spectroscopy," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 858–863, 1992, doi: 10.1109/16.127476.

- [173] Y. Yoshikawa and S. Shigeto, "A Simple Calibration Method of Anti-Stokes–Stokes Raman Intensity Ratios Using the Water Spectrum for Intracellular Temperature Measurements," *Appl. Spectrosc.*, vol. 74, no. 10, pp. 1295–1296, 2020, doi: 10.1177/0003702820933908.
- [174] M. R. Abel, T. L. Wright, W. P. King, and S. Graham, "Thermal metrology of silicon microstructures using Raman spectroscopy," *IEEE Trans. Components Packag. Technol.*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 200–208, 2007, doi: 10.1109/TCAPT.2007.897993.
- [175] E. Yalon, Ö. B. Aslan, K. K. H. Smithe, C. J. McClellan, S. V. Suryavanshi, F. Xiong, A. Sood, C. M. Neumann, X. Xu, K. E. Goodson, T. F. Heinz, and E. Pop, "Temperature-Dependent Thermal Boundary Conductance of Monolayer MoS2 by Raman Thermometry," *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, vol. 9, no. 49, pp. 43013–43020, 2017, doi: 10.1021/acsami.7b11641.
- [176] E. Yalon, C. J. Mcclellan, K. K. H. Smithe, M. Mun, R. L. Xu, S. V Suryavanshi, A. J. Gabourie, C. M. Neumann, F. Xiong, A. B. Farimani, and E. Pop, "Energy Dissipation in Monolayer MoS 2 Electronics," *Nano Lett.*, vol. 17, pp. 3429–3433, 2017, doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.7b00252.
- [177] T. C. Klima and A. S. Braeuer, "Raman Thermometry in Water, Ethanol, and Ethanol/Nitrogen Mixtures from Ambient to Critical Conditions," *Anal. Chem.*, vol. 91, no. 1, pp. 1043–1048, 2019, doi: 10.1021/acs.analchem.8b04382.
- [178] J. D. Meindl *et al.*, *BioNanoFluidic Mems*, 1st ed. Boston: Springer, 2007. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-46283-7\_10.
- [179] N. Youngblood, C. Talagrand, B. F. Porter, C. G. Galante, S. Kneepkens, G. Triggs, S.

Ghazi Sarwat, D. Yarmolich, R. S. Bonilla, P. Hosseini, R. A. Taylor, and H. Bhaskaran, "Reconfigurable Low-Emissivity Optical Coating Using Ultrathin Phase Change Materials," *ACS Photonics*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 90–100, 2022, doi: 10.1021/acsphotonics.1c01128.

- [180] J. Meng, N. Peserico, X. Ma, Y. Zhang, C.-C. Popescu, M. Kang, M. Miscuglio, K. Richardson, J. Hu, and V. J. Sorger, "Electrical Programmable Low-loss high cyclable Nonvolatile Photonic Random-Access Memory," arXiv:2203.13337, 2022, [Online]. Available: https://arxiv.org/abs/2203.13337v4
- [181] S. Abdollahramezani, O. Hemmatyar, M. Taghinejad, H. Taghinejad, A. Krasnok, A. A. Eftekhar, C. Teichrib, S. Deshmukh, M. A. El-Sayed, E. Pop, M. Wuttig, A. Alù, W. Cai, and A. Adibi, "Electrically driven reprogrammable phase-change metasurface reaching 80% efficiency," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 1–11, 2022, doi: 10.1038/s41467-022-29374-6.
- [182] Z. Fang, R. Chen, J. Zheng, A. I. Khan, K. M. Neilson, S. J. Geiger, D. M. Callahan, M. G. Moebius, A. Saxena, M. E. Chen, C. Rios, J. Hu, E. Pop, and A. Majumdar, "Ultra-low-energy programmable non-volatile silicon photonics based on phase-change materials with graphene heaters," *Nat. Nanotechnol.*, vol. 17, no. 8, pp. 842–848, 2022, doi: 10.1038/s41565-022-01153-w.
- [183] C. Ríos, Q. Du, Y. Zhang, C. C. Popescu, M. Y. Shalaginov, P. Miller, C. Roberts, M. Kang, K. A. Richardson, T. Gu, S. A. Vitale, and J. Hu, "Ultra-compact nonvolatile phase shifter based on electrically reprogrammable transparent phase change materials," *PhotoniX*, vol. 3, no. 1, 2022, doi: 10.1186/s43074-022-00070-4.
- [184] S. A. Vitale, P. Miller, P. Robinson, C. Roberts, V. Liberman, Q. Du, Y. Zhang, C.-C.

Popescu, M. Y. Shalaginov, M. Kang, K. A. Richardson, T. Gu, C. Ríos, and J. Hu, "Phase Transformation and Switching Behavior of Magnetron Plasma Sputtered Ge 2 Sb 2 Se 4 Te ," *Adv. Photonics Res.*, vol. 3, no. 10, p. 2200202, 2022, doi: 10.1002/adpr.202200202.

- [185] G. T. Reed, G. Z. Mashanovich, F. Y. Gardes, M. Nedeljkovic, Y. Hu, D. J. Thomson, K. Li, P. R. Wilson, S. W. Chen, and S. S. Hsu, "Recent breakthroughs in carrier depletion based silicon optical modulators," *Nanophotonics*, vol. 3, no. 4–5, pp. 229–245, 2014, doi: 10.1515/nanoph-2013-0016.
- [186] D. Patel, V. Veerasubramanian, S. Ghosh, W. Shi, A. Samani, Q. Zhong, and D. V. Plant,
  "A 4×4 fully non-blocking switch on SOI based on interferometric thermo-optic phase shifters," *2014 IEEE Opt. Interconnects Conf. OI 2014*, vol. 5, pp. 104–105, 2014, doi: 10.1109/OIC.2014.6886101.
- [187] M. Kuball, J. M. Hayes, M. J. Uren, T. Martin, J. C. H. Birbeck, R. S. Balmer, and B. T. Hughes, "Measurement of temperature in active high-power AlGaN/GaN HFETs using Raman spectroscopy," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 7–9, 2002, doi: 10.1109/55.974795.
- [188] S. Sandell, E. Chávez-Ángel, A. El Sachat, J. He, C. M. Sotomayor Torres, and J. Maire, "Thermoreflectance techniques and Raman thermometry for thermal property characterization of nanostructures," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 128, no. 13, 2020, doi: 10.1063/5.0020239.
- [189] C. B. Saltonstall, J. Serrano, P. M. Norris, P. E. Hopkins, and T. E. Beechem, "Single element Raman thermometry," *Rev. Sci. Instrum.*, vol. 84, no. 6, 2013, doi: 10.1063/1.4810850.
- [190] T. Beechem, A. Christensen, S. Graham, and D. Green, "Micro-Raman thermometry in the

presence of complex stresses in GaN devices," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 103, no. 12, 2008, doi: 10.1063/1.2940131.

- [191] J. W. Pomeroy, M. Kuball, D. J. Wallis, A. M. Keir, K. P. Hilton, R. S. Balmer, M. J. Uren, T. Martin, and P. J. Heard, "Thermal mapping of defects in AlGaN/GaN heterostructure field-effect transistors using micro-Raman spectroscopy," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 87, no. 10, 2005, doi: 10.1063/1.2041823.
- [192] X. Zhang, X. Zou, X. Lu, C. W. Tang, and K. M. Lau, "Diodes : High Performance and," vol. 64, no. 3, pp. 809–815, 2017.
- [193] C. K. Li and Y. R. Wu, "Study on the current spreading effect and light extraction enhancement of vertical GaN/InGaN LEDs," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 59, no. 2, pp. 400–407, 2012, doi: 10.1109/TED.2011.2176132.
- [194] E. J. Ryder, "Mobility of Holes and Electrons in High Electric Fields," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 90, no. 5, pp. 81–84, 1953.
- [195] W. Shockley, "Hot electrons in Germanium and Ohm's Law," *Bell Syst. Tech. J.*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 990–1034, 1951.
- [196] E. J. Ryder and W. Shockley, "Mobilities of Electrons in High Electric Fields," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 81, no. 1, p. 139, 1951.
- [197] P. A. Wolff, "Theory of electron multiplication in silicon and germanium," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 95, no. 6, pp. 1415–1420, 1954, doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.95.1415.
- [198] R. Stratton, "On the Hot Electron Effect in n-Type Germanium," J. Electron. Control, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 157–161, 1958, doi: 10.1080/00207215808953900.
- [199] K. Natori, "New Solution to High-Field Transport in Semiconductors: II . Velocity Saturation and Ballistic Transmission New Solution to High-Field Transport in

Semiconductors:," Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., vol. 48, no. 3R, p. 034504, 2009, doi: 10.1143/JJAP.48.034504.

- [200] K. H. Yeoh and D. S. Ong, "Steady-state and transient electron transport in silicon : From bulk to monolayer," *AIP Conf. Proc.*, vol. 1877, no. 1, p. 080003, 2017, doi: 10.1063/1.4999893.
- [201] M. V. Fischetti, P. D. Yoder, M. M. Khatami, G. Gaddemane, and M. L. Van de Put, "'Hot electrons in Si lose energy mostly to optical phonons': Truth or myth?," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 114, no. 22, p. 222104, 2019, doi: 10.1063/1.5099914.
- [202] E. Pop, R. Dutton, and K. Goodson, "Detailed Heat Generation Simulations via the Monte Carlo Method," Int. Conf. Simul. Semicond. Process. Devices, pp. 121–124, 2003.
- [203] Z. Aksamija, S. Hahm, and U. Ravaioli, "Emission and Absorption of Phonons in Silicon," *Phys. Status Solidi*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 90–93, 2008, doi: 10.1002/pssc.200776563.
- [204] W. Bogaerts, P. de Heyn, T. van Vaerenbergh, K. de Vos, S. Kumar Selvaraja, T. Claes, P. Dumon, P. Bienstman, D. van Thourhout, and R. Baets, "Silicon microring resonators," *Laser Photonics Rev.*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 47–73, 2012, doi: 10.1002/lpor.201100017.
- [205] R. G. Jesuwanth Sugesh and A. Sivasubramanian, "Modelling and Analysis of a Plus-Shaped PN Junction Phase Shifter for Data Centre Applications," WSEAS Trans. Electron., vol. 12, pp. 32–37, 2021, doi: 10.37394/232017.2021.12.5.
- [206] G. T. Reed, D. J. Thomson, F. Y. Gardes, Y. Hu, J. M. Fedeli, and G. Z. Mashanovich, "High-speed carrier-depletion silicon Mach-Zehnder optical modulators with lateral PN junctions," *Front. Phys.*, vol. 2, no. December, pp. 1–5, 2014, doi: 10.3389/fphy.2014.00077.
- [207] Y. R. Bawankar and A. Singh, "Microring Resonators Based Applications in Silicon

Photonics-A Review," 2021 5th Conf. Inf. Commun. Technol. CICT 2021, 2021, doi: 10.1109/CICT53865.2020.9672427.

- [208] J.-B. You, M. Park, J.-W. Park, and G. Kim, "125 Gbps optical modulation of silicon racetrack resonator based on carrier-depletion in asymmetric p-n diode," *Opt. Express*, vol. 16, no. 22, p. 18340, 2008, doi: 10.1364/oe.16.018340.
- [209] F. Y. Gardes, A. Brimont, P. Sanchis, G. Rasigade, D. Marris-Morini, L. O'Faolain, F. Dong, J. M. Fedeli, P. Dumon, L. Vivien, T. F. Krauss, G. T. Reed, and J. Marti, "High-speed modulation of a compact silicon ring resonator," *IEEE Int. Conf. Gr. IV Photonics GFP*, vol. 17, no. 24, pp. 241–243, 2009, doi: 10.1109/GROUP4.2009.5338374.
- [210] A. Brimont, F. Y. Gardes, P. Sanchis, D. Marris-Morini, P. Dumon, M. J.Fedeli, L. O'Faolain, W. Bogaert, L. Vivien, J. Marti, G. T. Reed, and T. F. Krauss, "Design of a micro-ring resonator electro-optical modulator embedded in a reverse biased PN junction," *ECIO'08 Eindhoven Proc. 14th Eur. Conf. Integr. Opt. Tech. Exhib. Contrib. Invit. Pap.*, vol. 18, pp. 321–324, 2008.
- [211] G. Li, A. V. Krishnamoorthy, I. Shubin, J. Yao, Y. Luo, H. Thacker, X. Zheng, K. Raj, and J. E. Cunningham, "Ring resonator modulators in silicon for interchip photonic links," *IEEE J. Sel. Top. Quantum Electron.*, vol. 19, no. 6, 2013, doi: 10.1109/JSTQE.2013.2278885.
- [212] D. G. Rabus and C. Sada, *Integrated Ring Resonators: A Compendium*, vol. 127. 2020. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-60131-7\_1.
- [213] J. Singh, H. Morison, Z. Guo, B. A. Marquez, O. Esmaeeli, P. R. Prucnal, L. Chrostowski,
   S. Shekhar, and B. J. Shastri, "Neuromorphic photonic circuit modeling in Verilog-A," *APL Photonics*, vol. 7, no. 4, 2022, doi: 10.1063/5.0079984.
- [214] N. A. Nobile, J. R. Erickson, C. Ríos, Y. Zhang, J. Hu, S. A. Vitale, F. Xiong, and N.

Youngblood, "Time-resolved temperature mapping leveraging the strong thermo-optic effect in phase-change devices," *Arxiv*, pp. 1–19, 2022, [Online]. Available: http://arxiv.org/abs/2210.08142

 [215] M. Stegmaier, C. RÍos, H. Bhaskaran, and W. H. P. Pernice, "Thermo-optical Effect in Phase-Change Nanophotonics," ACS Photonics, vol. 3, no. 5, pp. 828–835, 2016, doi: 10.1021/acsphotonics.6b00032.